
School Board of Clay County
Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island, FL

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Date: May 06 2021 (6:00 p.m.)

Student Showcase

Invocation (Pastor Daniel Findley, First Baptist Church Keystone Heights)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Recognitions and Awards

Presenters

School Showcase

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment)

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

1. C1 - Minutes of Workshop on March 8, 2021; Special Meeting on March 11, 2021, Workshop on March 23, 2021;
Student Hearings and Regular Meeting on April 1. 2021

2021 March 8 Workshop.pdf

2021 March 11 Special Mtg.pdf

2021 March 23 Workshop.pdf

2021 April 1 Student Discipline Hearings.pdf (Confidential)

2021 April 1 Regular Mtg.pdf

2. C2 - Revision to Start Date for Student Calendar 2022-2023 per Florida Statute 1001.42

Revised 2022-2023 Calendar 10 Month 196 Days Instructional, Support, and Cafeteria Managers (2) (1).pdf

Revised Calendar - Student 2022- 2023.pdf

School Board Member

3. C3 - School Board Member Out-of-County Travel Expenses Estimated to Attend FSBA/FADSS Annual Summer
Conference

Human Resources

4. C4 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Page 1 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=34882
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=34882
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-march-8-workshop.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-march-11-special-mtg.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-march-23-workshop.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-april-1-regular-mtg.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35906
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/revised-2022-2023-calendar-10-month-196-days-instructional-support-and-cafeteria-managers-2-1.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/revised-calendar-student-2022-2023.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35895
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35895
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35907


Personnel Consent Agenda 5.6.2021.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

5. C5 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

May 2021 - Student Travel.pdf

Instruction-Professional Development

6. C6 - 2021-22 Professional Learning Catalog (Master In-service Plan)

2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan - Draft.pdf

2021-2022 Professional Learning Catalog_MIP_Summary of Changes.pdf

Business Affairs

7. C7 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2020-2021

Allocation Summary 2020-2021 - May 6, 2021.pdf

8. C8 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2021-2022

Allocation Summary 2021-2022 - May 6, 2021.pdf

9. C9 - Clay County District School Board Operational, Financial and Single Audit for the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year

2019-2020 Final Audit Report.pdf

Final SAS114 Audit Report  District School Board of Clay County.pdf

10. C10 - Charter School Audits for the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year

St. Johns Classical Academy Audit Report 2020.pdf

Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay 2020  Audit Report.pdf

Clay Charter Academy Audit Report 2020.pdf

11. C11 - Clay Education Foundation Audit for the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year

Clay County Education Foundation Audit 2020.pdf

Business Affairs-Accounting

12. C12 - Monthly Financial Reports for March, 2021

March 2021 Board Monthly Financial Report.pdf

March 2021 Board Monthly Property Report.pdf

13. C13 - Budget Amendment for Month Ending March 31, 2021

Business Affairs-Property

14. C14 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - April, 2021

Deletion Report-April, 2021.pdf

Business Affairs-Purchasing

15. C15 - BID Renewal

16. C16 - BID to be Awarded

Page 2 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-562021.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35948
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/may-2021-student-travel.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35941
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-2022-ccds-master-in-service-plan-draft.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-2022-professional-learning-catalog_mip_summary-of-changes.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=34884
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/allocation-summary-2020-2021-may-6-2021.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=34885
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/allocation-summary-2021-2022-may-6-2021.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35952
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2019-2020-final-audit-report_2.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/final-sas114-audit-report-district-school-board-of-clay-county_2.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35953
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/st-johns-classical-academy-audit-report-2020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/florida-cyber-charter-academy-at-clay-2020-audit-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/clay-charter-academy-audit-report-2020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35954
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/clay-county-education-foundation-audit-2020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35945
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/march-2021-board-monthly-financial-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/march-2021-board-monthly-property-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35955
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35938
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-report-april-2021.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35950
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35951


Operations-Facilities

17. C17 - Change Order #1 for Ridgeview Elementary School Parking Lot Lighting Replacement

CO 1 RVE Parking Lot Lighting Replacement.pdf

18. C18 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for S. Bryan Jennings Elementary
School Roof Repair/Replacement (Buildings 1, 2, & 3)

19. C19 - Change Order #1 for Oakleaf Junior High School Security Lighting Repair/Replacement

OLJ Security Lighting Repair.Replacement CO 1.pdf

20. C20 - Pre-Qualification of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 5.6.21.pdf

Adoption of Consent Agenda

CCEA Update

CESPA Update

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

Discussion Agenda

School Board Member

21. D1 - Approve the Nominations for the Citizen Oversight Committee

Human Resources

22. D2 - Human Resources Special Action A

School Board Attorney Remarks

School Board Member Remarks

Adjournment

Page 3 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35939
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/co-1-rve-parking-lot-lighting-replacement.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35949
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35949
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35956
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/olj-security-lighting-repairreplacement-co-1.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35957
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-5621.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35959
http://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=35908


School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C1 - Minutes of Workshop on March 8, 2021; Special Meeting on March 11, 2021, Workshop on March 23, 2021; Student
Hearings and Regular Meeting on April 1. 2021

Description
Florida Statute 1001.42(1) requires the superintendent, as secretary, to keep such minutes and records as are necessary to set
forth clearly all actions and proceedings of the school board.  The minutes of each meeting shall be reviewed, corrected if
necessary, and approved at the next regular meeting; provided that this action may be taken at an intervening special meeting if
the board desires.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve minutes as submitted.

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools, david.broskie@myoneclay.net; Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

2021 March 8 Workshop.pdf

2021 March 11 Special Mtg.pdf

2021 March 23 Workshop.pdf

2021 April 1 Student Discipline Hearings.pdf (Confidential)

2021 April 1 Regular Mtg.pdf

Page 4 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-march-8-workshop.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-march-11-special-mtg.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-march-23-workshop.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-april-1-regular-mtg.pdf


Page 5 of 441

DRAFT



Page 6 of 441

DRAFT



Page 7 of 441

DRAFT



Page 8 of 441

DRAFT



Page 9 of 441

DRAFT



Page 10 of 441

DRAFT



Page 11 of 441

DRAFT



Page 12 of 441

DRAFT



Page 13 of 441

DRAFT



Page 14 of 441

DRAFT



Page 15 of 441

DRAFT



Page 16 of 441

DRAFT



Page 17 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C2 - Revision to Start Date for Student Calendar 2022-2023 per Florida Statute 1001.42

Description
The revisions in the previous board-approved student calendar for 2022-2023 are needed due to the updated Florida Statute
1001.42. This State Statute dictates that the first day of school cannot be earlier than August 10th. Clay County currently has
Tuesday, August 9th listed as the first day of school for the 2022-2023 school year and therefore would not be in compliance
with the statute when audited. The District Calendar Committee, which is comprised of members who represent all major
operations of the school district, elementary and secondary school principals, parents,  Clay County Education Association
(CCEA), and Clay Educational Staff Professional Association (CESPA), met on April 7th to discuss moving the start and end
date by one day to ensure compliance with the statute. Below are the proposed adjustments for the teacher's first and last day, and
the student's first and last day for the school year 2022-2023. 

Current first day for teachers: Monday, Aug. 1st. -
Proposed first day for teachers: Tuesday, Aug. 2nd (this would still allow for 6 days of preplanning with one day being the
same in-service day on the traditional Thursday). 

-

Current first day for students: Tuesday, Aug. 9th-
Proposed first day for students: Wednesday, Aug. 10th -

 
Current last day for teachers: Friday, May 26th-
Proposed last day for teachers: Tuesday, May 30th (the day after Memorial Day)-
Current last day for students: Thursday, May 25th-
Proposed last day for students: Friday, May 26th -

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Prior years' Student Calendars were Board approved and posted on the district website. 

Expected Outcomes
All student/employee calendars require School Board approval to establish school/work schedules for students and employees.

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approves the recommended Student Calendar 2022-2023 school year to ensure compliance
with the state statute. 

Contact
Terri Dennis, Chief of Staff, terri.dennis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0

Review Comments

Attachments

Revised 2022-2023 Calendar 10 Month 196 Days Instructional, Support, and Cafeteria Managers (2) (1).pdf
Page 18 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/revised-2022-2023-calendar-10-month-196-days-instructional-support-and-cafeteria-managers-2-1.pdf


Revised Calendar - Student 2022- 2023.pdf

Page 19 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/revised-calendar-student-2022-2023.pdf


JULY 

M T W T F 

    1 

4 5 6 7 8 

11 12 13 14 15 

18 19 20 21 22 

25 26 27 28 29 

AUGUST 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30 31   

SEPTEMBER 
M T W T F 

   1 2 

5 6 7 8 9 

12 13 14 15 16 

19 20 21 22 23 

26 27 28 29 30 

OCTOBER 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

31     

NOVEMBER 

M T W T F 

 1 2 3 4 

7 8 9 10 11 

14 15 16 17 18 

21 22 23 24 25 

28 29 30   

DECEMBER 

M T W T F 

   1 2 

5 6 7 8 9 

12 13 14 15 16 

19 20 21 22 23 

26 27 28 29 30 

JANUARY 

M T W T F 

2 3 4 5 6 

9 10 11 12 13 

16 17 18 19 20 

23 24 25 26 27 

30 31    

FEBRUARY 

M T W T F 

  1 2 3 

6 7 8 9 10 

13 14 15 16 17 

20 21 22 23 24 

27 28    

MARCH 

M T W T F 

  1 2 3 

6 7 8 9 10 

13 14 15 16 17 

20 21 22 23 24 

27 28 29 30 31 

Clay County 2022-2023—Calendar—196 Days  

                   

JUNE 

M T W T F 

   1 2 

5 6 7 8 9 

12 13 14 15 16 

19 20 21 22 23 

26 27 28 29 30 

MAY 

M T W T F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30 31   

APRIL 

M T W T F 

3 4 5 6 7 

10 11 12 13 14 

17 18 19 20 21 

24 25 26 27 28 

     

Semester  - 89 

Semester  -  91 

6 Paid Holidays 
 
Unpaid Non Working Days 

1st & Last Day Employees 
 
Planning Days Page 20 of 441

DRAFT



SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY
Student Calendar

2022-2023

Tuesday, August 2, 2022 First Day, Teacher
Thursday, August 4, 2022 Inservice Day
Wednesday, August 10, 2022 First Day, Students
Monday, September 5, 2022 Labor Day, Student/Teacher Holiday
Friday, October 14, 2022 End First Grading Period (47 days)
Monday, October 17, 2022 Planning Day/Student Holiday
Friday, November 11, 2022 Veterans' Day, Student/Teacher Holiday
Monday, November 21 thru Friday, November 25, 2022 Thanksgiving, Student/Teacher Holidays
Wednesday, December 21, 2022 End Second Grading Period (41 days)
Thursday, December 22, 2022- January 3, 2023 Christmas/New Year’s Break, Student/Teacher Holidays
Wednesday, January 4, 2023 Planning Day/Student Holiday
Thursday, January 5, 2023 Students Return to School
Monday, January 16, 2023 Martin Luther King Day, Student/Teacher Holiday
Monday, February 20, 2023 Presidents' Day, Student/Teacher Holiday
Friday, March 10, 2023 End Third Grading Period (45 days)
Monday, March 13 - March 17, 2023 Spring Break, Student/Teacher Holidays
Monday, March 20, 2023 Planning Day, Student Holiday
Tuesday, March 21, 2023 Students Return to School
Friday, March 31, 2023 Fair Day, Student/Teacher Holiday
Friday, April 7, 2023 Good Friday, Student/Teacher Holiday
Friday, May 26, 2023 Last Day, Students (4th Grading Period - 47 days)
Monday, May 29, 2023 Memorial Day (Observed)
Tuesday, May 30, 2023 Last Day, Teachers – Planning Day

GRADUATION: Friday, May 19 , 2023

EARLY DISMISSAL DAYS

ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS JUNIOR HIGH/ HIGH SCHOOLS ONLY

Sept. 14, 2022/ Oct. 31, 2022/ Dec. 21, 2022 Dec. 19, 20, & 21, 2022
Feb. 15, 2023/ April 26, 2023/ May 25, 2023 May 23, 24, & 25, 2023

INTERIM REPORTS TO PARENTS REPORT CARDS TO PARENTS

September 9, 2022 Available thru the Parent Portal Account
November 18, 2022 https://focus.oneclay.net
February 10, 2023
April 21, 2023 Friday, Oct. 21, 2022

Tuesday, Jan. 10, 2023
Friday, March 24, 2023
Friday, June 2, 2023

School Board Approved: Dec. 10, 2020

Page 21 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C3 - School Board Member Out-of-County Travel Expenses Estimated to Attend FSBA/FADSS Annual Summer Conference

Description
Reimbursement of travel expenses for school board members is addressed in Florida Statutes 112.061, 1001.39 and the rules of
the State Board of Education.  Specifically, F.S. 1001.39 reads, “… any travel outside of the district that exceeds $500 requires
prior approval by the district school board to confirm that such travel is for official business of the school district and complies
with rules of the State Board of Education.  Any request for travel outside the state must include an itemized list detailing all
anticipated travel expenses, including, but not limited to, the anticipated costs of all means of travel, lodging, and subsistence. 
Immediately preceding a request, the public must have an opportunity to speak on the specific travel agenda item.” 
School Board members typically attend two in-state conferences yearly that are sponsored by the Florida School Boards
Association.  In addition, periodic technical assistance is provided throughout the fiscal year for all Board members.  Currently,
there is no planned out-of-state travel.
Estimated costs below include registration fees, lodging, meals, mileage, and other incidental expenses.
Estimated Travel Expenses To Attend FSBA/FADSS Annual Summer Conference

Date/Conference
Board
Members
Attending

Location Purpose
Estimated
Cost

June 2021
FADSS/FSBA
Annual Joint
Summer Conference

Bolla,
Bullock,
Gilhousen,
Kerekes,
Clark

Tampa
FL

Official
Business of
the District

  $5,500

 

Gap Analysis
Professional development provides valuable leadership training for school board members.  The majority of the training, but not
necessarily all training, is provided through the Board’s professional organization, Florida School Boards Association.  Training
includes yearly legislative updates on issues important to school systems in Florida as well as other important topics that impact
public education. 

Previous Outcomes
Board members have attended training and conferences in the past and gained valuable insight on education issues.

Expected Outcomes
Board members will continue to attend upcoming trainings and conferences and gain valuable insight on education issues.

Strategic Plan Goal
2.4 Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
Recommend approval

Contact
Bonnie O'Nora, Board Assistant, bonnie.onora@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$5,500.00 (This is a rough estimate with the assumption that all five board members would have the opportunity to attend.)

Review Comments

Page 22 of 441

DRAFT



Attachments

Page 23 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C4 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Description
Florida Statutes, State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification and/or action regarding
decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  Actions regarding personnel have been
recommended by Supervisors, approved by the Superintendent and are being forwarded to the Board for action or, if appropriate,
for information.  Personnel Actions, Transfer Requests, Pre-employments, Leave Forms or Directives from the Superintendent
are available for review in the Human Resources Division.

Gap Analysis
These personnel actions are necessary for the effective operation of the school district.

Previous Outcomes
The Clay County School Board has approved each month a Personnel Consent Agenda which contains appointments, re-
appointments, transfers, redesignations, retirements, resignations, and conclude employments.

Expected Outcomes
Approval of the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.
 
Initiative 5.1.1 - Recruit and retain highly skilled, qualified, and diverse educators, leaders, and support staff.

Recommendation
To approve the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.  (904) 336-6701 Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Personnel changes involving already-allocated positions will result in salary impact per the current Board-approved Salary
Schedule.  This also includes supplemental positions.  See current backup for allocation changes for impact of new positions.

Review Comments

Attachments

Personnel Consent Agenda 5.6.2021.pdf

Page 24 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-562021.pdf


Page 25 of 441

DRAFT



Page 26 of 441

DRAFT



Page 27 of 441

DRAFT



Page 28 of 441

DRAFT



Page 29 of 441

DRAFT



Page 30 of 441

DRAFT



Page 31 of 441

DRAFT



Page 32 of 441

DRAFT



Page 33 of 441

DRAFT



Page 34 of 441

DRAFT



Page 35 of 441

DRAFT



Page 36 of 441

DRAFT



Page 37 of 441

DRAFT



Page 38 of 441

DRAFT



Page 39 of 441

DRAFT



Page 40 of 441

DRAFT



Page 41 of 441

DRAFT



Page 42 of 441

DRAFT



Page 43 of 441

DRAFT



Page 44 of 441

DRAFT



Page 45 of 441

DRAFT



Page 46 of 441

DRAFT



Page 47 of 441

DRAFT



Page 48 of 441

DRAFT



Page 49 of 441

DRAFT



Page 50 of 441

DRAFT



Page 51 of 441

DRAFT



Page 52 of 441

DRAFT



Page 53 of 441

DRAFT



Page 54 of 441

DRAFT



Page 55 of 441

DRAFT



Page 56 of 441

DRAFT



Page 57 of 441

DRAFT



Page 58 of 441

DRAFT



Page 59 of 441

DRAFT



Page 60 of 441

DRAFT



Page 61 of 441

DRAFT



Page 62 of 441

DRAFT



Page 63 of 441

DRAFT



Page 64 of 441

DRAFT



Page 65 of 441

DRAFT



Page 66 of 441

DRAFT



Page 67 of 441

DRAFT



Page 68 of 441

DRAFT



Page 69 of 441

DRAFT



Page 70 of 441

DRAFT



Page 71 of 441

DRAFT



Page 72 of 441

DRAFT



Page 73 of 441

DRAFT



Page 74 of 441

DRAFT



Page 75 of 441

DRAFT



Page 76 of 441

DRAFT



Page 77 of 441

DRAFT



Page 78 of 441

DRAFT



Page 79 of 441

DRAFT



Page 80 of 441

DRAFT



Page 81 of 441

DRAFT



Page 82 of 441

DRAFT



Page 83 of 441

DRAFT



Page 84 of 441

DRAFT



Page 85 of 441

DRAFT



Page 86 of 441

DRAFT



Page 87 of 441

DRAFT



Page 88 of 441

DRAFT



Page 89 of 441

DRAFT



Page 90 of 441

DRAFT



Page 91 of 441

DRAFT



Page 92 of 441

DRAFT



Page 93 of 441

DRAFT



Page 94 of 441

DRAFT



Page 95 of 441

DRAFT



Page 96 of 441

DRAFT



Page 97 of 441

DRAFT



Page 98 of 441

DRAFT



Page 99 of 441

DRAFT



Page 100 of 441

DRAFT



Page 101 of 441

DRAFT



Page 102 of 441

DRAFT



Page 103 of 441

DRAFT



Page 104 of 441

DRAFT



Page 105 of 441

DRAFT



Page 106 of 441

DRAFT



Page 107 of 441

DRAFT



Page 108 of 441

DRAFT



Page 109 of 441

DRAFT



Page 110 of 441

DRAFT



Page 111 of 441

DRAFT



Page 112 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C5 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

Description
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.
                                                                                                  Field Trips Details

School Date Destination Group Purpose

Keystone
Heights High

4/22-23,
2021

Panama City,
FL

Boys
Weightliftin
g

FHSAA State Weightlifting Meet 

Middleburg High
6/8-12,
2021

Camp
Blanding

NJROTC Basic Leadership Training

Middleburg High 6/5/21 Valdosta, GA NJROTC  End of the Year Trip

Middleburg High
4/20-21,
2021

Vero Beach,
FL

Beach VB
Team

Beach Volleyball Tournament

Middleburg High
4/30-5/1,
2021

Tavares, FL
Beach VB
Team

Beach Volleyball Tournament

Oakleaf High 4/1-3, 2021
Kissimmee,
FL

Softball Kissimmee Klassic Softball Tournament

Oakleaf High
4/23-24,
2021

St. Cloud
High School

Boys
Weightliftin
g

State Qualifiers - State Championship Competition

Ridgeview High
6/8-12,
2021

Camp
Blanding

NJROTC Basic Leadership Training

         

 

Gap Analysis
Field trips provide students with a window to the real world that they don't get in the classroom, and they can help students
understand real-world applications to abstract concepts.

Previous Outcomes
All out of county activity trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that learning outcomes from field trips can range from cognitive to affective outcomes. Exposing
students to new experiences and can increase interest and engagement in academics regardless of prior interests.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure that every classroom provides a quality and rigorous instructional experience in order to elevate student outcomes.

Page 113 of 441

DRAFT



Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve out of county student travel.   

Contact
Roger Dailey, Assistant Superintendent of Curriculum & Instruction; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6904
Treasure Pickett, Director of K-12 Academic Services; treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

May 2021 - Student Travel.pdf

Page 114 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/may-2021-student-travel.pdf


Page 115 of 441

DRAFT



Page 116 of 441

DRAFT



Page 117 of 441

DRAFT



Page 118 of 441

DRAFT



Page 119 of 441

DRAFT



Page 120 of 441

DRAFT



Page 121 of 441

DRAFT



Page 122 of 441

DRAFT



Page 123 of 441

DRAFT



Page 124 of 441

DRAFT



Page 125 of 441

DRAFT



Page 126 of 441

DRAFT



Page 127 of 441

DRAFT



Page 128 of 441

DRAFT



Page 129 of 441

DRAFT



Page 130 of 441

DRAFT



Page 131 of 441

DRAFT



Page 132 of 441

DRAFT



Page 133 of 441

DRAFT



Page 134 of 441

DRAFT



Page 135 of 441

DRAFT



Page 136 of 441

DRAFT



Page 137 of 441

DRAFT



Page 138 of 441

DRAFT



Page 139 of 441

DRAFT



Page 140 of 441

DRAFT



Page 141 of 441

DRAFT



Page 142 of 441

DRAFT



Page 143 of 441

DRAFT



Page 144 of 441

DRAFT



Page 145 of 441

DRAFT



Page 146 of 441

DRAFT



Page 147 of 441

DRAFT



Page 148 of 441

DRAFT



Page 149 of 441

DRAFT



Page 150 of 441

DRAFT



Page 151 of 441

DRAFT



Page 152 of 441

DRAFT



Page 153 of 441

DRAFT



Page 154 of 441

DRAFT



Page 155 of 441

DRAFT



Page 156 of 441

DRAFT



Page 157 of 441

DRAFT



Page 158 of 441

DRAFT



Page 159 of 441

DRAFT



Page 160 of 441

DRAFT



Page 161 of 441

DRAFT



Page 162 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C6 - 2021-22 Professional Learning Catalog (Master In-service Plan)

Description
The Florida legislature recognizes the importance of planning for developing human potential and requires each district to
develop a comprehensive Professional Learning Catalog, which was formerly known as the Master In-service Plan. Each district
is required to annually update, revise, and submit a Professional Learning Catalog to provide a detailed description of each
professional learning component, to include the name of the component, general description, primary purpose, evaluation
methods for staff and students, implementation method, learning methods and participation hours.  Each unique type of
professional learning experience requires a corresponding component.

Gap Analysis
During this annual review, the Professional Learning Catalog was formatted as a Google Hyperdoc for ease of navigation and
use.  Component documents were updated to a consistent format that includes all required information.  The content of each
component was reviewed by the appropriate department and updates were made to reflect current terminology and the most up-
to-date professional learning requirements and expectations.  Components were added to reflect the additional professional
learning opportunities and online learning formats now available, and components that are no longer needed were removed.

Previous Outcomes
The CCDS Professional Learning Catalog was last revised in December 2020.

Expected Outcomes
The CCDS 2021-2022 Professional Learning Catalog will include the most up-to-date information and include the professional
learning components available for the 2021-2022 school year.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal:   Goal 1: Develop a High Quality & Aligned Instructional System
Strategy:  1.1.2 Provide support for effective professional development necessary to assist teachers with providing high quality
instruction.
 

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the CCDS 2021-2022 Professional Learning Catalog.

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer
904.336.6904 roger.dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0.00

Review Comments

Attachments

2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan - Draft.pdf

2021-2022 Professional Learning Catalog_MIP_Summary of Changes.pdf

Page 163 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-2022-ccds-master-in-service-plan-draft.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2021-2022-professional-learning-catalog_mip_summary-of-changes.pdf


2021 - 2022 Master In-Service Plan - DRAFT

David S. Broskie
Superintendent of Schools

CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

District 1:  Janice Kerekes
District 2:  Beth Clark
District 3:  Tina Bullock
District 4:  Mary Bolla
District 5:  Ashley Gilhousen

Clay County District Schools

Page 164 of 441

DRAFT



Table of Contents

Table of Contents 1

Professional Learning Protocol System 2

Introduction 2

State Board of Education Rules 2

Florida Statutes 3

Professional Learning System 4

Professional Certificate Renewal Information 12

Earning Inservice Points 16

Protocol for Offering an Inservice Activity 16

Writing an Inservice Training Component 16

Professional Learning Components 19

Component 1 - Subject Content 19

Component 2 - Instructional Methodology 20

Component 3 - Technology 20

Component 4 - Assessment and Data Analysis 21

Component 5 - Classroom Management 21

Component 6 - School Safety/Safe Learning Environment 21

Component 7 - Management/Leadership/Planning 21

Component 8 - General Support 22

Specialized Professional Learning Opportunities 22

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 1Page 165 of 441

DRAFT



Professional Learning Protocol System

Introduction

Clay County District Schools, through a comprehensive professional learning system, provides all personnel
with inservice opportunities that lead directly to the improvement of student achievement and promote a
climate of self-renewal for all.

This Professional Learning Catalog (catalog) is one element of a comprehensive system designed to
enhance classroom instructional practices and job skills to improve student performance. The intent of
the Professional Learning Catalog is to achieve national, state and local goals through the provision of a
framework for professional growth in the knowledge, attitudes, skills, attributes and behaviors of all
district employees. Through the application of this continuous improvement model, Clay County District
Schools’ students benefit from a safe, technology rich environment and effective instruction that meets
their needs.

The law requires that certain areas of need be addressed through planned inservice: subject content
and  teaching methods for standards adopted by the state of Florida, and appropriate implementation of
instructional  materials, classroom management, technology, school safety, assessment and data
analysis, and family  involvement.

Inservice opportunities are developed in response to the district strategic plan, school
improvement plans, an annual professional learning survey, professional learning evaluations,
and individual professional learning plans.

State Board of Education Rules

6A-4.0051, Renewal of a Professional Educator's Certificate beginning July 1, 1988.

Defines requirements to renew a professional certificate, via college credit, inservice training,  subject
area tests and summer work programs. Provides information on active or inactive status  of
professional certificates. Describes procedures for retention of certification of one or more
coverages. Describes general requirements including validity periods, submission of application,
approval procedure by superintendent, and special provisions for extensions.

6A-5.071, Professional Learning Catalog Requirements.

Describes the Professional Learning Catalog (catalog) including the contents, format, approval
process, and updating procedures, the requirements for a component, how to convert college
credit to inservice points, what constitutes in-field and out-of-field components, the minimum
length of component, and evaluation requirements. Provides the requirements and procedures  for
record keeping, component and participant files, and reports.

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 2Page 166 of 441

DRAFT



Florida Statutes

Section 1011.62 (3), FS, Inservice Education Personnel Training Expenditures – Directs that
a district  shall expend a portion of the unweighted FTE for educational training.

Section 1012.22 (i), FS, Comprehensive Program of Professional learning – Provides that the
board shall  develop a comprehensive program of professional learning and make adequate
provision for proper  funding.

Section 1012.42 (1) (2), FS, Teacher Teaching Out of Field: Assistance – Provides that
each district  school board shall adopt and implement an inservice plan for teachers out of
field.

Section 1012.52, FS, Teacher Quality – Provides a comprehensive approach to increase
student’s  academic achievement and improve teaching quality by requiring demonstration of
the sixteen Professional Education Competencies (PEC).

Section 1012.54, FS, Purpose of Instructional Personnel Certification – Protects the
educational  interests of students, parents, and the public by assuring that teachers are
professionally qualified.

Section 1012.56 (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6), FS, Certificates Granted on Application to Those
Meeting  Prescribed Requirements – Provides requirements, regulations and provisions for
certification; and  academic and subject area skills tests.

Section 1012.56, FS, Educator Certification Requirements – Provides for a cohesive,
competency-based  preparation program by which … instructional staff may satisfy the mastery of
professional preparation  and education competence.

Section 1012.56(8), FS, Alternative Certification – Provides authority for the board to develop
programs  for certified teachers to add additional coverage.

Section 1012.585, FS, Renewal of Certificate – Provides direction for professional certificate
renewal.  Includes certification procedures via inservice training.

Section 1012.795 (2), FS, Professional Ethics – Establishes authority to enforce the Code of
Ethics and  Professional Conduct.

Section 1012.98, FS. School Community Professional Development Act – Provides for a
continual  evaluation of professional development methods and programs.

Section 1012.985, FS, Statewide System for Professional Development – Establishes a
network of  professional development academics.

Section 1012.72, FS, Dale Hickam Excellent Teaching Program – Provides for incentives and
rewards for  teachers participating in the National Board process.

Section 1012.986, FS, William Cecil Golden Professional Development Program for
School Leaders Provides high standards and sustained support for principals as instructional
leaders.

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 3Page 167 of 441

DRAFT



Professional Learning System

Rationale

Clay County’s Professional Learning Department provides a comprehensive system for
professional growth rooted in a common vision of effective performance for all personnel. Our
vision directs the school community in providing stimulating, research and  evidence-based
educational activities that encourage and motivate students to achieve at the  highest levels and to
become active, lifelong learners. Our system is based upon the work of  prominent researchers
who have guided us to understand that the accomplishment of this  vision of high academic
achievement for all students is dependent upon the effective use of  data in the context of a
community of learners.

The commitment to high quality professional learning, as an integral part of school  improvement,
has important implications for the content, process and context of professional  learning activities.
This Professional Learning System is based upon Learning Forward Standards  for Professional
Learning and the William Cecil Golden Program for School Leaders. Florida’s  Professional Learning
Evaluation Protocol also provides a framework for the methods and  protocols needed to conduct
ongoing assessments of the quality of professional learning in our  schools. The purpose is to
increase student achievement by enhancing classroom instructional  strategies that promote rigor
and relevance throughout the curriculum, and prepare students  for continuing education and the
workforce.

This Professional Learning System fulfills the requirements of Florida Statute 1012.985 and SB
Rule 6A-5.081 and includes:

● alignment with student and personnel needs determined through multiple data sources;

● professional learning activities that focus on professional growth in:

● analysis of student data; ongoing formal and informal assessment of student
achievement; identification and use of enhanced and differentiated instructional
strategies; emphasis on rigor, relevance and reading in the content area; enhancement of
subject content expertise; integrated use of classroom technology that enhances teaching
and learning; classroom management; parent  involvement; and school safety;

● professional learning for school leaders using lesson study, and related protocols to focus
and support  teacher work on improving instructional and assessment practices;

● a comprehensive plan to facilitate professional learning for teachers, principals, and
administrators on how to access local instructional improvement and state level data
systems  for the purpose of improving instruction;

● collaboratively developed school improvement plans that focus on methods, strategies,
and the  conceptual background appropriate to differentiated instruction to engage
students in rigorous  and relevant curriculum, based on national, state and local
standards;

● increased opportunities to provide meaningful relationships between teachers and
students;

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 4Page 168 of 441

DRAFT



● the use of formative assessment and the principles of professional learning communities
to guide instruction;

● increased opportunities for professional collaboration, including effective use of common
planning time to focus on the relationship between teaching and student learning;

● the use of data systems involving assessment information on student learning;

● effective beginning teacher support programs based on evaluation data of student
learning  and teacher performance;

● professional learning activities for administrative personnel as addressed in the  district’s
Pathway to School Leadership that update skills for effective school  management and
instructional leadership;

● training for administrators and other school leaders on methods of classroom observation,
feedback and coaching for improvement;

● an individual professional learning plan for teachers and administrators that provide for
needs related to  specific student performance data, clearly defined learning objectives,
specific measurable  improvements in student performance resulting from professional
learning activities, and an evaluation component.

Management

In order to impact student achievement, professional learning must be focused on a common  vision
of professional growth. Thus Clay County District Schools has clearly defined the action  and
communication responsibilities for district level employees, school-based leadership and all  other
employees.

Role of the District:

The responsibility for the management of professional learning activities lies primarily with the
district Professional Learning department. The Supervisor of Professional Learning, working
collaboratively with other department directors, is responsible for:

● the development and updating of the Professional Learning System, including the  district
Professional Learning Catalog, and

● the coordination, communication, and recording of all professional learning activities,
including but not limited to:

○ review of training needs of teachers and administrators as identified by district  needs
assessment and school improvement plans

○ identification and provision of inservice activities for school administrative personnel

○ development and monitoring of Professional Learning Catalog components  focused
on subject content and teaching methods as related to the national,  state, and local
standards, assessment and data analysis, classroom management, school safety,
family involvement, technology, instructional  methodology, management leadership
planning, and general support activities

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 5Page 169 of 441

DRAFT



○ fidelity of implementation of instructional materials

○ development and continual updating of the online catalog of all professional
development opportunities offered by the district

○ monitoring of updated Add-on Endorsements, and requesting approval from the
Bureau of Educator Recruitment, Development and Retention

○ provision for a record keeping system that insures all employees professional  growth
is recorded and communicated as needed

○ provision of structures for the development, monitoring and evaluation of
professional learning initiatives that are aligned with Florida’s Professional  Learning
Evaluation Protocol

○ distribution of inservice information to all school and district-level personnel,  via the
OneClay portal

○ dissemination of research based practices and other professional learning
opportunities for all employees that are aligned with Florida’sProfessional  Learning
Evaluation Protocol

○ implementation and coordination of a formal Coaching and Mentoring Plan  to insure
high fidelity

○ development and monitoring of a budget appropriate to meeting  professional
learning needs

○ provision of training and support for evaluation efforts through Florida  Continuous
Improvement Model (FCIM) and Classroom Learning Walks data and other
evaluation training

○ training administrators and other school leaders on methods for classroom
observation, feedback and coaching for improvement

○ training for school leaders in using collaborative and related protocols to focus  and
support teacher work on improving instructional and assessment practices

○ collaboration and coordination of technology integration efforts to promote high
student engagement

○ support of the William Cecil Golden website utilization by school leaders;

○ the provision of field experience to develop competencies for school leadership

○ compliance with requirements for the completion of Florida Departmentof  Education
reports regarding professional learning

○ collaboration and communication with universities/colleges/communitycolleges
serving Clay County in order to develop and implement programs leading to
certification and other professional growth experiences

○ collaboration with regional and state personnel designated to provide technical
assistance and evaluation of local professional learning programs

○ a comprehensive plan to deliver professional learning to teachers, principals,  and
Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 6Page 170 of 441

DRAFT



administrators on how to access local instructional improvement and state  level data
systems for the purpose of improving instruction

Role of the School-based Leadership:

Principals are responsible for a school-wide professional learning plan allowing for job embedded
learning that addresses the needs of instructional and support personnel at the  school. This should
be integrated as an essential component of the overall school improvement  process. In
collaboration with school leadership, principals should facilitate and support a culture that embraces
the elements of professional learning communities and action research.

● Principals, or their designees work with each professional employee in developing a
Learning Target Plan that:

○ relates to specific student performance data for those areas to which the  teacher is
assigned;

○ contains clearly defined professional learning objectives;

○ specifies measurable improvement in student performance resulting from
professional learning activity;

○ includes an evaluation component documenting the expected student  performance
gains;

○ involves participation in on-going teams/professional learning communities;

○ relates to the individual’s career goals and, if appropriate, provides for professional
learning of the individual as a school leader;

○ provides school-based structures that support and monitor the implementation of
each instructional employee’s Learning Target Plan and career goals; and conducts
individual evaluation conferences that document that the LTP was implemented as
written or revised, and faculty members applied the newly learned knowledge and
skills in the classroom.

● Principals or their designees use data systems involving assessment information on  student
learning.

● Principals plan for the effective use of common planning time to focus on teaching and
learning improvements.

● Principals implement additional effective beginning teacher support programs based  on
on-going evaluation data of student learning and teacher performance. ∙ Principals or their
designees monitor the implementation of effective instructional  practices that target high
needs students through the use of Classroom Learning Walks and other methods.

● Principals or their designees monitor the implementation of effective instructional  strategies,
formative and summative assessments, and teacher content knowledge that focuses on the
national, state, and local standards (including  Florida State Standards) through the use of
teacher assessment, Classroom  Learning Walks, and other methods.

School-based designees receive training on professional learning procedures and the Florida
Protocol Standards. They are responsible for guidance and assistance to site-based  professional
Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 7Page 171 of 441

DRAFT



developers in order to ensure that the planning, implementing, learning and evaluating of training is
aligned with national, state and local (including state standards)  expectations.

Role of Each Employee:

Each instructional level person acts as a model of lifelong learning by demonstrating an attitude of
openness to innovation and a willingness to continually grow in their professional practice by:

● developing and implementing a Learning Target Plan that is directly related to specific
student performance data for those areas to which the teacher is assigned. The LTP
contains clearly defined professional learning goals and objectives; specifies measurable
improvement in student performance resulting from the professional learning; and includes
an evaluating component documenting the expected student performance gains;

● the use and implementation of instructional practices that target high-needs students;
effectively using common planning time to focus on teaching and learning improvements;

● implementing newly learned strategies with students and participating with other members
within professional learning communities to continually refine this implementation so that
student achievement is increased;

● implementing effective instructional strategies, formative and summative assessment,  and
content knowledge focused on national, state, and local standards;

● monitoring student achievement related to professional learning and documenting results;

● using all available technology to improve instructional delivery and expand personal
professional learning;

● evaluating professional learning to determine the effectiveness of training in terms of  student
performance; and

● utilizing knowledge and opportunities for school and district coaching, mentoring, and
leadership.

Each classified (non-instructional) employee acts as a role model for lifelong learning by
demonstrating a willingness to continually grow in job-related skills and techniques by:

● participating in job-related professional learning;

● learning new uses for current technology as it relates to job assignments;

● evaluating professional learning experiences as related to their job
performance/improvement; and

● collaborating with other employees in job-like roles in an effort to share knowledge
and talent.

Organization

Needs Assessment:

The district conducts needs assessment processes that include:
1) a school-by-school analysis of disaggregated student standardized test scores and data from other

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 8Page 172 of 441

DRAFT



sources, (using FCIM strategies) including, but not limited to:

● additional student achievement data

● school attendance data

● school discipline data

● school environmental surveys

● School Improvement Plans

● School Professional Learning Plans

● district priorities

● personnel and parent surveys (school environment), annual performance appraisals  and
Federal, state and local mandates.

2) an individual electronic needs assessment designed to collect data on individuals' perception of the
effectiveness of training taken and anticipated needs

3) based on this needs assessment, the Professional Learning and Leadership Department and  other
departments generate inservice components that are research-based and aligned with Florida’s
Professional Learning Protocol and national standards.

Specific professional learning activities are also determined by the following data sources:

● district, state and federal requirements

● Learning Target Plan results

● School Improvement Plans

● final performance appraisal results and

● Protocol Reviews and other state and federal audits.

Inservice Components:

All professional learning activities must be related to an inservice component and focus on:
analysis of student data; on-going formal and informal assessment of student achievement;
identification and use of enhanced and differentiated instructional strategies; emphasis on rigor,
relevance and reading in the content area; enhancement of subject content expertise; integrated
use of classroom technology that enhances teaching and learning; classroom  management;
parent involvement; and school safety. In addition, delivery of professional learning by distance
learning and other technology based delivery systems should reach more educators, decreasing
costs while maintaining teacher presence in the classroom. Continuous monitoring of the quality
and effectiveness of professional learning programs through Classroom Learning Walk
observations and other monitoring and evaluative methods are required.

Components are developed using the state Protocol Strands of Planning, Learning,
Implementing and Evaluating. The criteria:

● Links to state, district and/or school improvement goals;

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 9Page 173 of 441

DRAFT



● Targets the knowledge, attitude, skills, aspirations and/or behaviors of employees related to the
professional learning content areas designated in Florida Statute 1012.98;

● details specific, measurable objectives related to professional performance and /or student
achievement;

● includes activities that use current research and learning strategies appropriate to the intended goal,
applies knowledge of adult learning and change, and models effective teaching strategies, practice and
feedback;

● provides for professional learning that is sufficient in length and depth to ensure mastery of needed
skills;

● provides for implementation strategies to ensure support and assistance are provided;

● provides web-based resources, assistance and discussion groups related to the training when
appropriate; and

● provides for the evaluation of effectiveness linking to student achievement gains  where viable and
appropriate.

New components will be developed and must be submitted to the Supervisor of Professional
Learning for approval. All approved components become part of the Professional Learning
Catalog. The Clay County School Board approves the Professional Learning Catalog and any
additions, deletions or changes on an annual basis.

Credit for Professional Learning Inservice Points:

Employees are awarded inservice points (one point per hour of training) for participation in a
successfully completed professional learning activity. The Supervisor of Professional Learning
gives final approval for inservice points awarded.

In order for component inservice points to be recorded for an employee, the appropriate survey
must be completed and submitted via the professional learning management system.

The district maintains up-to-date records for all professional learning including certification and
inservice points for school faculty, staff and administrators through the district’s professional
learning management system.

Inservice points may be used for add-on certification, Florida educator certification renewal,
other certificate/license renewal, professional skill building, and incentive programs.

Monetary Compensation:

Instructional and classified employees may be compensated for professional learning activities
occurring outside of regular work hours according to their collective bargaining agreements.

Implementation of the System

Planning:

The Learning Target Plan (LTP) is the foundation for the planning and implementation of

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 10Page 174 of 441

DRAFT



meaningful professional learning that impacts student achievement. Therefore, school-based  and
district administrators meet with every faculty/staff member individually to determine  training needs
based on disaggregated classroom level student achievement data, performance appraisal data,
summaries and analyses of end of course evaluations, and school or grade level priorities.
Additionally, school and district leadership work diligently to ensure that the  objectives of the
professional learning delivered directly reflect the objectives specified in the professional learning
plans.

Learning:

In seeking to be sensitive to multiple learning styles and preferences, delivery models for
professional learning include:

● workshops

● interactive electronic learning

● non-interactive electronic learning

● professional learning communities

● study groups

● action research

Implementing:

Classroom learning walk data and other formal and informal observations are used to ensure  that
teachers and administrators use what they have learned through professional learning in  their
classrooms and schools. All professional learning programs include implementation. Participants
are provided support and help as they implement their new skills and knowledge  through coaching
and mentoring where appropriate. Web-based resources and assistance are also offered as
follow-up support.

Implementation documentation and follow up may include:

● structured coaching/mentoring

● action research

● collaborative planning

● participant products

● study groups

● interactive electronic communication

● non-interactive electronic communication

Follow-up:

For each component for which inservice points will be awarded, the catalog shall also include a description of
any follow-up activities that will be required and support that will be provided to ensure successful completion
of the component. All professional learning programs include follow-up via an electronic survey generated
Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 11Page 175 of 441

DRAFT



through the professional learning management system.  Completion of this survey is required for in-service
points to be awarded.

Evaluating:

As per Florida Statute 1012.98, the District provides for the continuous evaluation of the quality  and
effectiveness of professional learning in order to expand effective programs and strategies  and
eliminate ineffective ones. Evaluation methods may include:

● results of district developed/standardized tests

● results of school/teacher constructed student tests

● portfolios of student work

● observation of student performance

● other performance assessment

Quantitative and qualitative data is collected on three levels based on the following evaluation
questions:

● Did individual participants learn and implement effective teaching strategies aligned  with
program objectives?

● Were professional learning activities aligned and delivered in such a way that identified
needs were effectively addressed?

● Did the professional learning component/initiative contribute to increases in student
achievement?

Data is gathered in a variety of ways including assessment of student achievement data, end of
course evaluations, formal performance assessment data, and evidence of student learning.

Additionally, the District monitors professional learning data to make certain that all activities  are
aligned with Florida’s Professional Learning Protocol and in support of the Learning  Forward
Standards for Professional Learning.

Professional Certificate Renewal Information

A State of Florida, Department of Education, Professional Educator’s Certificate can be renewed with
component credit, college credit, a passing score on the subject area exam of a certification area listed on the
certificate, instructing a college level course, or a combination of these options. These options must be
completed within the 5-year validity period of the current certificate.

Options Available for Meeting Renewal Requirements

● Component Credit- Each staff member who wishes to have his/her/their teaching certificate renewed
using only component points must have earned at least one hundred twenty (120) points during his/her
current validity period of the certificate. Twenty (20) points of the required 120 must be in Teaching
Students with Disabilities (ESE-SWD). Forty (40) of the 120 points must be in Developmental

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 12Page 176 of 441

DRAFT



Literacy(DL) beginning in 2025 to renew certificates in the specific subject areas listed in the
Developmental Literacy section below.

● College Credit, College Teaching Experiences, and/or Subject Area Exam-For renewal methods other
than inservice credit, please refer to the FLDOE Renewal documentation from the Human Resources
Department.

Required Credits for Renewal

● Exceptional Student Education – Students with Disabilities (ESE - SWD) Credit- The Florida State
Legislative group approved a law, effective July 1, 2014, requiring all those who hold a valid Florida
Professional Certificate to complete 1 semester hour of college credit or 20 hours of professional
development credit in teaching students with disabilities during the last validity period of the
Professional Certificate.This requirement may be met through the completion of online and/or
face-to-face training opportunities that meet the state requirements listed below. ESE renewal credit will
be tracked in the district’s professional learning management system. Certificated staff can check their
status toward meeting this requirement at any time by accessing their professional learning transcript.

One (1) Semester Hour in Teaching Students With Disabilities (SWD)

Unacceptable College Courses

● Courses in Gifted Education are NOT acceptable.
● American Sign Language courses are NOT acceptable (exception - teaching American

Sign Language to the Hearing Impaired).

Acceptable College Courses
● Courses with ESE or Special Education prefixes
● Introduction to Exceptional Student Education
● Nature and Needs of the various disabilities
● Teaching Students with Disabilities
● Educating the Learning Disabled
● Assessment in Exceptional Education
● Assessing Students with Disabilities
● Varying Exceptionalities
● Individualized Instruction for Exceptional Students
● Management Strategies for Students with Disabilities
● Special Education Curriculum

Twenty (20) Hours of Professional Development Credit in Teaching Students with Disabilities (SWD)

Unacceptable MIP (Master In-service Plan) ESE Component Areas
● Procedural/Legal Requirements
● Working with Aides/Volunteers/Mentors
● Gifted Training

Acceptable MIP (Master In-service Plan) ESE Component Areas
● Instructional Strategies
● Classroom/Behavior Management
● Assessment

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 13Page 177 of 441

DRAFT



● Curriculum

● Developmental Literacy – Effective for renewal beginning July 1, 2025- As a component of the credit
requirements specified under paragraph (1)(a) of rule 6A-4.0051, an educator whose application for
renewal of a certificate with a beginning validity date of July 1, 2020, or thereafter, must have earned at
least two (2) college credits, forty (40) inservice points, or a combination thereof, in the use of explicit,
systematic, and sequential approaches to reading instruction, developing phonemic awareness, and
implementing multisensory intervention strategies.

The requirement applies to anyone with the following areas of certification:
● Elementary Education (K-6)
● Prekindergarten/Primary Education (age 3 through grade 3)
● Elementary Education (grades 1-6)
● Primary Education (grades K-3)
● English (grades 1-6)
● Middle Grades English (grades 5-9)
● Middle Grades Integrated Curriculum (grades 5-9)
● English (6-12)
● Reading (K-12)
● Reading (Endorsement)
● English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) (grades K-12)

Renewal Timeframes
● If a teacher with one of those coverages renewed in 2020, the 40 hours must be earned by

2025.
● If a teacher with one of those coverages renews in 2021, the 40 hours must be earned by 2026.
● If a teacher with one of those coverages renews in 2022, the 40 hours must be earned by 2027.
● If a teacher with one of those coverages renews in 2023, the 40 hours must be earned by 2028.
● If a teacher with one of those coverages renews in 2024, the 40 hours must be earned by 2029.

Hours and Coursework
● Points earned within ten years of renewal may be used for the requirement.
● Coursework used to earn a certificate or endorsement may also be used to renew it.
● Courses must address the use of explicit, systematic, and sequential approaches to reading

instruction, developing phonemic awareness, and implementing multisensory intervention
strategies.

● Approval of coursework is at the discretion of districts within their professional learning catalog.

Bankable Points

Per the Florida Department of Education, the only professional development points that can be categorized as
“bankable” are ESOL, Reading, Developmental Literacy, and ESE-SWD (Students with Disabilities). The
objective and/or focus of the training must be instructional in nature to meet the requirements for ESOL,
Reading, Developmental Literacy or Students with Disabilities.

A temporary certificate holder who earns bankable in-service points during the validity period of the temporary
certificate must use those points toward renewal of the first 5-year professional certificate. The temporary and
Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 14Page 178 of 441

DRAFT



professional certificates must be issued for consecutive school years and such training must not have been
included within the degree program.

Reading Credit

● Reading training completed prior to July 1, 1999 cannot be banked.
● A professional certificate holder who completes bankable in-service points in the teaching of reading in

excess of the 120 in-service points needed for renewal may bank the excess points for renewal of
professional certificates during subsequent renewal periods.

● English and Language Arts points are not bankable.
● Only professional development points that directly relate to Reading standards will be banked.

To request approval for bankable professional development points in Reading, In-service Coordinators must
receive approval from the district reading designee.

Developmental Literacy

● Developmental Literacy points earned within ten years of renewal may be used for the requirement. If
they are not used within 10 years for Developmental Literacy renewal, they can be banked as reading
credit.

● Only professional development points that directly relate to the use of explicit, systematic, and
sequential approaches to reading instruction, developing phonemic awareness, and implementing
multisensory intervention strategies will be banked as Developmental Literacy.

English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) Credit

● A professional certificate holder who completes bankable in-service points in the teaching of ESOL in
excess of the 120 in-service points needed for renewal may bank the excess points for renewal of
professional certificates during subsequent renewal periods.

Exceptional Student Education - Students with Disabilities (ESE - SWD) Credit

● The banking of ESE - SWD credit will be administered as directed by the FLDOE’s Bureau of
Certification.

Schools of Excellence Renewal Credit

The 2017 Florida Legislature created section 1003.631, Florida Statutes, establishing the Schools of
Excellence Program.

Beginning in 2017-2018, instructional personnel employed at a designated School of Excellence may receive
20 in-service points for each year of employment at the school (up to 60 points) as long as the school
maintains the School of Excellence distinction.

“An individual who changes employment only earns credit for a year of employment at a School of Excellence
if she/he/they works a minimum of ninety-nine (99) days at the designated school. Credit earned for teaching at
a School of Excellence may be used only to satisfy general renewal credit. It cannot be used to satisfy credit
for subject specialization or for teaching students with disabilities.” (Florida Department of Education)

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 15Page 179 of 441

DRAFT



Earning Inservice Points

All in-service offerings must be approved by the Professional Learning Department and led by an approved
facilitator.

All inservice points will be awarded on the basis of one point per hour of class attendance provided the
participant successfully completes the class requirements as established by the facilitator and/or contact. All
professional learning must include follow-up activities. Successful completion is determined by the facilitator.
No points will be awarded without completion of all activities required in the course. Additional points may be
awarded for follow-up activities at the discretion of the facilitator.

Out-of-County Professional Technical Assistance, Conferences, and Workshops

Up to 120 PLC points (per 5- year validity period) will be awarded on the basis of one point per hour of
attendance in out-of-county professional learning activities.  (Lunch hours, registration times, travel time,
evening social activities, etc., are not included as inservice.)  Required documentation must be
submitted within the professional learning management system.

The required documentation includes:

1. description of the event
2. 2-3 paragraph impact report
3. evidence of attendance (i.e. agendas, certificates of completion, verification letters— leave forms

are not acceptable), and
4. a pdf file of an email providing evidence of approval from your supervisor

Activities That Do Not Earn Points:

● Writing teams (not approved as “action research” or professional learning communities)

● Meetings (regularly scheduled faculty or department meetings)

● Viewing videos outside an organized inservice or action research project

● School or classroom visits outside an organized inservice project

Protocol for Offering an Inservice Activity

All inservice training offered for points and/or pay must fall under the objectives of a current Professional
Learning Catalog component as outlined in this catalog.

Writing an Inservice Training Component

Why?

Rules require that a component contain specified information. Components are included in the district's
Professional Learning Catalog that is reviewed by the Professional Development Advisory Committee and
approved by the Clay County School Board. Assurance of Board approval is required by the Department of
Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 16Page 180 of 441

DRAFT



Education.

How?

When designing and writing a component, think of it as an outline for a course. It should be written to
indicate the specific competencies the participant can expect to gain upon successful completion, the type
of  training activities they will be involved in, and how many points they can expect to earn. Instructors
should be able to peruse components and understand what they are to present, the types of in class and
follow-up activities to plan, the objectives for evaluation, and the competencies which participants will be
expected to  gain. Therefore, a component should be exact, concise, and informative.

All components are required to include nine criteria (SB 6A-5.071):

1) Component Title - The component title should be descriptive and unique for the component.

2) Component (State Identifier) Number - This is assigned by the Professional Learning Department.

3) Assignment and Distribution of Points - Number of points to be awarded (an hour of instruction
equals one point). Points should be calculated and stated for either the total number of hours or a
range of hours. One point may be awarded for each actual hour of participation, and additional points
may be awarded for outside activities as valued by the coordinator/facilitator. Upon successful
completion of the inservice, outside activities and follow-up, participants may receive all or a portion of
the available points.

Planning

4) Target Audience – List the audience for which the component is intended (i.e.secondary
Language Arts, P. E. K-12).

5) General Objective Statement of the Purpose of Component - The purpose should describe
for whom  the component is designed and what content the component will address. (Example:
The purpose of  this component is to introduce elementary teachers to updated concepts of
biosystems by teaching them the latest terminology used in describing life interrelationships
and showing them how to teach  bio-system concepts to elementary students via
demonstration and discovery approaches.)

6) Specific Objectives - Specific objectives are behaviorally written statements indicating the
competencies to be gained by a participant upon successful completion of the component.
Specific objectives must be:

● sufficient in number to warrant the number of points being awarded,

● comprehensive and detailed to indicate to the presenter and the participant the
competencies  to be gained, and

● measurable.

Delivery

7) Description of Activities – In seeking to be sensitive to multiple learning styles and
preferences,  delivery modes for professional learning include:

● workshop;

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 17Page 181 of 441

DRAFT



● electronic; interactive

● electronic; non-interactive;

● study groups and learning communities;

● action research

Follow-Up

8) Description of Activities – Classroom learning walks, and other formal and informal
observations are used to ensure that teachers and administrators use what they have learned
through professional learning in their classrooms and schools. All professional learning
programs include follow-up via an electronic survey generated through the professional learning
management system.  Completion of this survey is required for in-service points to be awarded.
Participants should be provided support and help as they implement their new skills and
knowledge through coaching and mentoring where appropriate. Web-based resources and
assistance may also be offered as follow-up support.

Implementation documentation may include:

● coaching/mentoring

● action research

● collaborative planning

● study group/learning communities

● electronic interactive

● electronic non-interactive

Evaluation

9) Description of Activities – As per Florida Statute 1012.98, the District provides for the
continuous evaluation of the quality and effectiveness of professional learning in order to expand
effective programs and strategies and eliminate ineffective ones. Each component should include
one method of evaluation listed below:

● results of district standardized tests

● results of school constructed student tests

● portfolios of student work

● checklist of student performance

● charts, graphs of student progress

● other performance assessment

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 18Page 182 of 441

DRAFT



Professional Learning Components

Component 1 - Subject Content

Component Number Name of Component

1-000-001 Learning with Art (Visual)

1-000-002 Learning with Art (Visual): Self-Paced

1-002-001 CTE (Career & Technical Education) Learning

1-002-002 CTE (Career and Technical Education) Digital Learning

1-004-001 Foreign Language Learning

1-008-002 Learning with ELA (English Language Arts)

1-008-003 Learning with ELA: Self-Paced

1-009-001 Learning with Math

1-009-002 Learning With Math: Self-Paced

1-010-001 Performing Arts

1-010-002 Performing Arts: Self-Paced

1-011-001 Athletic Coaching Endorsement - Instruction and Coaching Specific Sport

1-011-002 Learning Through Physical Education

1-012-001 Pre-Kindergarten

1-013-008 Learning with Reading

1-013-009 Reading Competency 1: Foundations of Reading Instruction

1-013-010 Reading Competency 2: Application of Research-Based Instructional Practices

1-013-011 Reading Competency 3: Foundations of Assessment

1-013-012 Reading Competency 4: Foundations & Applications of Differentiated Instruction

1-013-013 Reading Competency 5: Demonstration of Accomplishment

1-013-014
Reading Competency 1 and 2: Reading Foundations and Research-Based
Instructional Practices

1-013-015 Exploring Structured Literacy (ESL)

1-015-001 Learning with Science

1-015-002 Learning with Science: Self-Paced

1-016-001 Learning with Social Studies

1-016-002 Learning with Social Studies: Self-Paced

1-017-001 Learning Through Writing

1-017-002 Learning Through Writing: Self-Paced

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 19Page 183 of 441

DRAFT



1-103-001 Athletic Coaching Endorsement - Sport Specific Rules and Procedures

1-106-001 Gifted Competency 2 - Curriculum Development

1-407-001 Information Literacy

1-700-001 ESOL Endorsement: Methods of Teaching ESOL

1-701-001 ESOL Endorsement: Testing and Evaluation

1-702-001 ESOL Endorsement: Applied Linguistics

1-703-001 ESOL Endorsement: Curriculum and Materials Development

1-704-001 ESOL: Enriching Content Knowledge

1-704-002 ESOL: For Category III Teachers

1-705-001 ESOL Endorsement: Cross Cultural Communications

1-705-004 ESOL: For Administrators and School Counselors

Component 2 - Instructional Methodology

Component Number Name of Component

2-007-002 Best Teaching Practices

2-011-001 Athletic Coaching Endorsement - Coaching Theory & Practice

2-011-002 Athletic Coaching Endorsement - Injury Care and Prevention

2-013-014 Job Embedded Reading Course

2-100-001
Applied Behavior Analysis and Positive Behavior Supports for Students with Autism
Spectrum Disorders with Field Experience

2-100-006 Exceptional Student Education Learning Workshop (Bankable)

2-100-007 Exceptional Student Education Learning Virtual/Interactive (Bankable)

2-100-008 Exceptional Student Education Learning PLC (Bankable)

2-100-009 Instruction of Students with Disabilities (Bankable)

2-106-013 Gifted Competency 5 - Theory of Creativity

2-106-014 Gifted Competency 4 - Special Populations

2-400-004 Elementary Education

2-404-001 Culture of Learning

2-408-023 Professional Learning Communities

Component 3 - Technology

Component Number Name of Component

3-003-003 Computer Science/Technology Education

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 20Page 184 of 441

DRAFT



3-003-004 Computer Science/Technology Education: Self-Paced

3-007-005 Technology - Integration into the Curriculum

3-007-006 Technology - Integration into the Curriculum: Self-Paced

3-007-007 Technology Backpacks

3-100-003
Augmentative/Alternative Communication Systems and Assistive/Instructional
Technology for Students with Autism Spectrum Disorders with Field Experience

3-422-001 Synergy

3-422-002 Synergy: Self-Paced

Component 4 - Assessment and Data Analysis

Component Number Name of Component

4-102-005
Nature and Needs, Assessment, and Diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Disorders with
Field Experience

4-106-006 Gifted Competency 1 - Nature and Needs of the Gifted

4-106-007 Gifted Competency 3 - Guidance and Counseling

4-401-002 Data Analysis/Assessment

Component 5 - Classroom Management

Component Number Name of Component

5-404-003 Classroom Management

Component 6 - School Safety/Safe Learning Environment

Component Number Name of Component

6-103-005 Safe Crisis Management

6-404-001 Student Services - A Safe Learning Environment

6-409-001 Student Services - Social, Counseling, Psychological and Health

6-414-002 Basic Life Saving Training

Component 7 - Management/Leadership/Planning

Component Number Name of Component

7-507-001 Athletic Leadership Best Practices

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 21Page 185 of 441

DRAFT



7-507-016 Administrator Development

7-517-001 Instructional Leadership

Component 8 - General Support

Component Number Name of Component

8-103-102 ESE Procedures and Practices

8-410-503 Face to Face Ethics for Instructional Personnel

8-410-513 Virtual Ethics Training for Instructional Personnel

8-413-001 Family Involvement

8-510-004 Support Services Training

8-521-001 Schools of Excellence

Specialized Professional Learning Opportunities

The MIP must pay special attention to beginning teachers, leadership development, and intensive course work
for learning new instructional strategies and designs. Legislation recognizes this fact and expects the MIP to
address these three areas in the following ways:

Areas Programs

Beginning Teachers Professional Learning Facilitators for Beginning Teachers Support Program

Resident Clinical Faculty for Pre-Intern and Pre-Service Teachers

Leadership Development Level II Principalship Certification

Aspiring APs Program

Course Work Various Colleges & Universities

These three areas are not included in this publication due to their size and complexity. Complete
documentation may be examined in the following locations:

Programs Location and Person to Contact

Professional Learning Facilitators for Beginning
Teachers Support Program

Resident Clinical Faculty for Pre-Intern and
Pre-Service Teachers

Professional Development Department

Contact: Jennifer Shepard, Supervisor of
Professional Development

Level II Principalship Certification Professional Development Department
Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 22Page 186 of 441

DRAFT



Aspiring APs Program Contact: Jennifer Shepard, Supervisor of
Professional Development

Various Colleges & Universities Human Resources Division

Contact: Brenda Troutman, Director, Instructional
Personnel

Return to Table of Contents 2021 - 2022 CCDS Master In-Service Plan 23Page 187 of 441

DRAFT



Summary of Changes
2021-2022 Professional Learning Catalog (Master In-Service Plan)

The following changes were made:
● p. 1: Table of contents was simplified and reorganized for ease of use
● pp. 2-3: Professional Learning Policies were added for reference
● P. 14 & 15:  40 hours of Developmental Literacy was added as a required credit for renewal to reflect the new

recertification requirement specified under paragraph (1)(a) of rule 6A-4.0051
● Pp. 16-18:  Procedures for Writing an Inservice Training Component section was added to provide guidance for

annual component review and new component development

The following components were added:

Linked on p. 19
● 1-013-015 Exploring Structured Literacy (ESL)
● 1-000-002 Learning with Art (Visual) - Self Paced
● 1-002-002 CTE (Career and Technical Education) Digital Learning
● 1-008-003 Learning with ELA - Self-Paced
● 1-009-002 Learning With Math: Self Paced
● 1-010-002 Performing Arts- Self Paced
● 1-015-002 Learning with Science- Self Paced
● 1-016-002 Learning with Social Studies - Self-Paced
● 1-017-002 Learning Through Writing - Self-Paced

Linked on p. 20
● 2-100-007 Exceptional Student Education Learning Virtual/Interactive (Bankable)
● 2-100-008 Exceptional Student Education Learning PLC (Bankable)
● 2-100-009 Instruction of Students with Disabilities (Bankable)
● 2-404-001 Culture of Learning

Linked on p. 21
● 3-003-004  Computer Science/Technology Education: Self-Paced
● 3-007-006 Technology - Integration into the Curriculum: Self-Paced
● 3-422-001 Synergy
● 3-422-002 Synergy: Self-Paced
● 3-007-006  Technology Backpacks
● 6-409-001 Student Services - Social, Counseling, Psychological, and Health
● 7-507-001 Athletic Leadership Best Practices

Linked on p. 22
● 8-410-513 Virtual Ethics Training for Instructional Personnel

The following components were removed:

● 1-012-005 ASD Endorsement- no longer needed as more current ASD endorsement courses are now available
● 2-100-009 ASD Endorsement- no longer needed as more current ASD endorsement courses are now available
● 2-100-010  ASD Endorsement- no longer needed as more current ASD endorsement courses are now available
● 3-100-001 ASD Endorsement- no longer needed as more current ASD endorsement courses are now available
● 3-100-002 ASD Endorsement- no longer needed as more current ASD endorsement courses are now available
● 1-102-004 ASD Endorsement- no longer needed as more current ASD endorsement courses are now available
● 2-016-001  Character Education- the content of this component is now addressed through a new Culture of

Learning Component (2-404-001)
● 1-103-001 Module 1- Foundations of ESE- this is an out-dated course that is no longer offered
● 4-102-001 Module 2- Knowledge of Assessment and Evaluation- this is an out-dated course that is no longer

offered
● 2-100-003 Module 3- Instructional Practices- this is an out-dated course that is no longer offered
● 5-101-001 Module 4- Positive Behavioral Supports- this is an out-dated course that is no longer offered

Page 188 of 441

DRAFT



● 2-100-004 Module 5- Language Development and Communication- this is an out-dated course that is no longer
offered

● 2-100-005 Module 6- Interpersonal Interactions and Participation- this is an out-dated course that is no longer
offered

● 1-103-002 Module 7- Transition- this is an out-dated course that is no longer offered
● 2-013-005 Reading Difficulties, Disabilities, and Dyslexia- no longer needed as a separate component- content is

included as a section under the Exceptional Student Education Learning component (2-100-006)
● 2-013-018 Reading Difficulties, Disabilities, and Dyslexia for SWD- no longer needed as a separate component-

content is included as a section under the Exceptional Student Education Learning component (2-100-006)
● 2-100-011 Teaching Students with Disabilities Professional Development- - no longer needed as a separate

component- content is included as a section under the Exceptional Student Education Learning component
(2-100-006)

Page 189 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C7 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2020-2021

Description
Staff allocation documents clarify how each school, district, department, and division is staffed for the 2020-2021 school year. 
The School Board is required to take action on all staff allocation changes.

Gap Analysis
These allocations are required to ensure the adequate staffing of the district and schools.

Previous Outcomes
The district and schools are adequately staffed.

Expected Outcomes
Staffing will be sufficient to meet the needs of the various schools and district departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approve the staff allocation plan as submitted.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, (904) 336-6722, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
To be determined.

Review Comments

Attachments

Allocation Summary 2020-2021 - May 6, 2021.pdf

Page 190 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/allocation-summary-2020-2021-may-6-2021.pdf


PROPOSED CHANGES TO STAFF ALLOCATIONS 

 2020-2021 SUMMARY

Board Meeting, May 6, 2021

School Add Delete Allocation Comment Salary Benefits Total Cost

2020-2021

UniSig (420/4150.2)

CEB-0071 0.8 Classroom Assistant Program Needs ($19,889) ($6,259) ($26,148)

TOTAL: ($19,889) ($6,259) ($26,148)

FNS (410/7600)

POE-0651 1.0 Cafeteria Assistant (6.00 hours) Program Needs $13,231 $4,164 $17,395

POE-0651 2.0 Cafeteria Assistant (3.00 hours) Program Needs ($13,231) ($4,164) ($17,395)

MHS-0391 1.0 Cafeteria Assistant (5.50 hours) Program Needs $12,129 $3,817 $15,946

MHS-0391 2.0 Cafeteria Assistant (4.50 hours) Program Needs $19,847 $6,246 $26,093

MHS-0391 1.0 Cafeteria Assistant (4.00 hours) Program Needs ($8,821) ($2,776) ($11,597)

MHS-0391 2.0 Cafeteria Assistant (3.75 hours) Program Needs ($16,539) ($5,205) ($21,744)

MHS-0391 1.0 Cafeteria Assistant (3.00 hours) Program Needs ($6,616) ($2,082) ($8,698)

OHS-0661 2.0 Cafeteria Assistant (5.00 hours) Program Needs $22,052 $6,940 $28,992

OHS-0661 2.0 Cafeteria Assistant (4.00 hours) Program Needs ($17,642) ($5,552) ($23,194)

TOTAL: $4,410 $1,388 $5,798

Pending Board Approval 5/6/2021

Page 191 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C8 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2021-2022

Description
Staff allocation documents clarify how each school, district, department, and division is staffed for the 2021-2022 school year. 
The School Board is required to take action on all staff allocation changes.

Gap Analysis
These allocations are required to ensure the adequate staffing of the district and schools.

Previous Outcomes
The district and schools are adequately staffed.

Expected Outcomes
Staffing will be sufficient to meet the needs of the various schools and district departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approve the staff allocation plan as submitted.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, (904) 336-6722, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
To be determined.

Review Comments

Attachments

Allocation Summary 2021-2022 - May 6, 2021.pdf

Page 192 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/allocation-summary-2021-2022-may-6-2021.pdf


PROPOSED CHANGES TO STAFF ALLOCATIONS 

 2021-2022 SUMMARY

Board Meeting, May 6, 2021

School Add Delete Allocation Comment Salary Benefits Total Cost

2021-2022

General Funds

MAINT-9021 1.0 Head Custodian I Program Needs $43,173 $13,587 $56,760

MAINT-9021 1.0 Head Custodian Program Needs ($34,827) ($10,960) ($45,787)

OPR-9024 1.0 Director of Code Enforcement, Director I Program Needs $90,850 $28,590 $119,440

OPR-9024 1.0 Director of Code Enforcement, Director III Program Needs ($74,260) ($23,370) ($97,630)

TOTAL: $24,936 $7,847 $32,783

Pending Board Approval 5/6/2021

Page 193 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C9 - Clay County District School Board Operational, Financial and Single Audit for the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year

Description
Pursuant to 1010.30 F.S., school districts are required to have an annual financial, operational and single audit of the district
school board.  For 2019-2020, the annual operational, financial and single audit was conducted by Purvis Gray and Company, an
independent certified public accounting firm.  At the conclusion of the site review, there were no findings.  
The audit is a public document and will be made available on the District's website located under the transparency tab.
The audit becomes part of the public record for the financial records of the School Board, which are maintained under the
direction of the Superintendent, with the approval of the Board. 

Gap Analysis
The objectives of the annual financial, operational and single audit are to evaluate management’s performance in establishing and
maintaining internal controls, including controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste and abuse. The objectives also
include the examination of internal controls in the categories of compliance, economic and efficient operations, reliability of
records and reports, and the safeguarding of assets.  

Previous Outcomes
None

Expected Outcomes
Acceptance of the Independent Audit Report, as presented. 

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective, equitable and efficient use of resources.

Recommendation

Acceptance of the Independent Audit Reports, as presented.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent Business Affairs

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

2019-2020 Final Audit Report.pdf

Final SAS114 Audit Report  District School Board of Clay County.pdf

Page 194 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2019-2020-final-audit-report_2.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/final-sas114-audit-report-district-school-board-of-clay-county_2.pdf


–––––––– 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Clay County District School Board 

2020 
Financial Statements  

and Independent Auditor’s Report 

June 30, 2020 

Page 195 of 441

DRAFT



 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AND 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report .................................................................................................................. 1-3 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ................................................................................................. 4-11 
Financial Statements 
 Statement of Net Position ....................................................................................................................... 12 
 Statement of Activities ....................................................................................................................... 13-14 
 Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds ................................................................................................ 15-16 
 Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet 
  to the Statement of Net Position ......................................................................................................... 17 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
  Balances - Governmental Funds ...................................................................................................... 18-19 
 Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues,  
  Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement  
  of Activities ...................................................................................................................................... 20-21 
 Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds ....................................................................................... 22 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position - 
  Proprietary Funds ................................................................................................................................. 23 
 Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds ......................................................................................... 24 
 Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds ........................................................................... 25 
 Notes to the Financial Statements ..................................................................................................... 26-59 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General and Major Special Revenue Funds ................................ 60-62 
 Schedule of Changes in the District’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios ....................................... 63 
 Schedules of District’s Contributions – FRS/HIS ...................................................................................... 64 
 Schedules of District’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability – FRS/HIS ..................................... 65 
 Notes to Required Supplementary Information ...................................................................................... 66 
 
Additional Elements of Reports Prepared in Accordance with Government 
 Auditing Standards, Issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; 
 the Provisions of Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Uniform Guidance; 
 and Rules of the Auditor General of the State of Florida 
  Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards .................................................................................. 67-68 
  Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial 
   Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ............................ 69-70 
  Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program  
   and on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance .......................... 71-72 
  Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs in Accordance with the  
   Uniform Guidance ........................................................................................................................ 73-74 
  Independent Accountant’s Report on Compliance with 
   Section 218.415, Florida Statutes ..................................................................................................... 75 
  Management Letter......................................................................................................................... 76-77 
  Affidavit of Impact Fee Compliance ..................................................................................................... 78 

Page 196 of 441

DRAFT



1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Clay County District School Board and  
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the Clay County School District (the District) as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We did not 
audit the financial statements of the aggregate discretely presented component units, which represents 
100 percent of the transactions and account balances of the aggregate discretely presented component 
units’ columns.  The financial statements for the aggregate discretely presented component units were 
audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as they 
relate to the amounts included for those financial statements, are based solely on the reports of the other 
auditors.  We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

Page 197 of 441

DRAFT



2 

Clay County District School Board and  
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 
 
Opinions  
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the District as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the fiscal year then ended in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of a Matter 
As more fully described in Note 8 to the financial statements, the District may be negatively impacted by 
the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19), which was declared a global pandemic by the World 
Health Organization in March 2020.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General and Major Special Revenue Funds, 
Schedule of Changes in the District’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, Schedules of District 
Contributions – FRS/HIS, Schedules of District’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability – FRS/HIS, and 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information as listed in the table of contents, be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the District’s basic financial statements.  The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 

Page 198 of 441

DRAFT



3 

Clay County District School Board and  
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from, and relates directly to, the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, 
the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 8, 2021, 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other 
matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance.   
 
 
 
March 8, 2021 
Ocala, Florida 

Page 199 of 441

DRAFT



4 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
The Management of the Clay County District School Board has prepared the following discussion and 
analysis to provide an overview of the District’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  
The information contained in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is intended to highlight 
significant transactions, events, and conditions and should be considered in conjunction with the District’s 
financial statements and notes to financial statements found immediately following the MD&A. 
 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Key financial highlights for the 2019-20 fiscal year are as follows: 
 
 As of June 30, 2020, the assets and deferred outflows of resources exceed the liabilities and deferred 

inflows of resources by $292,181,688.86 (net position). 
 
 In total, net position decreased $12,431,808.56 from the 2018-19 fiscal year, which represents a 4.08 

percent decrease when compared to the 2018-19 fiscal year. 
 
 General revenues total $351,991,781.35, or 95.19 percent of all revenues.  Program specific revenues in 

the form of charges for services, operating grants and contributions, and capital grants and 
contributions total $17,798,038.51, or 4.81 percent of all revenues.  

 
 Expenses total $382,221,628.42.  Only $17,798,038.51 of these expenses was offset by program specific 

charges, with the remainder paid from general revenues.  Total expenses exceeded total revenues by 
$12,431,808.56. 

 
 The unassigned fund balance of the General Fund, representing the net current financial resources 

available for general appropriation by the Board, total $14,690,188.55, which is 4.77 percent of total 
General Fund revenues. 

 
 During the current year, General Fund revenues exceeded expenditures and other financing sources by 

$4,982,279.24. 
 
 During the 2019-20 fiscal year, the District entered into a new capital lease agreement of 

$10,680,670.00 to purchase 100 buses. 
 
 The District’s capital assets increased by an amount of $3,940,579.31, or 0.91 percent, as compared to 

the June 30, 2019, balance. 
 
 The District’s capital asset-related debt increased by a net amount of $4,057,101.29, or 9.82 percent, as 

compared to the June 30, 2019, balance. 
 
 During the course of the 2019-20 fiscal year, the District amended its General Fund budget several 

times, which resulted in a decrease in total budgeted revenues of $3,261,737.28, or 1.04 percent, due 
primarily from changes in estimated State funding levels.  

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
The basic financial statements consist of three components:  (1) government-wide financial statements; 
(2) fund financial statements; and (3) notes to financial statements.  This report also includes supplementary 
information intended to furnish additional details to support the basic financial statements. 

Page 200 of 441

DRAFT



5 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements provide both short-term and long-term information about the 
District’s overall financial condition in a manner similar to a private-sector business.  The statements include 
a statement of net position and a statement of activities that are designed to provide consolidated financial 
information about the activities of the District presented on the accrual basis of accounting.  The statement 
of net position provides information about the District’s financial position, its assets, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows/outflows of resources, using an economic resources measurement focus.  Assets plus deferred 
outflows of resources, less liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, equals net position, which is a 
measure of the District’s financial health.  The statement of activities presents information about the change 
in the District’s net position, the results of operations, during the fiscal year.  An increase or decrease in net 
position is an indication of whether the District’s financial health is improving or deteriorating.   
 
The government-wide statements present the District’s activities in the following categories:   
 
 Governmental activities – This represents most of the District’s services, including its educational 

programs:  basic, vocational, adult, and exceptional education.  Support functions such as transportation 
and administration are also included.  Local property taxes and the State’s education finance program 
provide most of the resources that support these activities. 

 
 Component units – The St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc., the Florida Charter Educational Foundation, 

Inc., d/b/a Clay Charter Academy, and the Northeast Florida Virtual Charter School Board, Inc., d/b/a 
Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay, are legally separate organizations and component units that are 
included in this report because they meet the criteria for inclusion provided by generally accepted 
accounting principles.  Financial information for these component units is reported separately from the 
financial information presented for the primary government. 

 
The Clay School Board Leasing Corporation (Leasing Corporation), although a legally separate entity, was 
formed to facilitate financing for the acquisition of facilities and equipment for the District.  Due to the 
substantive economic relationship between the District and the Leasing Corporation, the Leasing 
Corporation has been included as an integral part of the primary government. 
 

Fund Financial Statements 
 
Fund financial statements are one of the components of the basic financial statements.  A fund is a grouping 
of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific 
activities or objectives.  The District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements and prudent fiscal management.  Certain funds are established by law 
while others are created by legal agreements, such as bond covenants.  Fund financial statements provide 
more detailed information about the District’s financial activities, focusing on its most significant or “major” 
funds rather than fund types.  This is in contrast to the entity-wide perspective contained in the 
government-wide statements.  All of the District’s funds may be classified within one of three broad 
categories as discussed below.  
 
Governmental Funds:  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the 

Page 201 of 441

DRAFT



6 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
government-wide financial statements, the governmental funds financial statements focus on near-term 
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the 
end of the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in assessing a government’s near-term financing 
requirements.  
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions.  
Both the governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The governmental funds balance sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances provide detailed information about the District’s most significant funds.  The District’s major funds 
are the General Fund, Special Revenue – Food Service Fund, Special Revenue - Other Federal Programs Fund, 
Debt Service – Other Fund, Capital Projects – Non-Voted Capital Improvement Fund, and Capital Projects – 
Other Capital Projects Fund.  Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation (i.e., Other Governmental Funds).  
 
The District adopts an annual appropriated budget for its governmental funds.  A budgetary comparison 
schedule has been provided for the General and major Special Revenue Funds to demonstrate compliance 
with the budget.   
 
Proprietary Funds:  Proprietary funds may be established to account for activities in which a fee is charged 
for services.  The District maintains one proprietary fund, an internal service fund.  Internal service funds are 
used to report activities that provide goods and services to support the District’s other programs and 
functions through user charges.  The District uses its Internal Service Fund to account for its self-insurance 
program.  Since these services predominantly benefit government-wide functions, the Internal Service Fund 
has been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
 
Fiduciary Funds:  Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or fiduciary capacity for the 
benefit of external parties, such as student activity funds.  Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the 
government-wide statements because the resources are not available to support the District’s own 
programs.  In its fiduciary capacity, the District is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these 
funds are used only for their intended purposes.  
 
The District uses agency funds to account for resources held for school activities and groups. 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements.  
 
Other Information 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents required 
supplementary information concerning the District’s net pension liability, the District’s contributions to 
pension plans, the District’s total other postemployment benefits liability, and the District’s progress in 
funding its obligation to provide other postemployment benefits to its employees. 

Page 202 of 441

DRAFT



7 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

 
As noted earlier, net position over time may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial health.  
The following is a summary of the District’s net position as of June 30, 2020, compared to net position as of 
June 30, 2019:  

6-30-20 6-30-19

Current and Other Assets 99,126,069.51$              88,552,262.58$              

Capital Assets 437,639,322.80              433,698,743.49              

Total Assets 536,765,392.31              522,251,006.07              

Deferred Outflows of Resources 69,624,821.00                 74,077,207.00                 

Long-Term Liabilities 275,185,564.17              249,084,229.12              

Other Liabilities 16,946,946.37                 15,449,271.53                 

Total Liabilities 292,132,510.54              264,533,500.65              

Deferred Inflows of Resources 22,076,014.00                 27,181,215.00                 

Net Position:

Net Investment in Capital Assets 387,617,422.58              387,511,869.75              

Restricted 46,375,197.82                 37,915,395.26                 

Unrestricted (Deficit) (141,810,931.54)             (120,813,767.59)             

Total Net Position 292,181,688.86$            304,613,497.42$            

Operating Results for the Fiscal Year Ended

Governmental Activities

 
 

The decrease in Deferred Inflows of Resources is primarily due to the fluctuation in the net pension liability.  As 
a participating employer in the Florida Retirement System (FRS), the District is required by Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68 to recognize its proportionate share of the collective net 
pension liability of the FRS cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefits plans.  Changes in the net pension 
liability are recognized through the statement of activities or reported as deferred outflows of resources or 
deferred inflows of resources on the statement of net position, depending on the nature of the change. 
 
The largest portion of the District’s net position ($387,617,422.58) is investment in capital assets (e.g., land; 
building; furniture, fixtures and equipment), less any related debt still outstanding.  The District uses these 
capital assets to provide services to students; consequently, these assets are not available for future 
spending.  Although the investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, the resources used to 
repay the debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities.  
 
The restricted portion of the District’s net position ($46,375,197.82) represents resources that are subject to 
external restrictions on how they may be used. 
 
The unrestricted net position is a deficit of $141,810,931.54 due primarily to the District’s proportionate 
share of the collective net liabilities required to be reported by GASB Statement No. 68 and due to GASB 
Statement No. 75.  GASB Statement No. 75 addresses accounting and financial reporting for 

Page 203 of 441

DRAFT



8 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
postemployment benefits (OPEB) other than pensions provided to employees of state and local government 
employers; establishes standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, 
deferred inflows of resources, and expenses; and requires governments to report a liability, deferred 
outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and expenses on the face of the financial statements 
for the OPEB that they provide.  The District has sufficient current assets to meet its current obligations. 
 
The key elements of the changes in the District’s net position for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, and 
June 30, 2019, are as follows:  
 

6-30-20 6-30-19

Program Revenues:

  Charges for Services 3,823,149.06$                  4,874,028.42$               

  Operating Grants and Contributions 11,433,781.02                  13,759,282.76               

  Capital Grants and Contributions 2,541,108.43                    4,195,647.32                 

General Revenues:

  Property Tax Levied for Operational Purposes 67,676,874.23                  53,810,865.86               

  Property Tax Levied for Capital Projects 18,368,154.21                  17,239,064.35               

  Local Sales Taxes 1,272,846.29                    2,197,400.53                 

  Impact Fees 8,657,051.75                    4,899,922.88                 

  Grants and Contributions Not Restricted

    to Specific Programs 248,829,048.71                238,421,248.55             

  Unrestricted Investment Earnings 1,373,529.38                    1,598,677.76                 

  Miscellaneous 5,814,276.78                    7,827,547.69                 

Total Revenues 369,789,819.86                348,823,686.12             

Functions/Program Expenses:

  Instruction 224,310,706.30                202,436,885.67             

  Student Support Services 18,289,125.05                  15,685,273.74               

  Instructional Media Services 4,706,270.46                    4,455,224.37                 

  Instruction and Curriculum Development Services 6,308,921.51                    5,490,419.88                 

  Instructional Staff Training 5,094,764.43                    4,219,131.62                 

  Instruction Related Technology 4,478,299.30                    3,778,801.91                 

  Board of Education 815,643.50                        787,306.50                     

  General Administration 1,146,404.61                    836,183.47                     

  School Administration 17,135,533.99                  15,335,965.21               

  Facilities Acquisition and Construction 11,048,678.08                  9,645,283.10                 

  Fiscal Services 1,302,717.23                    1,396,228.39                 

  Food Services 16,950,535.18                  17,838,280.78               

  Central Services 3,621,756.40                    3,445,457.25                 

  Pupil Transportation Services 13,470,498.90                  13,348,779.25               

  Operation of Plant 28,731,514.13                  24,901,213.49               

  Maintenance of Plant 6,047,560.53                    5,624,640.10                 

  Administrative Technology Services 1,398,598.94                    1,948,531.93                 

  Community Services 388,785.01                        378,317.44                     

  Interest on Long-Term Debt 1,588,752.41                    1,553,739.60                 

  Unallocated Depreciation Expenses 15,386,562.46                  13,964,449.68               

Total Functions/Program Expenses 382,221,628.42                347,070,113.38             

Change in Net Position (12,431,808.56)                 1,753,572.74                 

Net Position - Beginning of Year 304,613,497.42                302,859,924.68             

Net Position - End of Year 292,181,688.86$             304,613,497.42$          

Governmental Activities

Operating Results for the Fiscal Year Ended

Page 204 of 441

DRAFT



9 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
The State’s Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP) and local property taxes provide the majority of the 
District’s revenues for current operations.  The FEFP funding formula is used to allocate State revenue 
sources for current District operations and utilizes student enrollment data, and is designed to maintain 
equity in funding across all Florida school districts, taking into consideration the District’s funding ability 
based on the local property tax base. 
 
The State’s FEFP revenues and local property taxes are included in general revenues, which provide about 
95.19 percent of total revenues, whereas program revenues provide only about 4.81 percent.  The majority 
of program revenues (82.68 percent) are in the food services activity. 
 
Under the general revenues category, revenues increased by $25,997,053.73, due to increases in FEFP 
revenues from the State, Property Taxes Levied for Operational Purposes, and Impact Fees collected.  FEFP 
revenues increased by $10,524,025.00, or 5.62 percent, in part, because student enrollment increased by 
532, from $37,768.44 in 2018-19 fiscal year to $38,300.53 in 2019-20 fiscal year.  Property Taxes Levied for 
Operational Purposes increased by $13,866,008.37, or 25.77 percent because the residents of Clay County 
voted an additional discretionary millage levy beginning the 2019-20 fiscal year.  
 
Overall, total governmental expenses increased by $35,151,515.04, or 10.13 percent, during the 2019-20 
fiscal year.  Instruction expenses represent 58.69 percent of total government expenses and increased 
$21,873,820.63, or 11.76 percent from the previous fiscal year, mainly because of increases in instructional 
salaries and benefits.  Facilities acquisition and construction expenses increased $1,403,394.98, or 14.55 
percent from the previous fiscal year, mainly from safety and security capital projects expenditures.  
Operation of Plant expenses represent 7.52 percent of total government expenses and increased 
$3,830,300.64, or 15.38 percent from the previous fiscal year, due to the establishment and operation of the 
Clay County District Schools Police Department during the 2019-20 fiscal year.  
 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT’S FUNDS 
 

Governmental Funds 
The focus of the District’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the District’s financing 
requirements.  Specifically, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net 
resources available for discretionary use as it represents the portion of fund balance that has not been 
limited to a particular purpose by an external party, the District, or a group or individual delegated authority 
by the Board to assign resources for particular purposes. 
 
The total fund balances of governmental funds increased by $9,353,961.90 during the fiscal year to 
$70,436,220.11 at June 30, 2020.  Of the total fund balance, $8,420,631.51, is assigned; $14,690,188.55, is 
unassigned; $1,222,925.17, is non-spendable; and $46,102,474.88, is restricted. 
 
Major Governmental Funds 
The General Fund is the District’s chief operating fund.  At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund 
balance is $14,690,188.55, while the total fund balance is $36,707,675.30.  As a measure of the General 
Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare the total unassigned fund balances to General Fund total 
revenues.  The total unassigned fund balance is $14,690,188.55, or 4.77 percent of the total General Fund 
revenues, while the total fund balance represents 11.93 percent of such revenues. 
 
Total fund balance increased by $4,982,279.24, or 15.70 percent, during the fiscal year.  The key factor 
impacting the change in fund balance is General Fund revenues increased by $20,604,576.28, or 7.18 
percent, due mainly to increases in State FEFP revenues and property taxes levied for operational purposes. 

Page 205 of 441

DRAFT



10 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
The Special Revenue – Food Service Fund is used to account for and report all food service activities.  This 
fund had revenues and expenditures of $14,789,777.52 and $16,726,560.05, respectively, and ended the 
fiscal year with a fund balance of $3,294,035.21, including inventories of $272,722.94 that represent the 
non-spendable fund balance, and the remaining $3,021,312.27 fund balance is restricted for food service 
operations.  The total fund balance decreased $1,816,971.20 during the fiscal year due to the food service 
operations being impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and our government’s stay-at-home order. 
 
The Special Revenue – Other Fund is used to account for mainly Federal grants administered through the State’s 
cash advance system, and has total revenues and expenditures of $14,852,109.09.  The funding was mainly used 
for instructional activities.  Because grant revenues attributed to the grants accounted for in this fund are not 
recognized until expenditures are incurred, this fund generally does not accumulate a fund balance. 
 
The Debt Service – Other Debt Service Fund is used to account for financial resources used to pay debt 
principal, interest, and related costs for the certificates of participation.  The fund maintained a small fund 
balance of $121,187.94 at June 30, 2020, which is restricted for debt service payments. 
 
Capital Projects – Non-Voted Capital Improvement Fund has a total fund balance of $15,070,271.49, which is 
restricted for the acquisition, construction, and maintenance of capital assets.  Total fund balance increased 
by $1,706,757.73 in the current fiscal year.  Expenditures were mainly for renovation/construction of school 
facilities and the purchase of furniture, fixtures, equipment, and buses.  Transfers out were to provide for 
debt service payments, to fund equipment purchases, to pay property insurance premiums, and to provide 
funding for certain expenditures of the District’s maintenance and facilities departments.  It should be noted 
that $3,255,891.64 of fund balance is encumbered for specific projects.  
 
The Capital Projects – Other Capital Projects Fund is mainly used to account for the financial resources 
received from local impact fees, local sales taxes, and other miscellaneous sources to be used for 
educational capital outlay needs, including new construction and renovation and remodeling projects.  The 
total fund balance increased by $5,068,598.34, or 56.78 percent, to $13,994,597.09 at June 30, 2020, 
because the Impact Fee collections increased and will be used for construction and renovations projects that 
target growth within the county in the subsequent fiscal years.  The District is accumulating other financial 
resources (e.g., local impact fees) for future construction and renovation projects.  Transfers out of 
$3,364,275.00 were to provide for debt service payments. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
The District reports the following proprietary fund type: 
 
Internal Service Fund is used to account for the District’s individual self-insurance programs.  Workers’ 
compensation, automobile liability, general liability, and property loss coverages are being provided on a 
self-insured basis up to specified limits.  The District established a Risk Management Internal Service Fund 
to account for and finance its uninsured risks of loss related to workers’ compensation, automobile 
liability, general liability, and property loss coverages.  At June 30, 2020, the Internal Service Fund has a 
net position of $4,923,526.28, representing a decrease of $145,590.35 in net position as compared to the 
prior fiscal year. 
 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 

During the course of the 2019-20 fiscal year, the District amended its General Fund budget several times, 
which resulted in a decrease in total budgeted revenues of $3,261,737.25, or 1.04 percent.  Budget revisions 
to estimated revenue occurred primarily from changes in estimated State funding levels.  The budget 
revisions were necessary to adjust planned expenditures based on actual resources and resource needs.  

Page 206 of 441

DRAFT



11 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
Budget revisions to appropriations occurred primarily to adjust planned expenditures when on 
September 10, 2019, the District entered into a lease-purchase financing agreement.  The property being 
acquired under the capital lease arrangement consisted of 100 buses.  The District received proceeds of 
$10,680,670.00, and it was used throughout the fiscal year to purchase and take delivery of all 100 buses 
before the fiscal year-end of June 30, 2020. 
 

CAPITAL ASSETS AND LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

Capital Assets 
At June 30, 2020, the District had capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, of $437,639,322.80 as 
compared to $433,698,743.49 at June 30, 2019.  These capital assets include land, construction in progress, 
improvements other than buildings, buildings and fixed equipment, furniture, fixtures, and equipment, 
motor vehicles, property acquired under capital leases, and audio visual materials and computer software.  
Capital assets increased by an amount of $3,940,579.31 during the 2019-20 fiscal year.  Major capital asset 
events during the 2019-20 fiscal year included an increase to property under capital leases of 
$10,680,670.00.  The District used proceeds of a lease-purchase financing agreement to purchase and take 
delivery of 100 buses.  Additional information on the District’s capital assets can be found in subsequent 
notes to the financial statements.  
 
Long-Term Debt 
At June 30, 2020, the District had capital asset-related long-term debt outstanding of $45,357,407.32 
composed of bonds payable, obligations under capital lease, and certificates of participation.  During the 
2019-20 fiscal year, capital asset-related debt increased by $4,057,101.29, or 9.82 percent from the June 30, 
2019 balance, from the redemption of debt principal and the entering into a lease-purchase obligation on 
September 10, 2019.  During the 2019-20 fiscal year, the District entered into a new capital lease agreement 
of $10,680,670.00 to purchase 100 buses. 
 
Additional information on the District’s long-term debt can be found in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements.   
 

OTHER 
 

During March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization related to the rapidly 
growing outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19).  The pandemic has significantly impacted the 
economic conditions in the United States, with accelerated effects in February and March, as federal, state, 
and local governments reacted to the public health crisis, creating significant uncertainties in the United 
States economy.  In the interest of public health and safety, face-to-face teaching at schools was halted and 
students completed the remainder of the school year online.   
 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District’s finances for all those with an 
interest in the District’s finances.  Questions concerning information provided in the MD&A or other 
required supplementary information, and financial statements and notes thereto, or requests for additional 
financial information should be addressed to the Assistant Superintendent for Business Services, Clay County 
District School Board, 900 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, Florida  32043. 

Page 207 of 441

DRAFT



 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page 208 of 441

DRAFT



Primary Government

Governmental Component 

Assets Activities Units

Cash and Investments 87,239,744.87$                      4,888,996.00$                        

Cash with Fiscal Agent 40,000.00                                -                                            

Accounts Receivable 274,219.49                              2,367.00                                  

Due from Other Agencies 5,219,912.23                          250,985.00                              

Inventories 1,222,925.17                          -                                            

Capital Credits Receivable 5,129,267.75                          10,727.00                                

Deposits -                                            52,045.00                                

Capital Assets:

Non-Depreciable Capital Assets 32,871,941.19                        1,385,000.00                          

Depreciable Capital Assets, Net 404,767,381.61                      23,795,548.00                        

Total Assets 536,765,392.31                      30,385,668.00                        

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Other Postemployment Benefits 2,126,802.00                          -                                            

Pensions 67,498,019.00                        -                                            

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 69,624,821.00                        -                                            

Liabilities

Salaries and Benefits Payable 6,411,680.86                          423,570.00                              

Payroll Deductions and Withholdings 2,623,776.38                          -                                            

Accounts Payable 2,234,437.02                          1,835,124.00                          

Sales Tax Payable 945.00                                      -                                            

Accrued Interest Payable -                                            47,053.00                                

Construction Contracts Payable 623,154.30                              -                                            

Construction Contracts Payable - Retainage 219,339.60                              -                                            

Unearned Revenue 368,408.21                              -                                            

Matured Certificates of Participation Payable 3,822,000.00                          -                                            

Matured Interest Payable 643,205.00                              -                                            

Long-Term Liabilities:

Portion Due Within One Year 12,789,944.69                        1,269,940.00                          

Portion Due After One Year 262,395,619.39                      29,811,592.00                        

Total Liabilities 292,132,510.45                      33,387,279.00                        

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Other Postemployment Benefits 1,117,972.00                          -                                            

Pensions 20,958,042.00                        -                                            

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 22,076,014.00                        -                                            

Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets 387,617,422.58                      (3,437,510.00)                         

Restricted for: 

State Required Carryover Programs 9,982,722.07                          -                                            

Debt Service 455,715.36                              91,802.00                                

Capital Projects 29,978,794.24                        -                                            

Food Service 3,294,035.21                          -                                            

Other Purposes 2,663,930.94                          170,197.00                              

Unrestricted (Deficit) (141,810,931.54)                     173,900.00                              
Total Net Position 292,181,688.86$                    (3,001,611.00)$                       

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

12

Page 209 of 441

DRAFT



            Operating

Charges for Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions

Primary Government

Governmental Activities

Instruction 224,310,706.30$     60,118.57$          -$                           

Student Support Services 18,289,125.05         -                         -                             

Instructional Media Services 4,706,270.46           -                         -                             

Instruction and Curriculum Development Services 6,308,921.51           -                         -                             

Instructional Staff Training Services 5,094,764.43           -                         -                             

Instruction-Related Technology 4,478,299.30           -                         -                             

Board 815,643.50               -                         -                             

General Administration 1,146,404.61           -                         -                             

School Administration 17,135,533.99         -                         -                             

Facilities Acquisition and Construction 11,048,678.08         -                         -                             

Fiscal Services 1,302,717.23           -                         -                             

Food Services 16,950,535.18         3,281,222.86       11,433,781.02         

Central Services 3,621,756.40           -                         -                             

Student Transportation Services 13,470,498.90         -                         -                             

Operation of Plant 28,731,514.13         -                         -                             

Maintenance of Plant 6,047,560.53           -                         -                             

Administrative Technology Services 1,398,598.94           -                         -                             

Community Services 388,785.01               481,807.63          -                             

Unallocated Interest on Long-Term Debt 1,588,752.41           -                         -                             

Unallocated Depreciation Expense* 15,386,562.46         -                         -                             
Total Governmental Activities 382,221,628.42$     3,823,149.06$     11,433,781.02$       

Component Units
Charter Schools 12,688,126.00$       186,090.00$        403,684.00$            

General Revenues

Taxes:

Property Taxes, Levied for Operational Purposes

Property Taxes, Levied for Capital Projects

Local Sales Tax

Impact Fees

Grants and Contributions Not Restricted to

Specific Programs

Unrestricted Investment Earnings
Miscellaneous

Total General Revenues 

Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of Year
Net Position - End of Year

*  This amount excludes the depreciation that is included in the direct expenses of the various functions.

Program Revenues

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

13

Page 210 of 441

DRAFT



Program

Revenues

Capital Primary Government

Grants and Governmental Component 

Contributions Activities Units

-$                         (224,250,587.73)$      -$                         

-                           (18,289,125.05)           -                            

-                           (4,706,270.46)             -                            

-                           (6,308,921.51)             -                            

-                           (5,094,764.43)             -                            

-                           (4,478,299.30)             -                            

-                           (815,643.50)                -                            

-                           (1,146,404.61)             -                            

-                           (17,135,533.99)           -                            

2,476,006.19          (8,572,671.89)             -                            

-                           (1,302,717.23)             -                            

-                           (2,235,531.30)             -                            

-                           (3,621,756.40)             -                            

-                           (13,470,498.90)           -                            

-                           (28,731,514.13)           -                            

-                           (6,047,560.53)             -                            

-                           (1,398,598.94)             -                            

-                           93,022.62                    -                            

65,102.24               (1,523,650.17)             -                            

-                           (15,386,562.46)           -                            
2,541,108.43$       (364,423,589.91)         -                            

725,830.00$           -                                (11,372,522.00)       

67,676,874.23            -                            

18,368,154.21            -                            

1,272,846.29              -                            

8,657,051.75              -                            

248,829,048.71          11,576,347.00        

1,373,529.38              33,559.00                
5,814,276.78              716.00                     

351,991,781.35          11,610,622.00        

(12,431,808.56)           238,100.00              

304,613,497.42          (3,239,711.00)         
292,181,688.86$        (3,001,611.00)$       

Net (Expense) Revenue

and Changes in Net Position

See accompanying notes.

14

Page 211 of 441

DRAFT



Special Special
General Revenue Revenue

Fund Food Service Fund Other Fund
Assets

Cash and Investments 39,301,514.05$          6,854,149.23$         182,674.04$            
Accounts Receivable 178,443.58                 -                             -                             
Due from Other Funds 6,686,686.79              -                             -                             
Due from Other Agencies 624,129.11                 116,640.78               3,149,177.50           
Inventories 950,202.23                 272,722.94               -                             

Total Assets 47,740,975.76            7,243,512.95           3,331,851.54           

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances

Liabilities
Salaries and Benefits Payable 6,411,680.86              -                             -                             
Payroll Deductions and Withholdings 2,623,776.38              -                             -                             
Accounts Payable 1,996,898.22              39,984.51                 192,208.41               
Sales Tax Payable 945.00                         -                             -                             
Construction Contracts Payable -                               -                             -                             
Construction Contracts Payable - Retainage -                               -                             -                             
Due to Other Funds -                               3,654,422.55           3,026,305.60           
Unearned Revenue -                               255,070.68               113,337.53               
Matured Certificates of Participation Payable -                               -                             -                             
Matured Interest Payable -                               -                             -                             

Total Liabilities 11,033,300.46            3,949,477.74           3,331,851.54           

Fund Balances
Non-Spendable:

Inventory 950,202.23                 272,722.94               -                             
Restricted:

State Required Carryover Programs 9,982,722.07              -                             -                             
Local Sales Tax and Other Tax Levy 2,663,930.94              -                             -                             
Debt Service -                               -                             -                             
Capital Projects -                               -                             -                             
Food Services -                               3,021,312.27           -                             

Assigned:
Employee Benefits 1,287,736.42              -                             -                             
Accelerated Student Learning Programs 2,214,550.15              -                             -                             
Special Education Programs 1,913,415.20              -                             -                             
Purchase Obligations 1,734,125.06              -                             -                             
Local Programs and Other Purposes 1,270,804.68              -                             -                             

Unassigned 14,690,188.55            -                             -                             
Total Fund Balances 36,707,675.30            3,294,035.21           -                             

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 47,740,975.76$          7,243,512.95$         3,331,851.54$         

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

15

Page 212 of 441

DRAFT



Debt Capital Capital
Service Projects Projects Other Total

Other Debt Non-Voted Capital Other Capital Governmental Governmental
Service Fund Improvement Fund Projects Fund Funds Funds

4,586,380.77$        15,425,901.28$      12,719,299.50$     1,603,156.08$          80,673,074.95$       
-                            88,736.00                -                           74.55                         267,254.13               

12.17                       14,578.80                -                           -                             6,701,277.76           
-                            20,097.77                1,295,211.81          14,655.26                 5,219,912.23           
-                            -                            -                           -                             1,222,925.17           

4,586,392.94          15,549,313.85         14,014,511.31       1,617,885.89            94,084,444.24         

-                            -                            -                           -                             6,411,680.86           
-                            -                            -                           -                             2,623,776.38           
-                            -                            5,345.88                 -                             2,234,437.02           
-                            -                            -                           -                             945.00                      
-                            410,884.36              -                           212,269.94               623,154.30               
-                            68,158.00                -                           151,181.60               219,339.60               
-                            -                            14,568.34               5,981.27                    6,701,277.76           
-                            -                            -                           -                             368,408.21               

3,822,000.00          -                            -                           -                             3,822,000.00           
643,205.00              -                            -                           -                             643,205.00               

4,465,205.00          479,042.36              19,914.22               369,432.81               23,648,224.13         

-                            -                            -                           -                             1,222,925.17           

-                            -                            -                           -                             9,982,722.07           
-                            -                            -                           -                             2,663,930.94           

121,187.94              -                            -                           334,527.42               455,715.36               
-                            15,070,271.49         13,994,597.09       913,925.66               29,978,794.24         
-                            -                            -                           -                             3,021,312.27           

-                            -                            -                           -                             1,287,736.42           
-                            -                            -                           -                             2,214,550.15           
-                            -                            -                           -                             1,913,415.20           
-                            -                            -                           -                             1,734,125.06           
-                            -                            -                           -                             1,270,804.68           
-                            -                            -                           -                             14,690,188.55         

121,187.94              15,070,271.49         13,994,597.09       1,248,453.08            70,436,220.11         

4,586,392.94$        15,549,313.85$      14,014,511.31$     1,617,885.89$          94,084,444.24$       

See accompanying notes.

16

Page 213 of 441

DRAFT



Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 70,436,220.11$          

Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net 

Position are Different Because:

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, used in governmental

activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported

as assets in the governmental funds. 437,639,322.80          

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of 

certain activities, such as insurance, to individual funds.  The assets 

and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in 

governmental activities in the statement of net position. 4,923,526.28              

Capital credits are not available to liquidate liabilities in governmental

funds, but are accrued in governmental activities in the statement

of net position. 5,129,267.75              

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to the other postemployment benefits are applicable to future periods

and, therefore, are not reported in governmental funds:

Deferred Outflows 2,126,802.00$         

Deferred Inflows (1,117,972.00)          1,008,830.00              

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 

to the cost-sharing pensions are applicable to future periods and, 

therefore, are not reported in governmental funds:

Deferred Outflows 67,498,019.00         

Deferred Inflows (20,958,042.00)       46,539,977.00            

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and,

therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the governmental funds.

Long-term liabilities at year-end consist of:

Obligation Under Capital Lease (9,749,407.32)          

Bonds Payable (2,115,000.00)          

Certificates of Participation Payable (33,493,000.00)       

Compensated Absences Payable (24,875,787.76)       

Net Pension Liability (198,107,478.00)     

Other Postemployment Benefits Payable (5,154,782.00)          (273,495,455.08)         

        
Total Net Position - Governmental Activities 292,181,688.86$        

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET 

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

17

Page 214 of 441

DRAFT



Special Special
Revenue Revenue

General Food Service Other
Fund Fund Fund

Revenues

Intergovernmental:
Federal Direct 1,003,663.89$         -$                         152,252.17$        
Federal Through State and Local 1,425,752.18           11,267,515.02        14,681,681.23     
State 232,432,277.11       166,266.00             -                         

Local:
Property Taxes 67,676,874.23         -                            -                         
Local Sales Taxes -                             -                            -                         
Impact Fees -                             -                            -                         
Charges for Services - Food Service -                             3,281,222.86          -                         
Miscellaneous 5,210,587.51           74,773.64                18,175.69             

Total Revenues 307,749,154.92       14,789,777.52        14,852,109.09     

Expenditures
Current - Education:

Instruction 200,961,379.78       -                            8,710,438.19       
Student Support Services 15,572,363.42         -                            1,392,591.69       
Instructional Media Services 4,393,672.00           -                            2,066.11               
Instruction and Curriculum Development Services   3,940,576.32           -                            1,909,300.27       
Instructional Staff Training Services 2,823,135.18           -                            1,958,693.42       
Instruction-Related Technology 4,224,536.77           -                            1,144.00               
School Board 777,174.13              -                            -                         
General Administration 607,306.87              -                            499,346.00           
School Administration 15,775,866.78         -                            75,991.61             
Facilities Acquisition and Construction 4,019,301.54           -                            -                         
Fiscal Services 1,204,019.28           -                            -                         
Food Services 175,908.18              16,266,590.32        -                         
Central Services 3,388,496.29           -                            741.37                  
Student Transportation Services 10,970,907.70         -                            77,379.68             
Operation of Plant 27,471,047.85         -                            176,242.00           
Maintenance of Plant 5,736,522.80           -                            -                         
Administrative Technology Services 1,296,911.74           -                            3,000.00               
Community Services 367,053.60              -                            -                         

Fixed Capital Outlay:
Facilities Acquisition and Construction 285,106.90              394,741.52             -                         
Other Capital Outlay 13,038,623.37         65,228.21                45,174.75             

Debt Service:  
Principal 723,482.70              -                            -                         
Interest and Fiscal Charges 53,427.62                 -                            -                         

(Total Expenditures) 317,806,820.82       16,726,560.05        14,852,109.09     

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures (10,057,665.90)        (1,936,782.53)         -                         

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers In 4,297,809.75           -                            -                         
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets 93,965.39                 -                            -                         
Capital Lease 10,680,670.00         -                            -                         
Transfers (Out) (32,500.00)               -                            -                         

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 15,039,945.14         -                            -                         

Net Change in Fund Balances 4,982,279.24           (1,936,782.53)         -                         

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 31,725,396.06         5,111,006.41          -                         

Increase (Decrease) in Inventory Reserve -                             119,811.33             -                         

Fund Balances, End of Year 36,707,675.30$       3,294,035.21$        -$                       

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

18

Page 215 of 441

DRAFT



Debt Capital Capital
Service Projects Projects Other Total

Other Debt Non-Voted Capital Other Capital Governmental Governmental
Service Fund Improvement Fund Projects Fund Funds Funds

-$                            -$                            -$                            -$                            1,155,916.06$          
-                              -                              -                              -                              27,374,948.43          
-                              -                              1,404,691.27             1,794,387.74             235,797,622.12        

-                              18,368,154.21          -                              -                              86,045,028.44          
-                              -                              1,272,846.29             -                              1,272,846.29             
-                              -                              8,657,051.75             -                              8,657,051.75             
-                              -                              -                              -                              3,281,222.86             

6,941.11                    21,843.29                  200,723.70                38,164.24                  5,571,209.18             
6,941.11                    18,389,997.50          11,535,313.01          1,832,551.98             369,155,845.13        

-                              -                              -                              -                              209,671,817.97        
-                              -                              -                              -                              16,964,955.11          
-                              -                              -                              -                              4,395,738.11             
-                              -                              -                              -                              5,849,876.59             
-                              -                              -                              -                              4,781,828.60             
-                              -                              -                              -                              4,225,680.77             
-                              -                              -                              -                              777,174.13                
-                              -                              -                              -                              1,106,652.87             
-                              -                              -                              -                              15,851,858.39          
-                              5,767,587.38             1,364,911.88             58,066.27                  11,209,867.07          
-                              -                              -                              -                              1,204,019.28             
-                              -                              -                              -                              16,442,498.50          
-                              -                              -                              -                              3,389,237.66             
-                              -                              -                              -                              11,048,287.38          
-                              -                              -                              -                              27,647,289.85          
-                              -                              -                              -                              5,736,522.80             
-                              -                              -                              -                              1,299,911.74             
-                              -                              -                              -                              367,053.60                

-                              3,324,399.30             659,664.92                2,076,131.65             6,740,044.29             
-                              46,226.08                  827,862.87                -                              14,023,115.28          

5,365,323.21             123,937.80                232,825.00                178,000.00                6,623,568.71             
1,399,098.37             13,006.20                  17,175.00                  106,045.22                1,588,752.41             
6,764,421.58             9,275,156.76             3,102,439.67             2,418,243.14             370,945,751.11        

(6,757,480.47)           9,114,840.74             8,432,873.34             (585,691.16)               (1,789,905.98)           

6,756,469.42             -                              -                              -                              11,054,279.17          
-                              249,421.16                -                              -                              343,386.55                
-                              -                              -                              -                              10,680,670.00          
-                              (7,657,504.17)           (3,364,275.00)           -                              (11,054,279.17)         

6,756,469.42             (7,408,083.01)           (3,364,275.00)           -                              11,024,056.55          

(1,011.05)                   1,706,757.73             5,068,598.34             (585,691.16)               9,234,150.57             

122,198.99                13,363,513.76          8,925,998.75             1,834,144.24             61,082,258.21          

-                              -                              -                              -                              119,811.33                

121,187.94$              15,070,271.49$        13,994,597.09$        1,248,453.08$          70,436,220.11$        

See accompanying notes.

19

Page 216 of 441

DRAFT



Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 9,234,150.57$            

Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Activities

are Different Because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however, in the

statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their 

estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.  This is the amount of

depreciation expense in excess of capital outlays in the current period. 3,691,796.60              

Capital assets donated to the District increase net position in the 

government-wide financial statements, but are not financial resources 

and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds. 248,782.71     

Long-term debt proceeds provide current financial resources to the

governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the

statement of net position.  Repayment of long-term debt is an expenditure 

in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities

in the statement of net position.  This is the amount by which proceeds

exceed repayments in the current fiscal year:

New Obligations Under Capital Lease (10,680,670.00)$              

Long-Term Debt Repayments 6,623,568.71            (4,057,101.29)            

In the statement of activities, the cost of compensated absences is 

measured by the amounts earned during the year, while in the

governmental funds expenditures are recognized based on the amounts

actually paid for compensated absences.  This is the net amount of

compensated absences earned in excess of the amount used in the

current period. (3,117,960.67)            

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of

certain activities to individual funds.  The net revenue of internal service

funds is reported with governmental activities. (145,590.35)                

Capital credits revenues are accrued in the statement of activities, but do 

not provide current financial resources and are not reported as revenues in 

the governmental funds. This is the net increase in capital credits receivable 

in the current fiscal year. 156,676.54                 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF

REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

20

Page 217 of 441

DRAFT



The purchase method of inventory accounting is used in the governmental

funds, while in the government-wide statements inventories are accounted

for on the consumption method. 119,811.33$               

Governmental funds reported District other postemployment benefits (OPEB) 

contributions as expenditures.  However, in the statement of activities, the

cost of OPEB benefits earned net of employee contributions, as  determined

through an actuarial valuation, is reported as an OPEB expenses.

Change in OPEB Liability (21,749.00)$                      

Change in Deferred Outflows of Resources - OPEB (228,693.00)                      

Change in Deferred Inflows of Resources - OPEB (178,325.00)                      (428,767.00)                

Pension expenses related to the changes in net pension liability as reported in

 the statement of activities does not require the use of current financial

 resources and is not reported in the governmental funds.

FRS Pension Contribution 13,410,842.00                  

HIS Pension Contribution 3,356,499.00                    

FRS Pension Expense (30,835,302.00)                

HIS Pension Expense (4,065,646.00)                   (18,133,607.00)          

Change in Net Position - Governmental Activities (12,431,808.56)$        

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF

REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

21

Page 218 of 441

DRAFT



Governmental

Activities

Internal

Service

Funds

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,566,669.92$           

Cash with Fiscal Agent 40,000.00                   

Accounts Receivable 6,965.36                     

Total Assets 6,613,635.28              

Liabilities

Current Liabilities:

Estimated Insurance Claims Payable 919,419.00                 

Total Current Liabilities 919,419.00                 

Non-Current Liabilities:

Estimated Insurance Claims Payable 770,690.00                 

Total Liabilities 1,690,109.00              

Net Position

Unrestricted 4,923,526.28$           

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

22

Page 219 of 441

DRAFT



Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Funds

Operating Revenues
Insurance Premiums 2,029,153.00$         

Total Operating Revenues 2,029,153.00           

Operating Expenses

Insurance Claims 1,770,305.09           
Excess Insurance Premiums 355,614.74               
State Assessments 19,870.18                 
Purchased Services 162,858.98               

Total Operating Expenses 2,308,648.99           

Operating Income (279,495.99)             

Non-Operating Revenues
Investment Income 133,905.64               

Total Non-Operating Revenues 133,905.64               

Net Income (Loss) (145,590.35)             

Total Net Position - Beginning of Year 5,069,116.63           

Total Net Position - End of Year 4,923,526.28$         

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

23

Page 220 of 441

DRAFT



Governmental

Activities

Internal

Service

Funds

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Received from Interfund Services Provided 2,022,187.64$           

Cash Payments to Vendors for Goods and Services (1,147,973.86)            

Cash Payments to Insurance Claims (2,059,221.09)            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (1,185,007.31)            

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest and Dividends Received 133,905.64                 

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 133,905.64                 

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,051,101.67)            

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 7,657,771.59              

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 6,606,669.92$           

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash

Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

Operating Income (279,495.99)$             

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to Net Cash
Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities:

Increase in Accounts Receivable (6,965.36)                    

Decrease in Due to Other Funds (609,629.96)                

Decrease in Estimated Insurance Claims Payable (288,916.00)                

Total Adjustments (905,511.32)                

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (1,185,007.31)$          

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

24

Page 221 of 441

DRAFT



Agency

Funds

Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,816,051.00$           

Total Assets 3,816,051.00              

Liabilities

Accounts Payable 19,336.90                   

Internal Accounts Payable Student Organizations 3,796,714.10              

Total Liabilities 3,816,051.00$           

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2020

See accompanying notes.

25

Page 222 of 441

DRAFT



26 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 
Note 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and statement of activities) 
report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component 
unit.  All fiduciary activities are reported only in the fund financial statements.  Government activities are 
normally supported by taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange transactions.  The 
primary government is reported separately from certain legal separate component units, for which the 
primary government is financially accountable. 
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
each function or program of the Clay County School District’s (the District) governmental activities.  Direct 
expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and are thereby 
clearly identifiable to a particular function.  Depreciation expense associated with the District’s 
transportation department is allocated to the pupil transportation function, while remaining depreciation 
expense is not readily associated with a particular function and is reported as unallocated. 

 
Reporting Entity 
The Clay County District School Board (the Board) has direct responsibility for operation, control, and 
supervision of District schools and is considered a primary government for financial reporting.  The District 
is considered part of the Florida system of public education, operates under the general direction of the 
Florida Department of Education (FDOE), and is governed by State law and State Board of Education (SBE) 
Rules.  The governing body of the District is the Board, which is composed of five elected members.  The 
elected Superintendent of Schools is the executive officer of the Board.  Geographic boundaries of the 
District correspond with those of Clay County, Florida. 
 
Criteria for determining if other entities are potential component units which should be reported within 
the District’s basic financial statements are identified and described in the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board’s (GASB) Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, 
Sections 2100 and 2600.  The application of these criteria provides for identification of any entities for 
which the District is financially accountable and other organizations for which the nature and significance 
of their relationship with the Board are such that exclusion would cause the District’s basic financial 
statements to be misleading.   
 
Based on the application of these criteria, the following component units are included within the District’s 
reporting entity: 
 
■ Blended Component Unit—Blended component units are, in substance, part of the District’s 

operations, even though they are legally separate entities.  Thus, blended component units are 
appropriately presented as funds of the District.  The Clay School Board Leasing Corporation (Leasing 
Corporation) was formed to facilitate financing for the acquisition of facilities and equipment as 
further discussed in a subsequent note.  Due to the substantive economic relationship between the 
District and the Leasing Corporation, the financial activities of the Leasing Corporation are included in 
the accompanying basic financial statements.  Separate financial statements for the Leasing 
Corporation are not published.  

Page 223 of 441

DRAFT



27 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 
■ Discretely Presented Component Units—The component unit columns in the government-wide 

financial statements include the financial data of the District’s other component units.  A separate 
column is used to emphasize that they are legally separate from the District.  During the 2019-20 fiscal 
year, the component unit column consists of three charter schools as follows: 

 
 The Charter Entities consist of:  St. Johns Classical Academy, the Florida Charter Educational 

Foundation, Inc., d/b/a Clay Charter Academy, and Northeast Florida Virtual Charter School 
Board, Inc., d/b/a Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay.  The Charter Entities are organized as 
not-for-profit corporations pursuant to Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, the Florida Not-For-Profit 
Corporation Act, and Section 1002.33, Florida Statutes.  The charter schools operate under 
charters approved by their sponsor, the Clay County District School Board.  The charter schools 
are considered to be component units of the District because the District is financially accountable 
for the charter schools as the District established the charter schools by approval of the charter, 
which is tantamount to the initial appointment of the charter schools, and there is the potential 
for the charter schools to impose specific financial burdens on the District.  In addition, pursuant 
to the Florida Constitution, the charter schools are public schools and the District is responsible 
for the operation, control, and supervision of public schools within the District.  

  
 The financial data reported on the accompanying statements was derived from the charter 

schools’ audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  The audit reports 
are filed in the District’s administrative offices. 

 
Basis of Presentation 
■ Government-Wide Financial Statements  
 While separate government-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are interrelated.  

The Governmental activities column incorporates data from governmental funds and internal service 
funds.  Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and 
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.   

 
 The effects of interfund activity have been eliminated from the government-wide financial 

statements, except for interfund services provided and used. 
 
■ Fund Financial Statements 
 Fund financial statements report detailed information about the District in the governmental, 

proprietary, and fiduciary funds, including blended component units.  The focus of governmental fund 
financial statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by type.  Each major fund is 
reported in a separate column.  Non-major funds are aggregated and reported in a single column.  
Because the focus of governmental fund financial statements differs from the focus of government-
wide financial statements, reconciliation is presented with each of the governmental fund financial 
statements.  

 
The District reports the following major governmental funds:  

Page 224 of 441

DRAFT



28 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 
● General Fund—to account for all financial resources not required to be accounted for in another 

fund, and for certain revenues from the State that are legally restricted to be expended for specific 
current operating purposes. 

  
● Special Revenue—Food Services Fund—to account for the proceeds of Federal grants and related 

programs for the Food and Nutrition Services program, that are legally restricted to expenditure 
for specified purposes. 

  
● Special Revenue—Other Fund—to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 

legally restricted to expenditure for specified purposes.  Because revenues of grants accounted 
for in the Special Revenue–Other Funds are not recognized until expenditures are incurred, these 
grant funds generally do not accumulate fund balances. 

 
● Debt Service—Other Debt Service Fund—to account for the accumulation of resources for, and 

the payment of, debt principal, interest, and related costs for the long-term certificates of 
participation. 

 
● Capital Projects—Non-Voted Capital Improvement Fund—to account for the financial resources 

generated by the non-voted capital improvement tax levy, Section 1011.71(2), Florida Statutes, to 
be used for educational capital outlay needs, including new construction projects, maintenance, 
renovation and remodeling projects, and replacement equipment, motor vehicle purchases, 
property and casualty insurance premiums, bus purchases, and debt service payments on 
certificates of participation. 

 
● Capital Projects—Other Capital Projects Fund—to account for the financial resources received 

from local sales taxes, local impact fees, and other miscellaneous sources, to be used for 
educational capital outlay needs and debt service payments on certificates of participation. 

 
Additionally, the District reports the following proprietary and fiduciary fund types: 
 
● Internal Service Fund—to account for the District’s individual self-insurance programs. 
 
● Agency Funds—to account for resources of the school internal funds which are used to administer 

monies collected at the several schools in connection with school, student athletic, class, and club 
activities. 

 
During the course of operations, the District has activity between funds for various purposes.  Any residual 
balances outstanding at year-end are reported as due from/to other funds.  While these balances are 
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the 
government-wide financial statements.  Balances between the funds included in governmental activities 
(i.e., the governmental and internal service funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is included 
as internal balances in the governmental activities column.  Further, certain activity occurs during the year 
involving transfers of resources between funds.  In fund financial statements these amounts are reported 
at gross amounts as transfers in and out.  While reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations 
are made in the preparation of the government-wide financial statements.  Transfers between the funds 
included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in 
the government-wide financial statements.  

Page 225 of 441

DRAFT



29 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and 
basis of accounting.  Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as current 
financial resources or economic resources.  The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or 
events for recognition in the financial statements. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized in the year for 
which they are levied.  Revenues from grants, entitlements, and donations are recognized in the fiscal 
year in which all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.   
 
The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues, except for certain grant 
revenues, are recognized as soon as they become both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered 
to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities 
of the current period.  For this purpose, the District considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal year.  When grant terms provide that the expenditure of 
resources is the prime factor for determining eligibility for Federal, State, and other grant resources, revenue 
is recognized at the time the expenditure is made.  Entitlements are recorded as revenue when all eligibility 
requirements are met, including time requirements, and the amount is received during the period or within 
the availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year-end).  Property taxes and sales taxes 
associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures are generally recognized when the related 
fund liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, claims and 
judgments, pension benefits, other postemployment benefits, and compensated absences, are only 
recorded when payment is due.  General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds.  Issuance of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other 
financing sources.  Allocations of cost, such as depreciation, are not recognized in governmental funds. 
 
The proprietary fund is reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounts.  The agency funds have no measurement focus but utilize the accrual basis of accounting for 
reporting assets and liabilities. 
 
The charter schools are accounted for as governmental organizations and follow the same accounting 
model as the District’s governmental activities.  
 
ASSETS, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND NET POSITION/FUND BALANCE 
 
Cash Deposits and Investments 
The District’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, cash with 
fiscal agent, and short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.  
Investments classified as cash equivalents include money market mutual funds, Florida Public Assets for 
Liquidity Management (FL PALM), and the State Board of Administration (SBA), in Florida PRIME.    

Page 226 of 441

DRAFT



30 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Cash deposits are held by banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law.  All deposits are insured 
by Federal depository insurance, up to specified limits, or collateralized with securities held in Florida’s 
multiple financial institution collateral pool as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. 
 
Investments 

Investments consist of amounts placed in SBA debt service accounts for investments of debt service 
moneys and amounts placed with SBA for participation in Florida PRIME investment pools created by 
Section 218.405, Florida Statutes, amounts placed in the FL PALM, and those made locally.  The 
investment pools operate under investment guidelines established by Section 215.47, Florida Statues.  
 
The District’s investments in Florida PRIME and FL PALM, which the SBA and FL PALM, respectively, meet 
all of the necessary criteria to elect to measure all of the investments at amortized cost.  Like money 
market funds, a participant’s account balance is a share of the investment pool, not the underlying 
securities, and reported at fair value, which is amortized cost.  Amortized cost is considered the fair value 
of the participant’s investment. 
 
Investments made locally consist of amounts placed in money market mutual funds under a trust 
agreement in connection with certificates of participation financing arrangements and are reported at fair 
value. 
 
Types and amounts of investments held at fiscal year-end are described in a subsequent note on 
investments.  
 
Inventories and Prepaid Items 
Inventories consist of expendable supplies held for consumption in the course of District operations.  
Inventories are stated at cost on the first-in, first-out basis, except that maintenance inventories are 
stated at weighted-average and United States Department of Agriculture surplus commodities are stated 
at their fair value as determined at the time of donation to the District’s food service program by the 
Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, Bureau of Food Distribution.  Under the 
economic resources measurement focus of the government-wide financial statements, the costs of 
inventories are recorded as expenditures when used rather than purchased.  In the fund financial 
statements, except for United States Department of Agriculture donated foods, the costs of inventories 
are recorded as expenditures when purchased rather than used and reported purchased inventories are 
equally offset by a fund balance reserve. 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect cost applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The cost of prepaid items is 
recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased.  
  

Page 227 of 441

DRAFT



31 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Capital Assets 
Expenditures for capital assets acquired or constructed for general District purposes are reported in the 
governmental fund that financed the acquisition or construction.  The capital assets so acquired are reported 
at cost in the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the governmental fund 
financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the District as those costing more than $1,000.  Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated 
assets are recorded at the acquisition value of similar assets at the date of donation.  Interest costs incurred 
during construction of capital assets are not considered material and are not capitalized as part of the cost 
of construction.  Land, improvements other than buildings, and buildings acquired or constructed prior to 
July 1, 1968, are stated at appraised value when historical cost could not be determined. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
     Estimated  

 Description    Lives  

Improvements Other Than Buildings   25 Years  

Buildings and Fixed Equipment    50 Years  

Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment   7 Years  

Motor Vehicles    10 Years  

Property Acquired Under Capital Lease   7 Years  

Audio Visual Materials and Computer Software   5-15 Years  

 

Current-year information relative to changes in capital assets is described in a subsequent note. 
 
Pensions 
In the government-wide statement of net position, liabilities are recognized for the District’s 
proportionate share of each pension plan’s net pension liability.  For the purposes of measuring the net 
pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, 
and pension expenses, information about the fiduciary net position of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) 
defined benefit plan and the Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) defined benefit plan and additions 
to/deductions from the FRS’s and the HIS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis 
as they are reported by the FRS and the HIS plans.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds 
of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms.  
Investments are reported at fair value.  
 
The District’s retirement plans and related amounts are described in a subsequent note. 
 
Matured Certificates of Participation Payable 
Certificate of Participation principal and interest payments are due twice each year.  The principal and 
interest payment expected to be liquidated with current available financial resources as of June 30th each 
year is recognized as matured certificates of participation payable and matured interest payable in the 
governmental fund financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Liabilities 
Long-term obligations that will be financed from resources to be received in the future by governmental 
funds are reported as liabilities in the government-wide statement of net position.  

Page 228 of 441

DRAFT



32 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
In the governmental fund financial statements, bonds and other long-term obligations are not recognized 
as liabilities until due.  Governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond 
issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued and premiums on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing sources, while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other 
financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are 
reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
Changes in long-term liabilities for the current year are reported in a subsequent note. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of 
resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow 
of resources (expenses/expenditure) until then.  The District has two items that qualify for reporting in 
this category.  The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and other postemployment 
benefits, which are discussed in a subsequent note. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applied to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of 
resources (revenue) until that time.  The District has two items that qualify for reporting in this category.  
The deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and other postemployment benefits, which are 
discussed in a subsequent note. 
 
Net Position Flow Assumption 
The District occasionally funds outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond 
or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources.  To calculate the amounts to report as restricted – net 
position and unrestricted – net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to 
be applied.  Consequently, it is the District’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have been 
depleted before unrestricted – net position is applied.  
 
Fund Balance Flow Assumption 
The District may fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted resources 
(the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance).  To calculate the amounts to report as 
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial 
statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to 
be applied.  It is the District’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before 
using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance.  Further, when components of unrestricted 
fund balance can be used for the same purposes, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by 
assigned fund balance.  Unassigned fund balance is applied last.  

 
Fund Balance Policies 
Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any 
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes.  The District itself can establish limitations 
on the uses of resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment 
(assigned fund balance). 

Page 229 of 441

DRAFT



33 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for specific purposes 
determined by a formal action of the District’s highest level of decision-making authority.  The Board is 
the highest level of decision-making authority for the District that can, by adoption of a resolution prior 
to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance.  Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the resolution 
remains in place until a similar action is taken (adoption of another resolution) to remove or revise the 
limitation.  The District reported no committed fund balances at June 30, 2020. 
 
Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the District for specific 
purposes, but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed.  Board Policy 5.02 provides that the 
assigned fund balance includes amounts which are assigned for the intended use of the Board or by 
delegation to the Superintendent or Superintendent’s designee.  The Board may also assign fund balance 
as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations 
in the subsequent year’s appropriated budget.  Unlike commitments, assignments generally only exist 
temporarily.  In other words, an additional action does not normally have to be taken for the removal of 
an assignment.  Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essential to either remove or revise 
a commitment. 
 
REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES 
 
Program Revenue 
Amounts reported as program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services 
offered by the program, and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular program.  All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes, 
and other internally dedicated resource are reported as general revenues rather than program revenues.  
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues.  The comparison 
of direct expense with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental function is 
self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the District.  
 
State Revenue Sources 
Revenues from State sources for current operations are primarily from the Florida Education Finance 
Program administered by the FDOE under the provisions of Section 1011.62, Florida Statutes.  In accordance 
with this law, the District determines and reports the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) students and 
related data to the FDOE.  The FDOE performs certain edit checks on the reported number of FTE and related 
data, and calculates the allocation of funds to the District.  The District is permitted to amend its original 
reporting for a period of nine months following the date of the original reporting.  Such amendments may 
impact funding allocations for subsequent years.  The FDOE may also adjust subsequent fiscal period 
allocations based upon an audit of the District’s compliance in determining and reporting FTE and related 
data.  Normally, such adjustments are treated as reductions or additions of revenue in the year when the 
adjustments are made. 
 
The State provides financial assistance to administer certain categorical educational programs.  SBE rules 
require that revenue earmarked for certain programs be expended only for the program for which the 
money is provided, and require that the money not expended as of the close of the fiscal year be carried 
 

Page 230 of 441

DRAFT



34 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
forward into the following year to be expended for the same categorical educational programs.  The FDOE 
generally requires that categorical educational program revenues be accounted for in the General Fund.  
A portion of the fund balance of the General Fund is restricted in the governmental funds financial 
statements for the balance of categorical educational program resources. 
 
The State allocates gross receipts taxes, generally known as Public Education Capital Outlay money, to the 
District on an annual basis.  The District is authorized to expend these funds only upon applying for and 
receiving an encumbrance authorization from the FDOE.  Accordingly, the District recognizes the 
allocation of Public Education Capital Outlay funds as advanced revenue until such time as an 
encumbrance authorization is received.  
 
A schedule of revenue from State sources for the current year is presented in a subsequent note. 
 
District Property Taxes 
The Board is authorized by State law to levy property taxes for District school operations, capital 
improvements, and debt service. 
 
Property taxes consist of ad valorem taxes on real and personal property within the District.  Property 
values are determined by the Clay County Property Appraiser, and property taxes are collected by the Clay 
County Tax Collector. 
 
The Board adopted the 2019 tax levy on September 5, 2019.  Tax bills are mailed in October and taxes are 
payable between November 1 of the year assessed and March 31 of the following year at discounts of up 
to 4 percent for early payment.  
 
Taxes become a lien on the property on January 1, and become delinquent on April 1, of the year following 
the year of assessment.  State law provides for enforcement of collection of personal property taxes by 
seizure of the property to satisfy unpaid taxes, and for enforcement of collection of real property taxes by 
the sale of interest bearing tax certificates to satisfy unpaid taxes.  The procedures result in the collection 
of essentially all taxes prior to June 30 of the year following the year of assessment.  
 
Property tax revenues are recognized in the government-wide financial statements when the Board adopts 
the tax levy.  Property tax revenues are recognized in the governmental fund financial statements when 
taxes are received by the District, except that revenue is accrued for taxes collected by the Clay County Tax 
Collector at fiscal year-end but not yet remitted to the District. 
 
Millages and taxes levied for the current year are presented in a subsequent note. 
 
Local Government Infrastructure Surtax 
The citizens of Clay County, on November 3, 1989, approved a one percent local government infrastructure 
sales surtax authorized under Section 212.055(2), Florida Statutes.  Pursuant to Section 212.055(2)(c)1., 
Florida Statutes, the County and its municipalities entered into an inter-local agreement with the Board, 
dated June 23, 1998, wherein the parties agreed to a distribution formula for the infrastructure sales 
surtax proceeds.  The distribution formula provides, in part, that the District shall receive ten percent of 
Clay County’s portion of the proceeds using the statutory distribution formula provided in Section 218.62, 
 

Page 231 of 441

DRAFT



35 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Florida Statutes.  The surtax proceeds are to be used for fixed capital expenditures or fixed capital costs 
associated with the construction, reconstruction, or improvement of public facilities, which have a useful 
life expectancy of five or more years; any land acquisition, land improvement, design, and engineering 
costs related thereto; and certain vehicle purchases. 
 
Educational Impact Fees 
Clay County imposes an educational impact fee based on an ordinance adopted by the County Commission 
in 2003.  This ordinance was most recently amended in September 2016 when Ordinance 2017-29 revised 
the timing of when impact fee payments were required to be made.  The educational impact fee is 
collected by Clay County for most new residential construction.  The fees are collected by Clay County and 
each municipality within Clay County based on an inter-local agreement.  The fees shall be used solely for 
the purpose of providing capital improvements to the public educational system necessitated by new 
residential development, and shall not be used for any expenditure that would be classified as a 
maintenance or repair expense.  The authorized uses include, but are not limited to, land acquisition, 
facility design and construction costs, furniture and equipment, and payment of principal, interest, and 
related costs of indebtedness necessitated by new residential development. 
 
Federal Revenue Sources 
The District receives Federal awards for the enhancement of various educational programs.  Federal awards 
are generally received based on applications submitted to, and approved by, various granting agencies.  For 
Federal awards in which a claim to these grant proceeds is based on incurring eligible expenditures, revenue 
is recognized to the extent that eligible expenditures have been incurred.  The FDOE may require 
adjustments to subsequent fiscal period expenditures and related revenues based upon an audit of the 
District’s compliance with applicable Federal awards requirements.  Normally, such adjustments are treated 
as reductions of expenditures and related revenues in the fiscal year when the adjustments are made. 
 
Compensated Absences 
In the government-wide financial statements, compensated absences (i.e., paid absences for employee 
vacation leave and sick leave) are accrued as liabilities to the extent that it is probable that the benefits 
will result in termination payments.  A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental fund 
financial statements only if it has matured, such as for occurrences of employee resignations and 
retirements.  The liability for compensated absences includes salary-related benefits, where applicable.  
 
Proprietary Funds Operating and Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with the proprietary funds’ principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of 
the District’s internal service funds are charges for insurance premiums.  Operating expenses include 
insurance claims and excess coverage premiums.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition 
are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.  
 
Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting 
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Page 232 of 441

DRAFT



36 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 2 - CASH DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

 

Custodial Credit Risk 
In the case of deposits, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, 
the District will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are 
in the possession of an outside party.  The District does not have a policy for custodial credit.  All bank 
balances of the District are fully insured or collateralized as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.  
 
Note 3 - INVESTMENTS 
 
As of June 30, 2020, the District has the following investments: 
 

               
  Investments   Maturities   Fair Value     

  Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions   n/a  $ 10,589,940.98 

  Money Market Mutual Funds: 

  First American Treasury Obligations (A)   43 Day Average   4,465,204.96   

  State Board of Administration: 

   Florida PRIME     53 Day Average   63,111,294.10    

   Debt Service Accounts   6 Months    3,078.37    

  Florida Public Assets for  

   Liquidity Management    53 Day Average   9,070,226.46    

  Total Cash and Investments Reported  

   in Government-Wide      87,239,744.87  

  

  Fiduciary Funds: 

   Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions   n/a   2,443,128.61 

   State Board of Administration: 

    Florida PRIME    53 Day Average   1,372,922.39   

  Total Cash and Investments, Reporting Entity $ 91,055,795.87 

 

 Notes: (A) At June 30, 2020, investments totaling $4,465,204.96 were held under a trust agreement in 

connection with Certificates of Participation financing arrangements. 

 
Fair Value Measurements 
The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure 
the fair value of the assets.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 
inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  The 
District’s investments in SBA debt service accounts are valued using Level 1 inputs. 
 

Page 233 of 441

DRAFT



37 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  
The District’s investment policy does not specifically limit investment maturities as a means of managing its 
exposure to fair value losses from increasing interest rates, but generally requires shorter-term investment 
maturities that are matched with cash flow needs to avoid selling securities prior to maturity.  
 
The trust agreement in connection with certificates of participation financing arrangements does not 
specifically limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses from 
increasing interest rates.  The FL PALM and the First American Treasury Obligations money market mutual 
fund are designed to maintain a $1 per share net asset value and provide immediate liquidity to meet 
cash flow needs. 
 
Florida PRIME, FL PALM, and First American Money Market Mutual Funds use a weighted average days to 
maturity (WAM).  A portfolio’s WAM reflects the average maturity in days based on final maturity or reset 
date, in the case of floating rate instruments.  WAM measures the sensitivity of the portfolio to interest 
rate changes.  
 
For Florida PRIME, with regard to redemption gates, Section 218.409(8)(a), Florida Statutes, states, “The 
principal, and any part thereof, of each account constituting the trust fund is subject to payment at any time 
from the moneys in the trust fund.  However, the executive director may, in good faith, on the occurrence 
of an event that has a material impact on liquidity or operations of the trust fund, for 48 hours limit 
contributions to or withdrawals from the trust fund to ensure that the SBA can invest moneys entrusted to 
it in exercising its fiduciary responsibility.  Such action must be immediately disclosed to all participants, the 
trustees, the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee, the Investment Advisory Council, and the Participant 
Local Government Advisory Council.  The trustees shall convene an emergency meeting as soon as 
practicable from the time the executive director has instituted such measures and review the necessity of 
those measures.  If the trustees are unable to convene an emergency meeting before the expiration of the 
48-hour moratorium on contributions and withdrawals, the moratorium may be extended by the executive 
director until the trustees are able to meet to review the necessity for the moratorium.  If the trustees agree 
with such measures, the trustees shall vote to continue the measures for up to an additional 15 days.  The 
trustees must convene and vote to continue any such measures before the expiration of the time limit set, 
but in no case may the time limit set by the trustees exceed 15 days.” 
 
As of June 30, 2020, there were no redemption fees, maximum transaction amounts, or any other 
requirements that serve to limit a participant’s daily access to 100 percent of their account value. 
 
With regard to liquidity fees, Section 218.409(4), Florida Statutes, provides authority for the SBA to impose 
penalties for early withdrawal, subject to disclosure in the enrollment materials of the amount and 
propose of such fees.  At present, no such disclosure has been made. 
 
FL PALM does not have any limitations or restrictions on withdrawals (such as redemption notice periods, 
maximum transaction amounts, or the authority to impose liquidity fees or redemption gates). 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  
Section 218.415(17), Florida Statutes, limits investments to the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust 
Fund, or any intergovernmental investment pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal 
 

Page 234 of 441

DRAFT



38 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Cooperation Act as provided in Section 163.01, Florida Statutes; Securities and Exchange Commission 
registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating from a nationally recognized rating 
agency; interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, as defined in 
Section 280.02, Florida Statutes; and direct obligations of the United States Treasury.  The District’s 
investment policy limits investments to the SBA Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund Investment 
Pool, which effective July 1, 2009, is known as Florida PRIME, or any intergovernmental investment pool; 
Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating; 
interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts held in qualified public depositories; direct obligations 
of the United States Treasury; Federal Agencies and Instrumentalities, any open-end or closed-end 
management-type investment company or registered investment trust investing in, or repurchase 
agreements collateralized by, obligations of the United States Government or any agency or 
instrumentality; and commercial paper and bankers’ acceptances with quality credit ratings. 
 
The District’s investments in the SBA Debt Service Accounts are to provide for debt service payments on 
bond debt issued by the SBE for the benefit of the District.  The District relies on policies developed by the 
SBA for managing interest rate risk and credit risk for this account.  Disclosures for the Debt Service Accounts 
are included in the notes to financial statements of the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 
The District’s investment in the Florida PRIME is rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s.   
 
The District’s investments in the First American Treasury Obligations money market fund is rated AAAm 
by Standard & Poor’s and Aaa-mf by Moody’s Investor Services. 
 
The District’s investment in the FL PALM is rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a 
transaction, the District will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral securities that are 
in the possession of an outside party.  The District’s investment policy addresses custodial credit risk in 
that all securities, with the exception of certificates of deposit, are held with a third party custodian; and 
all securities purchased by and all collateral obtained by the District should be properly designated as an 
asset of the District.  The securities must be held in an account separate and apart from the assets of the 
financial institution. 
 
The District’s investments in the money market mutual funds are held by the safekeeping agent in the 
name of the District. 
 
Note 4 - RECEIVABLES 
 
Capital Credit Receivable 
The District participates in a non-profit electric cooperative established under Chapter 425, Florida Statutes.  
In accordance with this Statute, revenues in excess of operating expenses, unless otherwise determined by 
a vote of the membership, are distributed by the cooperative on a pro rata basis to its members.  The policy 
of Clay Electric Cooperative, Inc. is to credit the excess revenues to the members’ accounts.  Annually, Clay 
Electric Cooperative, Inc. makes payments for designated prior years’ capital credits.  During the 2019-20 
fiscal year, the District received $141,740.37 related to portions of capital credits earned from the 1990 
through 2018 fiscal years.  At June 30, 2020, the accumulated credits to the District’s accounts were 
$5,129,267.75.  

Page 235 of 441

DRAFT



39 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Due From Other Agencies 
The majority of receivables are due from other agencies.  These receivables and the remaining accounts 
receivable are considered to be fully collectible.  The following is a schedule of the amounts Due From 
Other Agencies at June 30, 2020: 
 

 

FUND/SOURCE AMOUNT

Major Governmental Funds

General:

State of Florida:

District Instructional Leadership Grant 27,632.02$               

Florida Youth Challenge Academy Grant 143,750.00               

Medicaid 236,143.31               

Youth Mental Health Grant 21,525.00                 

Computer Science Certification Grant 38,451.92                 

U.S. Department of Defense:

Navy Junior Reserve Officers Training Corps 84,934.12                 

Clay County Board of County Commissioners:

Driver Education Safety Fund -                             

Clay County Tax Collector:

Local Property Taxes 71,692.74                 

Special Revenue - Food Service:

State of Florida:

Reimbursement for School Meals 116,640.78               

Special Revenue - Other:

State of Florida:

Federal Cash Advance System 3,081,851.76            

U.S. Department of Defense Education Activities:

Achievement at Military Connected Schools 67,325.74                 

Capital Projects - Non-Voted Capital Improvement:

Clay County Tax Collector:

Local Property Taxes 20,097.77                 

Capital Projects - Other Capital Projects:

Clay County Board of County Commissioners:

Local Impact Fees 302,230.62               

Clay County BOCC - Technology Strategy Agreement 112,463.23               

Town of Orange Park:

Local Impact Fees 6,928.97                   

State of Florida:

Safety and Security of School Buildings 873,588.99               

Non-Major - Other Governmental Funds

State of Florida:

Motor Vehicle License Tax 2,984.35                   

Public Education Capital Outlay 11,670.91                 

TOTAL 5,219,912.23$         

Page 236 of 441

DRAFT



40 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 5 - CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Changes in capital assets are presented in the table below: 
 

 
 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:  
 

  Function   Amount  

 Governmental Activities 

  Pupil Transportation Services  $ 1,684,806.52 

  Unallocated     15,386,556.45 

 Total Depreciation Expense -  

  Governmental Activities  $ 17,071,362.97 

 

Note 6 - RETIREMENT PLANS 
 
Florida Retirement System (FRS) – Defined Benefit Pension Plans 
 
General Information about FRS 
The FRS was created in Chapter 121, Florida Statues, to provide a defined benefit pension plan for 
participating public employees.  The FRS was amended in 1998 to add the Deferred Retirement Option 
Program under the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide a defined contribution plan 
alternative to the defined benefit plan for FRS members effective July 1, 2002.  This integrated defined 
 

Beginning Ending

Balance Additions Deletions Transfers Balance

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land 30,044,945.69$    -$                        -$                        -$                        30,044,945.69$    

Construction in Progress 2,484,065.02         6,740,044.29         6,397,113.81         -                          2,826,995.50         

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 32,529,010.71       6,740,044.29         6,397,113.81         -                          32,871,941.19       

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:

Improvements Other Than Buildings 29,231,048.25       920,901.65            -                          -                          30,151,949.90       

Buildings and Fixed Equipment 562,762,679.87    5,476,212.16         -                          -                          568,238,892.03    

Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 21,921,916.50       1,089,873.15         1,886,268.48         1,494,758.00         22,620,279.17       

Motor Vehicles 27,526,669.27       1,731,332.15         8,687,926.76         -                          20,570,074.66       

Property Acquired Under Capital Lease 3,426,894.65         10,680,670.00       -                          (1,494,758.00)        12,612,806.65       

Audio Visual Materials and

Computer Software 4,864,393.06         770,022.69            191,321.69            -                          5,443,094.06         

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 649,733,601.60    20,669,011.80       10,765,516.93       -                          659,637,096.47    

Less Accumulated Depreciation for:

Improvements Other Than Buildings 22,445,621.05       1,169,241.99         -                          -                          23,614,863.04       

Buildings and Fixed Equipment 189,530,210.82    11,438,829.82       -                          -                          200,969,040.64    

Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 15,433,677.39       1,540,117.26         1,886,268.48         427,073.70            15,514,599.87       

Motor Vehicles 17,941,614.78       1,684,806.52         8,687,926.76         -                          10,938,494.54       

Property Acquired Under Capital Lease 349,770.64            871,652.02            -                          (427,073.70)           794,348.96            

Audio Visual Materials and

Computer Software 2,862,974.14         366,715.36            191,321.69            -                          3,038,367.81         

Total Accumulated Depreciation 248,563,868.82    17,071,362.97       10,765,516.93       -                          254,869,714.86    

Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated, Net 401,169,732.78    3,597,648.83         -                          -                          404,767,381.61    

Total Governmental Activities 

Capital Assets, Net 433,698,743.49$  10,337,693.12$    6,397,113.81$       -$                        437,639,322.80$  

Page 237 of 441

DRAFT



41 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
contribution pension plan is the FRS Investment Plan.  Chapter 112, Florida Statues, established the Retiree 
Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, to 
assist retired members of any State-administered retirement system in paying the costs of health insurance. 
 
Essentially all regular employees of the District are eligible to enroll as members of the State-administered 
FRS.  Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, 
Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and FRS Rules, Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative 
Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are defined and described in detail.  Such provisions 
may be amended at any time by further action from the Florida Legislature.  The FRS is a single retirement 
system administered by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement, and 
consists of the two cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit plans and other non-integrated 
programs.  A comprehensive annual financial report of the FRS, which includes its financial statements, 
required supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information, is available from 
the Florida Department of Management Services’ Web site (www.dms.myflorida.com). 
 
The District’s FRS and HIS pension expense totaled $34,900,948 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.   
 
FRS Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description - The FRS Pension Plan (the Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan, with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) for eligible employees.  The general 
classes of membership are as follows: 
 
 Regular Class - Members of FRS who do not qualify for membership in the other classes. 
 
 Elected County Officers Class - Members who hold specified elective offices in local government. 
 
 Special Risk Class - Members who are employed as law enforcement officers and meet the criteria to 

qualify for this class. 
 
Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at 6 years of creditable service and employees 
enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at 8 years of creditable service.  All vested members, 
enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 
years of service, except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement 
benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of service.  All members enrolled in the Plan on or after 
July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years 
of creditable service, except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement 
benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of service.  Employees enrolled in the Plan may include up 
to 4 years of credit for military service toward creditable service.  The Plan also includes an early 
retirement provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires before his or 
her normal retirement date.  The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual 
cost-of-living adjustments to eligible participants. 

Page 238 of 441

DRAFT



42 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
The DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for 
normal retirement under the plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing 
employment with an FRS employer.  An employee may participate in the DROP for a period not to exceed 
60 months after electing to participate, except that certain instructional personnel may participate for up 
to 96 months.  During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS 
Trust Fund and accrue interest.  The net pension liability does not include amounts from the DROP 
participants, as these members are considered retired and are not accruing additional pension benefits.  
 
Benefits Provided - Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or years of service, 
average final compensations, and service credit.  Credit for each year of service is expressed as a 
percentage of the average final compensation.  For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the 
average final compensation is the average of the 5 highest fiscal years’ earnings; for members initially 
enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the 8 highest fiscal 
years’ earnings.  The total percentage value of the benefit received is determined by calculating the total 
value of all service, which is based on the retirement class to which the member belonged when the 
service credit was earned.  Members are eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and survivors’ 
benefits. 
 
The following chart shows the percentage value for each year of service credit earned: 

 
Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service   % Value  
 
Regular Class Members Initially Enrolled Before July 1, 2011 
 Retirement up to age 62 or up to 30 years of service   1.60  
 Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service   1.63  
 Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service   1.65  
 Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service   1.68  
 

Regular Class Members Initially Enrolled On or After July 1, 2011 
 Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service   1.60  
 Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service   1.63  
 Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service   1.65  
 Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service   1.68  
 

Elected County Officers   3.00 
Special Risk Class   3.00  
 

As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in the FRS before 
July 1, 2011, and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011, the annual cost-of-living adjustment is 
3 percent per year.  If the member is initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, and has service credit on or 
after July 1, 2011, there is an individually calculated cost-of-living adjustment.  The annual cost-of-living 
adjustment is a proportion of 3 percent determined by dividing the sum of the pre-July 2011 service credit 
by the total service credit at retirement multiplied by 3 percent.  Plan members initially enrolled on or 
after July 1, 2011, will not have a cost-of-living adjustment after retirement. 

 

Page 239 of 441

DRAFT



43 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Contributions - The Florida Legislature establishes contribution rates for participating employers and 
employees.  Contribution rates during the 2019-20 fiscal year were as follows: 

 
     Percent of Gross Salary  

  Class or Plan   Employee   Employer (A)  

 Florida Retirement System, Regular   3.00   8.47  

 Florida Retirement System, Special Risk   3.00   25.48 

 Florida Retirement System, Elected County Officers   3.00   48.82 

 Deferred Retirement Option Program – Applicable to Members 

  from All of the Above Classes or Plans   0.00   14.60  

 Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree   (B)   (B)  

 

 Notes: (A) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the postemployment health insurance supplement.  Also, 

employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include 0.06 percent for administrative costs of the 

Investment Plan. 

  (B) Contribution rates are dependent upon the retirement class in which reemployed. 

 
 The District’s contributions, including employee contributions, to the Plan totaled $13,410,842 for the 

fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions - At June 30, 2020, the District reported a liability of $134,242,899 for its 
proportionate share of the Plan’s net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of 
June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2019.  The District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was 
based on the District’s 2018-19 fiscal year contributions relative to the 2018-19 contributions of all 
participating members.  At June 30, 2019, the District’s proportionate share was .389803501 percent, 
which was a decrease of .003926245 from its proportionate share at prior measurement date. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the District recognized pension expense of $30,835,302.  In 
addition, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions from the following sources: 
 

   Deferred Outflows   Deferred Inflows  
 Description   of Resources   of Resources  
Differences Between Expected and  
 Actual Experience $ 7,962,330 $ 83,310 
Change of Assumptions 34,479,353 - 
Net Difference Between Projected and  
 Actual Earnings on FRS Plan Investments - 7,427,018 
Changes in Proportion and Differences 
 Between District FRS Contributions  
 and Proportionate Share of Contributions - 5,323,055 
District FRS Contributions Subsequent to  
 the Measurement Date  13,410,842  - 
Total $ 55,852,525 $ 12,833,383 

 

Page 240 of 441

DRAFT



44 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from District contributions to the Plan 
subsequent to the measurement date, totaling $13,410,842, will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as 
follows: 

 
  Fiscal Year Ended June 30,   Amount   

  2021  $ 10,775,336  
  2022  2,141,985 
  2023  8,201,391 
  2024   6,505,196 
  2025   1,587,236 
  Thereafter   397,157 
 

Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the July 1, 2019, actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation 2.60 Percent 
Salary Increases 3.25 Percent, Average, Including Inflation 
Investment Rate of Return 6.90 Percent, Net of Pension Plan Investment Expense, 
 Including Inflation  
 

Mortality rates were based on the PUB-2010 base table, projected generationally with Scale MP-2018.  
This is a change from the prior year mortality assumption, which was based on the Generational RP-2000 
with Projection Scale BB tables 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2019, valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period July 1, 2013, through June 30, 2018.   
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was not based on historical returns, 
but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model.  The allocation policy’s 
description of each asset class was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes shown below.  
Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, and includes an 
adjustment for the inflation assumption.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and 
geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:  
 

 

Compound
Annual Annual

Target Arithmetic (Geometric) Standard
Asset Class Allocation (1) Return Return Deviation

Cash 1.0% 3.3% 3.3% 1.2%
Fixed Income 18.0% 4.1% 4.1% 3.5%
Global Equity 54.0% 8.0% 6.8% 16.5%
Real Estate (Property) 10.0% 6.7% 6.1% 11.7%
Private Equity 11.0% 11.2% 8.4% 25.8%
Strategic Investments 6.0% 5.9% 5.7% 6.7%

Total 100.00%

Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.6% 1.7%

Note:  (1) As outlined in the Plan's investment policy.

Page 241 of 441

DRAFT



45 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.9 percent.  The Plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension 
liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return.  The discount rate used in the 2019 valuation 
was updated from 7.0 percent to 6.9 percent.   
 
Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - 
The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.9 percent, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (5.9 percent) or 1 
percentage-point higher (7.9 percent) than the current rate: 
 
  1%   Current   1%  
  Decrease   Discount Rate   Increase  
  (5.90%)   (6.90%)   (7.90%)  
District’s Proportionate Share of 
 the Net Pension Liability $ 232,061,269 $ 134,242,899 $ 52,548,014 

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - The detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered Systems Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report.   
 
Payables to the Pension Plan - At June 30, 2020, the District reported a payable of $1,882,343.33 for the 
outstanding amount of contributions to the Plan required for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.   
 
HIS Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description - The HIS Pension Plan (the HIS Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan established under Section 112.363, Florida Statutes, and may be amended by the Florida 
Legislature at any time.  The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of State-administered 
retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is administered by the Florida Department 
of Management Services, Division of Retirement.  
 
Benefits Provided - For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, eligible retirees and beneficiaries received a 
monthly HIS payment of $5 for each year of creditable service completed at the time of retirement, with 
a minimum HIS payment of $30 and a maximum HIS payment of $150 per month, pursuant to 
Section 112.363, Florida Statutes.  To be eligible to receive a HIS Plan benefit, a retiree under a State-
administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance coverage, which may include 
Federal Medicare. 
 
Contributions - The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS participating employers as set 
by the Florida Legislature.  Employer contributions are a percentage of gross compensation for all active 
FRS members.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the contribution rate was 1.66 percent of payroll 
pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statues.  The District contributed 100 percent of its statutorily 
required contributions for the current and preceding 3 years.  HIS Plan contributions are deposited in 
 

Page 242 of 441

DRAFT



46 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
a separate trust fund from which payments are authorized.  HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and are 
subject to annual legislative appropriation.  In the event the legislative appropriation or available funds 
fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all participants, benefits may be reduced or canceled. 
 
The District’s contributions to the HIS Plan totaled $3,356,499 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions - At June 30, 2020, the District reported a net pension liability of 
$63,864,580 for its proportionate share of the HIS Plan’s net pension liability.  The current portion of the 
net pension liability is the District’s proportionate share of benefit payments expected to be paid within 
1 year, net of the District’s proportionate share of the HIS Plan’s fiduciary net position available to pay 
that amount.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total pension liability 
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2018.  The 
District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the District’s 2018-19 fiscal year 
contributions relative to the total 2018-19 fiscal year contributions of all participating members.  At 
June 30, 2019, the District’s proportionate share was 0.570780091 percent, which was an increase of 
.000863628 from its proportionate share measured as of June 30, 2018.  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the District recognized the HIS Plan pension expense of 
$4,065,646.  In addition, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources:   
 

   Deferred Outflows   Deferred Inflows  
 Description   of Resources   of Resources  
Differences Between Expected and  
 Actual Experience $ 775,707 $ 78,200 
Change of Assumptions 7,394,916 5,219,770 
Net Difference Between Projected and  
 Actual Earnings on HIS Plan Investments 41,211 - 
Changes in Proportion and Differences 
 Between District HIS Contributions  
 and Proportionate Share of Contributions 77,161 2,826,689 
District FRS Contributions Subsequent to  
 the Measurement Date  3,356,499  - 
Total $ 11,645,494 $ 8,124,659 

 
The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from District contributions to the HIS 
Plan subsequent to the measurement date, totaling $3,356,499, will be recognized as a reduction of the 
net pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows 
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense 
as follows: 
 

Page 243 of 441

DRAFT



47 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 

 Fiscal Year Ending June 30,   Amount   
  2021  $ 409,215 
  2022   248,825 
  2023   (78,334) 
  2024   (754,564) 
  2025   (102,273) 
  Thereafter   441,466 

 
Actuarial Assumptions - The total pension liability in the July 1, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation 2.60 Percent 
Salary Increases 3.25 Percent, Average, Including Inflation 
Municipal Bond Rate 3.50 Percent 

 
Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projected Scale BB.  
 
While an experience study had not been completed for the HIS Plan, the actuarial assumptions that 
determined the total pension liability for the HIS Plan were based on certain results of the most recent 
experience study for the FRS Plan.   
 
Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 3.5 percent.  In general, 
the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the single rate equivalent to 
discounting at the long-term expected rate of return for benefit payments prior to the projected depletion 
date.  Because the HIS benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion date is 
considered to be immediate, and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the municipal bond rate 
selected by the HIS Plan sponsor.  The Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was 
adopted as the applicable municipal bond index.  The discount rate changed from 3.87 percent to 3.5 
percent. 
 
Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate - The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using 
the discount rate of 3.5 percent, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.5 percent) 
or 1 percentage point higher (4.5 percent) than the current rate: 
 
  1%   Current   1%  
  Decrease   Discount Rate   Increase  
  (2.5%)   (3.5%)   (4.5%)  
District’s Proportionate Share of 
 the Net Pension Liability $ 72,904,692 $ 63,864,580 $ 56,335,190 

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the HIS Plan’s fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered Systems Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report. 
 

Page 244 of 441

DRAFT



48 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Payables to the Pension Plan - At June 30, 2020, the District reported a payable of $462,917.03 for the 
outstanding amount of contributions to the HIS Plan required for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 
 
FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plans 
The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the FRS Investment Plan (the Investment 
Plan).  The Investment Plan is reported in the SBA’s annual financial statements and in the State of Florida 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate in the 
Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan.  District employees participating in DROP are not 
eligible to participate in the Investment Plan.  Employer and employee contributions, including amounts 
contributed to individual member’s accounts, are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part 
on the performance of investment funds.  Retirement benefits are based upon the value of the member’s 
account upon retirement.  Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, for the Investment Plan 
are established and may be amended by the Florida Legislature.  The Investment Plan is funded with the 
same employer and employee contribution rates that are based on salary and membership class (Regular, 
Elected County Officers, etc.), as the FRS defined benefit plan.  Contributions are directed to individual 
member accounts, and the individual members allocate contributions and account balances among 
various approved investment choices.  Costs of administering the Investment Plan, including the FRS 
Financial Guidance Program, are funded through an employer contribution of 0.06 percent of payroll and 
by forfeited benefits of Investment Plan members.  Allocations to the Investment Plan member accounts 
during the 2019-20 fiscal year were as follows:  
 

     Percent of Gross Compensation  

  Class or Plan   Employee   Employer  

 FRS, Regular    3.00   3.30  

 FRS, Elected County Officers    3.00   8.34 

 FRS, Special Risk Class    3.00   11.00 
 
For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions and are vested 
after 1 year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings, regardless of membership 
class.  If an accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally earned under the FRS Pension Plan 
is transferred to the Investment Plan, the member must have the years of service required for FRS Pension 
Plan vesting (including the service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be vested for these 
funds and the earnings on the funds.  Non-vested employer contributions are placed in a suspense account 
for up to 5 years.  If the employee returns to FRS covered employment within the 5 year period, the 
employee will regain control over their account.  If the employee does not return within the 5 year period, 
the employee will forfeit the accumulated account balance.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the 
information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA; however, management believes 
that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to the District. 
 
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested funds to another 
qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a lump sum distribution, 
leave the funds invested for future distribution, or any combination of these options.  Disability coverage 
 

Page 245 of 441

DRAFT



49 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 
is provided in which the member may either transfer the account balance to the FRS Pension Plan when 
approved for disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under the FRS Pension 
Plan or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that account balance for retirement income. 
 
The District’s Investment Plan pension contributions totaled $3,592,870 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2020. 
 
Note 7 - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

 
Plan Description - The Other Postemployment Health Care Benefits Plan (OPEB Plan) is a single-employer 
defined benefit plan administered by the District.  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.0801, Florida 
Statutes, former employees who retire from the District are eligible to participate in the District’s health 
insurance plan.  Retirees and their eligible dependents shall be offered the same health and 
hospitalization insurance coverage as is offered to active employees at a premium cost of no more than 
the premium cost applicable to active employees.  The District subsidizes the premium rates paid by 
retirees by allowing them to participate in the OPEB Plan at reduced or blended group (implicitly 
subsidized) premium rates for both active and retired employees.  These rates provide an implicit subsidy 
for retirees because retiree healthcare costs are generally greater than active employee healthcare costs.  
Retirees are assumed to enroll in the Federal Medicare program for their primary coverage as soon as 
they are eligible.  The OPEB Plan does not issue a stand-alone report, and is not included in the report of 
a Public Employee Retirement System or another entity.  No assets are accumulated in a trust that meet 
the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. 
 
Benefits Provided - The OPEB Plan provides healthcare insurance benefits for retirees and their 
dependents.  The OPEB Plan only provides an implicit subsidy described above. 
 
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms - At June 30, 2020, the following employees were covered by the 
benefit terms: 

 
Inactive Employees or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits   101 
Active Employees   4,671  
Total   4,772  

 
Total OPEB Liability - The District’s total OPEB liability of $5,154,782 was measured as of June 30, 2020, 
and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs - The total OPEB liability was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless 
otherwise specified: 

 
Inflation 2.50 Percent 
Salary Increases 4.50 Percent, Average, Including Inflation 
Discount Rate 3.51 Percent 
Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 6.51 and 7.09 Percent, for Pre and Post-65, Decreasing Annually 

to an Ultimate Rate of 4.50 Percent for 2028 and Later 

  

Page 246 of 441

DRAFT



50 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer GO 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index. 
 
Mortality rates were based on PUB TH-2010 employees and healthy annuitants mortality table projected 
generationally using Scale MP-2019.  
 
The District selected the economic, demographic, and healthcare claim cost assumptions used in the OPEB 
Plan valuation.  The actuary provided guidance with respect to the mortality, health claims, medical trend, 
plan participation, and spousal assumptions.  All other assumptions were selected by the District and align 
with the FRS Pension valuation. 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

 
  Description       Amount  
 Balance at June 30, 2019    $ 5,133,033  
 Changes for the Year:   
 Service Cost     447,382 
 Interest   200,672 
 Changes of Benefit Terms   - 
 Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience    469,785 
 Changes in Assumptions or Other Inputs   (298,330) 
 Benefit Payments     (797,760) 
 Net Changes     21,749 

Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 5,154,782 
 

Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.87 percent in 2019 
to 3.51 percent in 2020.   
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The following presents the total 
OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.51 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (4.51 
percent) than the current rate: 
 
 Current 
  1% Decrease   Discount Rate   1% Increase  
  (2.51%)   (3.51%)   (4.51%)  
Total OPEB Liability $ 5,605,792 $ 5,154,782 $ 4,752,436 

 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates - The following 
presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB liability would be 
if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1 percentage point lower (5.85 percent 
decreasing to 3.50 percent) or 1 percentage point higher (7.85 percent decreasing to 5.50 percent) than 
the current healthcare cost trend rates: 

 
     Healthcare     
  1% Decrease   Cost Trend   1% Increase  
Total OPEB Liability $ 4,454,833 $ 5,154,782 $ 6,017,941  

Page 247 of 441

DRAFT



51 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 

OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB - 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the District recognized OPEB expense of $725,907.  In addition, 
the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
from the following sources:   

 
  Deferred Outflows   Deferred Inflows  
 Description   of Resources   of Resources  
Differences Between Expected and  
 Actual Experience  $ 845,896 $ 645,547 
Change of Assumptions or Other Inputs  983,766  472,425 
Benefits Paid Subsequent to  
 the Measurement Date  297,140  - 
Total $ 2,126,802 $ 1,117,972 
 

The deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from benefits paid subsequent to the 
measurement date and before the end of the fiscal year, totaling $797,760, will be recognized as a 
reduction of the total OPEB liability in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.  Other amounts reported as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized 
in pension expense as follows: 
 

 Fiscal Year Ending June 30,   Amount    
  2021  $ 77,853 
  2022   77,853 
  2023   77,853 
  2024   77,853 
  2025   77,853 

 Total Thereafter 322,425 
 
Note 8 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCY  
 
Construction Contracts 
The following is a schedule of major construction contract commitments at June 30, 2020: 
 

  

Contract Completed Balance
Project Amount Amount Committed

Orange Park High School - HVAC Replacement:
Engineer 75,096.00$            60,076.80$               15,019.20$            
General Contractor 938,700.00            -                             938,700.00            

Orange Park High School - Baseball Field Lighting:
General Contractor 344,300.00            -                             344,300.00            

District Offices Renovation:
Architect 16,957.50              -                             16,957.50              
General Contractor 1,270,753.14         1,010,552.74           260,200.40            

Doctors Inlet Elementary
Cafeteria Expansion Project:

Architect 301,340.00            167,048.00               134,292.00            
General Contractor 1,667,900.57         1,357,076.76           310,823.81            
Direct Materials 579,154.14            232,241.20               346,912.94            

Total 5,194,201.35$       2,826,995.50$         2,367,205.85$       

Page 248 of 441

DRAFT



52 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 
Encumbrances 
Appropriations in governmental funds are encumbered upon issuance of purchase orders for goods and 
services.  Even though appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year, unfilled purchase orders of the 
current year are carried forward and the next year’s appropriations are likewise encumbered. 
 
The following is a schedule of encumbrances at June 30, 2020: 
 
     Encumbrance 
  Fund   Amount  
 General   $ 4,184,596.64 
 Special Revenue - Food Services   976,394.56 
 Other Federal Programs   1,084,580.14 
 Other Debt Service    5,452.66 
 Non-Voted Capital Improvement   3,255,891.64 
 Other Capital Projects    750,541.02 
 Other Governmental Funds   679,497.12 
 Total   $ 10,936,953.78 
 

COVID-19 
In December 2019, COVID-19 emerged and has subsequently spread worldwide.  The World Health 
Organization has declared COVID-19 a pandemic resulting in federal, state, and local governments and 
private entities mandating various restrictions, including travel restrictions, restrictions on public 
gatherings, stay-at-home orders and advisories and quarantining of people who may have been exposed 
to the virus.  After close monitoring and responses and guidance from federal, state, and local 
governments, in an effort to mitigate the spread of COVID-19, effective in late March 2020, the District 
moved to remote learning for the remainder of the school year. 
 
At this point, we cannot reasonably estimate the duration and severity of this pandemic, which could have 
a material adverse impact on the District. 
 
Note 9 - RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAMS 

 
The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  Workers’ compensation, automobile 
liability, general liability, and property loss coverages are being provided on a self-insured basis up to 
specified limits.  The District established a Risk Management Internal Service Fund to account for and finance 
its uninsured risks of loss related to workers’ compensation, automobile liability, general liability, and 
property loss coverages.  The District has entered into agreements with various insurance companies to 
provide specific excess coverage of claim amounts above the stated amount on an individual claim basis, 
and aggregate excess coverage when total claims minus specific excess coverage exceeds the loss fund 
established annually by the District.  The District has contracted with an insurance administrator to 
administer these self-insurance programs, including the processing, investigating, and payment of claims. 
 
Settled claims resulting from the risks described above have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage 
in any of the past three fiscal years. 
  

Page 249 of 441

DRAFT



53 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
The District’s liability is limited to $100,000 per claim and $200,000 per occurrence for automobile liability, 
general liability, and property loss coverages.  The District’s liability for workers’ compensation is limited 
from $125,000 to $500,000 per occurrence, depending on the year of occurrence. 
 
A liability in the amount of $1,690,109 was actuarially determined to cover estimated incurred, but not 
reported, insurance claims payable at June 30, 2020. 
 
The following schedule represents the changes in claims liability for the past two fiscal years for the 
District’s self-insurance program: 
 
        Current Year 
     Beginning   Claims and  
     Fiscal   Changes in      Balance at  
  Fiscal   Year   Estimated   Claims   Fiscal  
  Year   Liability   Liability   Payments   Year-End  
  2018-19  $ 2,069,258.00 $ 920,315.79 $ (1,010,548.79) $ 1,979,025.00 
  2019-20   1,979,025.00 795,001.55  (1,083,917.55)  1,690,109.00 
 

The District’s health and hospitalization coverage and other coverages deemed necessary by the Board 
were provided through purchased commercial insurance with minimum deductibles for each line of 
coverage. 
 

Note 10 - OBLIGATION UNDER CAPITAL LEASE 
 
Property being acquired under capital lease arrangements consist of a GPS equipment and software with 
an asset value of $485,596 and computer hardware with an asset value of $1,446,540, and Ninety (90) 77 
passenger school buses and ten (10) 65 passenger school buses along with related video and GPS 
equipment with an asset value of $10,680,670. 
 

Future minimum capital lease payments and the present value of the minimum lease payments as of 
June 30 are as follows: 

 
 Fiscal Year Ending 

 June 30,   Total   Principal   Interest  

 2021  $ 2,258,879.23 $ 2,070,978.43 $ 187,900.80 

 2022   1,615,559.43  1,483,928.12  131,631.31 

 2023   1,615,559.43  1,509,367.10  106,192.33 

 2024   1,615,559.43  1,535,242.18  80,317.25 

 2025   1,615,559.42  1,561,560.83  53,998.59

 2026   1,615,559.41  1,588,330.66  27,228.75 

 Total Minimum Lease Payments  $ 10,336,676.35 $ 9,749,407.32 $ 587,269.03 

 

The imputed interest rate for the GPS equipment is 5.00 percent.  The imputed interest rate for the 
computer equipment is between 4.449 percent - 4.593 percent.  The interest rate for the buses is 1.7143 
percent. 
 
Amortization of leased equipment under capital assets is included with depreciation expense. 
  

Page 250 of 441

DRAFT



54 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 11 - CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION 
 
Certificates of Participation at June 30, 2020, are as follows: 

 
        Interest   Lease  

     Amount   Rates    Term   Original  

   Series   Outstanding   (Percent)    Maturity   Amount  

  Series 2012, Refunding  $ 20,145,000  3.0 – 5.0    2028  $ 24,930,000 

  Series 2014, Refunding,  

   Direct Placement   11,615,000  2.79    2027   17,540,000 

  Series 2017, Refunding, 

   Direct Placement   1,733,000  1.71    2025   8,817,000 

  Total Certificates of Participation  $ 33,493,000        $ 51,287,000  

 
The District entered into a master financing arrangement on May 15, 1997, which arrangement was 
characterized as lease-purchase agreement, with the Leasing Corporation whereby the District secured 
financing of various educational facilities.  The financing was accomplished through the issuance of 
Certificates of Participation to be repaid from the proceeds of rents paid by the District. 
 
As a condition of the financing arrangement, the District has given ground leases on District property to 
the Leasing Corporation, with a rental fee of $10 per year.  The properties covered by the ground leases 
are, together with the improvements constructed thereon from the financing proceeds, leased back to 
the District.  If the District fails to renew the leases and to provide for the rent payments through to term, 
the District may be required to surrender the sites included under the ground lease agreements for the 
benefit of the securers of the certificates for a period of time specified by the arrangements. 
 
The District properties included in the ground leases under these arrangements include: 
 

 Certificates   Description of Properties  

Series 2012, Refunding   Construction of a New Junior High School in the Lake Asbury Area 

(Lake Asbury Junior High School) and a New Senior High School in the 

Oakleaf Area (Oakleaf High School). 

 

Series 2014, Refunding, Direct Placement Acquisition of Approximately 42 Acres of Land Adjacent to the Former 

Ridgeview Junior High School and Conversion of the Facility to a 

Senior High School and Construction of a New Junior High School in 

the Oakleaf Area (Oakleaf Junior High School). 

 

Series 2017, Refunding, Direct Placement  Construction of Fleming Island High School.  

Page 251 of 441

DRAFT



55 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
The lease payments are payable by the District, semiannually, on July 1 and January 1, and must be 
remitted by the District as of the 15th day of the month preceding the payment dates.   
 
The following is a schedule by years of future minimum lease payments under the lease agreements 
together with the present value of minimum lease payments as of June 30:  

 
 Fiscal Year Ending 
 June 30,   Total   Principal   Interest  
 2021  $ 3,935,112.50 $ 3,085,000.00 $ 850,112.50 
 2022   3,935,862.50  3,240,000.00  695,862.50 
 2023   3,933,862.50  3,400,000.00  533,862.50 
 2024   3,931,862.50  3,500,000.00  431,862.50 
 2025   3,926,862.50  3,670,000.00  256,862.50 
 2026 - 2029   3,561,012.50  3,250,000.00  311,012.50 
Total Minimum Lease Payments  $ 23,224,575.00 $ 20,145,000.00 $ 3,079,575.00 

 
The following is a schedule by years of future minimum lease payments under the direct placement lease 
agreements together with the present value of minimum lease payments as of June 30:  

 
 Fiscal Year Ending 
 June 30,   Total   Principal   Interest  
 2021  $ 1,242,692.80 $ 889,000.00 $ 353,692.80 
 2022   1,237,507.70  905,000.00  332,507.70 
 2023   1,240,897.80  930,000.00  310,897.80 
 2024   1,243,720.00  955,000.00  288,720.00 
 2025   1,243,866.30  978,000.00  265,866.30 
 2026 - 2029   9,056,350.50  8,691,000.00  365,350.50 
Total Minimum Lease Payments  $ 15,265,035.10 $ 13,348,000.00 $ 1,917,035.10 

 
Note 12 - BONDS PAYABLE 

 
Bonds payable at June 30, 2020, are as follows: 

        Interest   Annual 
     Amount   Rates   Maturity 
   Bond Type   Outstanding   (Percent)   To  
   State School Bonds: 
    Series 2011A, Refunding $ 165,000  3.00 – 5.00   2023 
   District Revenue Bonds: 
    Series 2010, Refunding  1,950,000  4.125 – 5.00   2032 
   Total Bonds Payable $ 2,115,000 
 

The various bonds were issued to finance capital outlay projects of the District.  The following is a 
description of the bonded debt issues: 

Page 252 of 441

DRAFT



56 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
■ State School Bonds 

These bonds are issued by the SBE on behalf of the District.  The bonds mature serially, and are 
secured by a pledge of the District’s portion of the State-assessed motor vehicle license tax.  The 
State’s full faith and credit is also pledged as security for these bonds.  Principal and interest payments, 
investment of Debt Service Fund resources, and compliance with reserve requirements are 
administered by the SBE and the SBA. 

 
■ District Revenue Bonds 
 These bonds were issued to refund the District Revenue Bonds, Series 1995, and to finance costs of 

various capital improvements in the District.  These bonds are authorized by Chapter 65-1383, Laws 
of Florida, and Chapter 70-631, Laws of Florida, which provide that the bonds be secured by the 
portion of the racetrack and jai alai fronton funds distributed annually to Clay County from the State’s 
Pari-Mutuel Tax Collection Trust Fund pursuant to Chapter 550, Florida Statutes (effective July 1, 2000, 
tax proceeds are distributed pursuant to Section 212.20(6)(d)7.a., Florida Statutes (2001), now 
Section 212.20(6)(d)6.a., Florida Statutes).  The annual distribution is remitted by the Florida 
Department of Financial Services to the District.  As required by the bond resolution, the Board has 
established a sinking fund and reserve account and has accumulated and maintained adequate 
resources in the sinking fund and reserve account.   

 
 The District has pledged a total of $2,827,288.78 of sales tax distribution revenues in connection with 

the District Revenue Bond, Series 2010, described above.  During the 2019-20 fiscal year, the District 
recognized sales tax distribution revenues totaling $223,250.00 and expended $215,955.00 (97 percent) 
of these revenues for debt services directly collateralized by these revenues.  The pledged sales tax 
distribution revenues are committed until final maturity of the debt in 2032.  Approximately 97 percent 
of this revenue stream has been pledged in connection with debt services on the revenue bond. 

 
Annual requirements to amortize all bonded debt outstanding as of June 30, 2020, are as follows: 

 
 Fiscal Year Ending 
 June 30,   Total   Principal   Interest  
 State School Bonds: 
 2021  $ 55,950.00 $ 50,000.00 $ 5,950.00 
 2022   58,450.00  55,000.00  3,450.00 
 2023   61,800.00  60,000.00  1,800.00 

  Total State School Bonds   176,200.00  165,000.00  11,200.00 
 
 District Revenue Bonds: 
 2021   216,155.00  125,000.00  91,155.00 
 2022   215,998.76  130,000.00  85,998.76 
 2023   215,473.76  135,000.00  80,473.76 
 2024   219,668.76  145,000.00  74,668.76 
 2025   218,325.00  150,000.00  68,325.00 
 2026 - 2030   1,090,212.50  860,000.00  230,212.50 
 2031 - 2032   435,500.00  405,000.00  30,500.00 
 Total District Revenue Bonds   2,611,333.78  1,950,000.00  661,333.78 
 Total  $ 2,787,533.78 $ 2,115,000.00 $ 672,533.78  

Page 253 of 441

DRAFT



57 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 13 - PRIOR PERIOD DEFEASED DEBT 

 

In a prior year, the Certificates of Participation (COPs), Series 2005B, were defeased in substance by 
placing a portion of the proceeds of new COPs in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service 
payments on the old COPs.  Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the in-substance 
defeased COPs are not included in the District’s financial statements.  On June 30, 2020, COPs, Series 
2005B, totaling $4,145,000 outstanding are considered defeased in substance.  
 
Note 14 - CHANGES IN LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities: 
 

 
 
For the governmental activities, compensated absences and other postemployment healthcare benefits 
are generally liquidated with resources of the General Fund.  The estimated insurance claims are generally 
liquidated with resources of the Internal Service Fund. 
 
Note 15 - FUND BALANCE REPORTING 
 
In addition to the non-spendable fund balance, the District reports its governmental fund balances as 
spendable fund balances, based on a hierarchy of spending constraints. 
 

■ Non-Spendable Fund Balance 
Non-spendable fund balance is the net current financial resources that cannot be spent because they 
are either not in spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.  
Generally, not in spendable form means that an item is not expected to be converted to cash. 

 

■ Restricted Fund Balance 
Restricted fund balance is the portion of fund balance on which constraints have been placed by 
creditors, grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other governments, constitutional provisions, 
or enabling legislation.  Restricted fund balance places the most binding level of constraint on the use 
of fund balance.  The District classifies most of its fund balances other than in the General Fund as 
restricted, as well as unspent State categorical programs reported in the General Fund, that are legally 
or otherwise restricted.  

Balance Balance Due In

6/30/2019 Additions Deductions 6/30/2020 One Year

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Estimated Insurance Claims Payable 1,979,025.00$         1,071,643.83$     1,360,559.83$     1,690,109.00$        919,419.00$          

Obligations Under Capital Leases 1,692,306.03           10,680,670.00     2,623,568.71       9,749,407.32          2,070,978.43         

Bonds Payable 2,293,000.00           -                         178,000.00           2,115,000.00          175,000.00            

Certificates of Participation Payable 21,030,000.00         -                         885,000.00           20,145,000.00        3,085,000.00         

Certificates of Participation Payable, Direct Placement 16,285,000.00         -                         2,937,000.00       13,348,000.00        889,000.00            

Compensated Absences Payable 21,757,827.09         6,601,308.80        3,483,348.13       24,875,787.76        3,483,348.13         

Net Pension Liability 178,914,038.00       21,939,598.00     2,746,158.00       198,107,478.00     1,083,600.00         

Other Postemployment Benefits

Payable 5,133,033.00           819,509.00           797,760.00           5,154,782.00          1,083,599.13         
Total Governmental Activities 249,084,229.12$     41,112,729.63$   15,011,394.67$   275,185,564.08$   12,789,944.69$    

Page 254 of 441

DRAFT



58 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 

■ Unassigned Fund Balance 
The unassigned fund balance is the portion of fund balance that is the residual classification for the 
General Fund.  This residual balance represents amounts that have not been assigned to other funds 
and that have not been restricted, committed, or assigned for specific purpose. 

 
Note 16 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS 
 
The following is a summary of interfund receivables and payables reported in the fund financial 
statements: 

 
  Interfund  
  Funds   Receivables   Payables  

 Major Governmental Funds: 
   General $ 6,686,686.79 $ - 
   Debt Service: 
    Other Debt Service  12.17  - 
   Capital Projects: 
    Non-Voted Capital Improvement  14,578.80  - 
    Other Capital Projects   -  14,568.34 
   Special Revenue: 
    Food Service  -  3,654,422.55 
    Other Federal Programs  -  3,026,305.60 
  Non-Major Governmental Funds  -  5,981.27  
 Total $ 6,701,277.76 $ 6,701,277.76 

 
The outstanding interfund balances result mainly from expenditures and reimbursements timing 
differences being adjusted between funds.  The interfund amounts represent temporary loans from one 
fund to another and are expected to be repaid within 1 year. 

 
The following is a summary of interfund transfers reported in the fund financial statements: 

 
  Interfund  
  Funds   Transfers In   Transfers Out  

Major Governmental Funds: 
  General $ 4,297,809.75 $ 32,500.00 
  Debt Service: 
   Other Debt Service  6,756,469.42  - 
  Capital Projects: 
   Non-Voted Capital Improvement  -  7,657,504.17 
   Other Capital Projects  -  3,364,275.00 
 Total $ 11,054,279.17 $ 11,054,279.17 

 
Interfund transfers represent permanent transfers of moneys between funds.  The transfers out of the 
Capital Projects Funds were to provide for debt service payments, to fund equipment purchases, to fund 
property and casualty insurance premiums, and to fund certain facilities and maintenance expenditures 
of the District’s General Fund.  

Page 255 of 441

DRAFT



59 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 17 - SCHEDULE OF STATE REVENUE SOURCES 
 
The following is a schedule of the District’s state revenue for the 2019-2020 fiscal year: 
 

  Source   Amount  
 Florida Education Finance Program  $ 187,205,277.00 
 Categorical Educational Program - Class Size Reduction  40,780,072.00 
 School Recognition    2,275,119.00 
 Motor Vehicle License Tax (Capital Outlay and Debt Service)  1,594,370.43 
 Miscellaneous   3,942,783.69 
 Total  $ 235,797,622.12 

 
Accounting policies relating to certain state revenue sources are described in Note 1. 
 
Note 18 - PROPERTY TAXES 
 
The following is a summary of millages and taxes levied on the 2020 tax roll for the 2019-20 fiscal year: 
 

  General Fund   Millages   Taxes Levied  
 Non-Voted School Tax: 
  Required Local Effort   3.799  $ 48,191,198 
  Basic Discretionary Local Effort   0.748   9,488,554 
 Voted School Tax: 
  Additional Operating   1.000   12,685,232 

 
  Capital Projects Funds  
 Non-Voted Tax: 
  Local Capital Improvements   1.500   19,027,849 
 Total   7.047  $ 89,392,833 

 
Note 19 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
In the fall of 2020, Clay County voters approved a local infrastructure sales tax through the end of calendar 
year 2039.  This tax is estimated to provide about $13 million annually in additional funds to help support 
the District’s capital program, including constructing additional schools within the District. 

 
 
 
 

Page 256 of 441

DRAFT



 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Page 257 of 441

DRAFT



Actual Variance with 

Original Final Amounts Final Budget

Revenues

Intergovernmental:

Federal Direct 1,065,000.00$           966,749.05$             1,003,663.89$           36,914.84$                   

Federal Through State and Local 1,997,585.00             1,562,219.00            1,425,752.18              (136,466.82)                 

State 239,512,118.00         235,815,580.15       232,432,277.11         (3,383,303.04)              

Local:

Property Taxes 68,426,120.00           68,378,516.06         67,676,874.23           (701,641.83)                 

Miscellaneous 3,566,974.75             4,582,996.21            5,210,587.51              627,591.30                   

Total Revenues 314,567,797.75         311,306,060.47       307,749,154.92         (3,556,905.55)              

Expenditures

Current - Education:

Instruction 208,959,216.86         214,547,775.06       200,961,379.78         13,586,395.28             

Student Personnel Services 15,387,563.93           16,176,734.59         15,572,363.42           604,371.17                   

Instructional Media Services 4,339,895.69             4,410,909.67            4,393,672.00              17,237.67                     

Instruction and Curriculum 

Development Services   3,780,933.56             3,956,741.22            3,940,576.32              16,164.90                     

Instructional Staff Training Services 2,248,100.50             3,218,401.43            2,823,135.18              395,266.25                   

Instruction-Related Technology 4,579,437.53             4,826,655.98            4,224,536.77              602,119.21                   

School Board 825,800.82                 1,149,230.58            777,174.13                 372,056.45                   

General Administration 735,931.04                 613,856.38               607,306.87                 6,549.51                       

School Administration 15,116,225.53           16,334,327.63         15,775,866.78           558,460.85                   

Facilities Acquisition and Construction 5,662,776.38             5,667,271.07            4,019,301.54              1,647,969.53               

Fiscal Services 1,532,116.03             1,323,195.17            1,204,019.28              119,175.89                   

Food Services 4,454.28                     177,226.35               175,908.18                 1,318.17                       

Central Services 3,681,994.67             4,543,889.42            3,388,496.29              1,155,393.13               

Student Transportation Services 536,118.56                 11,316,858.54         10,970,907.70           345,950.84                   

Operation of Plant 31,197,595.26           31,138,333.26         27,471,047.85           3,667,285.41               

Maintenance of Plant 5,669,096.64             5,864,912.01            5,736,522.80              128,389.21                   

Administrative Technology Services 1,433,499.88             1,332,532.14            1,296,911.74              35,620.40                     

Community Services 554,238.96                 659,353.42               367,053.60                 292,299.82                   

Fixed Capital Outlay:

Facilities Acquisition and Construction 288,956.42                 288,956.42               285,106.90                 3,849.52                       

Other Capital Outlay 13,054,048.85           13,054,048.85         13,038,623.37           15,425.48                     

Debt Service:

Principal -                               956,307.70               723,482.70                 232,825.00                   

Interest and Fiscal Charges -                               70,602.62                 53,427.62                   17,175.00                     

(Total Expenditures) 319,588,001.39         341,628,119.51       317,806,820.82         23,821,298.69             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over 
(Under) Expenditures (5,020,203.64)            (30,322,059.04)        (10,057,665.90)          20,264,393.14             

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers In 4,170,753.00             4,100,753.00            4,297,809.75              197,056.75                   

Transfers (Out) -                               (32,500.00)                (32,500.00)                  -                                 

Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets -                               70,000.00                 93,965.39                   23,965.39                     

Loan Proceeds -                               10,680,670.00         10,680,670.00           -                                 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 4,170,753.00             14,818,923.00         15,039,945.14           221,022.14                   

Net Change in Fund Balances (849,450.64)               (15,503,136.04)        4,982,279.24              20,485,415.28             

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 31,725,396.00           31,725,396.00         31,725,396.06           0.06                               
Fund Balances, End of Year 30,875,945.36$         16,222,259.96$       36,707,675.30$         20,485,415.34$           

Budgeted Amounts

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

GENERAL AND MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

General Fund

60

Page 258 of 441

DRAFT



Special Revenue - Food Service Fund

Actual Variance with 

Original Final Amounts Final Budget

Revenues

Intergovernmental:

Federal Through State and Local 13,476,644.00$          13,476,644.00$        11,267,515.02$        (2,209,128.98)$             

State 145,000.00                  145,000.00               166,266.00               21,266.00                       

Local:

Charges for Services - Food Service 4,162,430.00               4,157,430.00            3,281,222.86            (876,207.14)                   

Miscellaneous 10,000.00                     15,000.00                  74,773.64                  59,773.64                       

Total Revenues 17,794,074.00             17,794,074.00          14,789,777.52          (3,004,296.48)                

Expenditures

Current - Education 17,055,402.27             19,383,871.14          16,266,590.32          3,117,280.82                 

Fixed Capital Outlay:

Other Capital Outlay 459,969.73                  459,969.73               459,969.73               -                                   

(Total Expenditures) 17,515,372.00             19,843,840.87          16,726,560.05          3,117,280.82                 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over 
(Under) Expenditures 278,702.00                  (2,049,766.87)           (1,936,782.53)           112,984.34                    

Net Change in Fund Balances 278,702.00                  (2,049,766.87)           (1,936,782.53)           112,984.34                    

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 5,099,294.00               5,099,294.00            5,111,006.41            11,712.41                       

(Decrease) Increase in Inventory Reserve -                                 -                              119,811.33               119,811.33                    
Fund Balances, End of Year 5,377,996.00$             3,049,527.13$          3,294,035.21$          244,508.08$                  

Budgeted Amounts

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

GENERAL AND MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

61

Page 259 of 441

DRAFT



Special Revenue - Other Fund

Actual Variance with 

Original Final Amounts Final Budget

Revenues

Intergovernmental:

Federal Direct -$                              731,062.05$             152,252.17$             (578,809.88)$                 

Federal Through State and Local 17,942,206.55             21,251,463.32          14,681,681.23          (6,569,782.09)                

Miscellaneous -                                 -                              18,175.69                  18,175.69                       

Total Revenues 17,942,206.55             21,982,525.37          14,852,109.09          (7,130,416.28)                

Expenditures

Current - Education:

Instruction 10,148,011.49             13,100,408.33          8,710,438.19            4,389,970.14                 

Student Personnel Services 1,914,030.29               1,823,243.99            1,392,591.69            430,652.30                    

Instructional Media Services 11,024.53                     5,639.83                    2,066.11                    3,573.72                         

Instruction and Curriculum 

Development Services   2,228,803.40               2,241,376.36            1,909,300.27            332,076.09                    

Instructional Staff Training Services 2,508,820.18               3,044,890.79            1,958,693.42            1,086,197.37                 

Instruction-Related Technology -                                 403,813.80               1,144.00                    402,669.80                    

General Administration 634,870.12                  704,793.69               499,346.00               205,447.69                    

School Administration 87,151.93                     87,132.93                  75,991.61                  11,141.32                       

Central Services 32,605.96                     114,567.02               741.37                       113,825.65                    

Student Transportation Services 86,100.90                     165,870.88               77,379.68                  88,491.20                       

Operation of Plant 242,613.00                  242,613.00               176,242.00               66,371.00                       

Administrative Technology Services 3,000.00                       3,000.00                    3,000.00                    -                                   

Fixed Capital Outlay:

Other Capital Outlay 45,174.75                     45,174.75                  45,174.75                  -                                   

(Total Expenditures) 17,942,206.55             21,982,525.37          14,852,109.09          7,130,416.28                 

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over 
(Under) Expenditures -                                 -                              -                              -                                   

Net Change in Fund Balances -                                 -                              -                              -                                   

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year -                                 -                              -                              -                                   

(Decrease) Increase in Inventory Reserve -                                 -                              -                              -                                   
Fund Balances, End of Year -$                              -$                            -$                            -$                                 

Budgeted Amounts

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

GENERAL AND MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

62

Page 260 of 441

DRAFT



2020 2019 2018

Total OPEB Liability

Service Cost 447,382$             386,770$             418,487$             

Interest on the Total OPEB Plan Liability 200,672               171,035               133,076               

Difference Between Expected and Actual Experiences 469,785               (784,077)              570,023               

Changes of Assumptions (298,330)              1,194,874            (273,607)              

Benefit Payments (797,760)              (448,703)              (964,632)              

Net Change in Total OPEB Plan Liability 21,749                 519,899               (116,653)              

Total OPEB Plan Liability, Beginning 5,133,033            4,613,134            4,729,787            

Total OPEB Plan Liability, Ending 5,154,782$          5,133,033$          4,613,134$          

Covered-Employee Payroll 164,035,159$     124,672,310$     123,080,806$     

Total OPEB Liability as Percentage of Covered-

Employee Payroll 3.14% 4.12% 3.75%

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE DISTRICT'S 

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

* The District Implemented GASB Statement No. 75 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. As a result, this schedule will

present 10 years as information is available.

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

63

Page 261 of 441

DRAFT



2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually Required FRS Contributions 13,410,842$          12,086,721$          11,220,981$          10,449,452$          10,097,942$          11,169,189$          10,229,631$          

FRS Contributions in Relation to the

Contractually Required Contribution 13,410,842    12,086,721    11,220,981    10,449,452    10,097,942    11,169,189    10,229,631    

FRS Contributions Deficiency (Excess) -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             

District's Covered-Employee Payroll 202,201,335$        190,978,921$        186,148,834$        186,245,454$        182,993,112$        186,699,223$        157,292,662$        

FRS Contributions as a Percentage of 

Covered-Employee Payroll 6.63% 6.33% 6.03% 5.61% 5.52% 5.98% 6.50%

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually Required HIS Contributions 3,356,499$            3,169,486$            3,090,671$            3,074,448$            3,036,702$            2,351,792$            2,142,039$            

HIS Contributions in Relation to the

Contractually Required Contribution 3,356,499              3,169,486              3,090,671              3,074,448              3,036,702              2,351,792              2,142,039              

HIS Contributions Deficiency (Excess) -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             -$                             

District's Covered-Employee Payroll 202,201,335$        190,978,921$        186,148,834$        186,245,454$        182,993,112$        186,699,223$        186,136,123$        

HIS Contributions as a Percentage of 

Covered-Employee Payroll 1.66% 1.66% 1.66% 1.65% 1.66% 1.26% 1.15%

1 This exhibit will fill in to a ten-year schedule as results for new fiscal years are calculated.

HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY PENSION PLAN 
1

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM PENSION PLAN 1

SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S CONTRIBUTIONS

SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S CONTRIBUTIONS – FRS/HIS

64

Page 262 of 441

DRAFT



2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

District's Proportion of the FRS Net 

Pension Liability 0.389803501% 0.393729747% 0.401400834% 0.414077561% 0.458113222% 0.467015927% 0.474202722%

District's Proportionate Share of the FRS

Net Pension Liability 134,242,899$      118,593,441$      118,731,673$      104,554,909$      59,171,467$        28,494,839$        81,631,394$        

District's Covered-Employee Payroll 190,978,922        186,148,834        186,245,454        182,993,112        186,699,223        186,136,123        184,215,903        

District's Proportionate Share of the FRS

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage

of its Covered-Employee Payroll 70.29% 63.71% 63.75% 57.14% 31.69% 15.31% 44.31%

FRS Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a 

Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 82.61% 84.26% 83.89% 84.88% 92.00% 96.09% 88.54%

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

District's Proportion of the HIS Net 

Pension Liability 0.570780091% 0.569916461% 0.580929845% 0.592453790% 0.615229877% 0.625291587% 0.634342458%

District's Proportionate Share of the HIS

Net Pension Liability 63,864,580$        60,320,598$        62,115,699$        69,048,010$        62,743,770$        58,466,289$        55,227,851$        

District's Covered-Employee Payroll 190,978,922        186,148,834        186,245,454        182,993,112        186,699,223        186,136,123        184,215,903        

District's Proportionate Share of the HIS

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage

of its Covered-Employee Payroll 33.44% 32.40% 33.35% 37.73% 33.61% 31.41% 29.98%

HIS Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a 

Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 2.63% 2.15% 1.64% 0.97% 0.50% 0.99% 1.78%

1 This exhibit will fill in to a ten-year schedule as results for new fiscal years are calculated.

OF NET PENSION LIABILITY

HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY PENSION PLAN 1

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE

OF NET PENSION LIABILITY – FRS/HIS

FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM PENSION PLAN 1

SCHEDULE OF DISTRICT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE

65

Page 263 of 441

DRAFT



66 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
The Clay County District School Board (the Board) follows procedures established by State statues and 
State Board of Education (SBE) rules in establishing budget balances for governmental funds, as described 
below: 
 
 Budgets are prepared, public hearings are held, and original budgets are adopted annually for all 

governmental fund types in accordance with procedures and time intervals prescribed by law and SBE 
rules. 

 Appropriations are controlled at the object level (e.g., salaries, purchased services, and capital outlay) 
within each activity (e.g., instruction, student transportation services, and school administration) and 
may be amended by resolution at any Board meeting prior to the due date for the annual financial 
report. 

 Budgets are prepared using the same modified accrual basis as is used to account for governmental 
funds. 

 Budgetary information is integrated into the accounting system and, to facilitate budget control, 
budget balances are encumbered when purchase orders are issued.  Appropriations lapse at fiscal 
year-end and encumbrances outstanding are honored from the subsequent year’s appropriations.  

 
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS - OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 
 
 No assets are accumulated in a trust that meet the criteria in paragraph 4 of the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75 to pay related benefits. 
 Changes of Assumption – The municipal rate used to determine total OPEB liability was decreased 

from 3.87% to 3.51%. 
 
SCHEDULE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - FLORIDA RETIREMENT 
SYSTEM PENSION PLAN 
 
Changes of Assumption – The long-term expected rate of return decreased from 7.00% to 6.90% and the 
active member mortality assumption was updated. 
 
SCHEDULE OF NET PENSION LIABILITY AND SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS - HEALTH INSURANCE 
SUBSIDY PENSION PLAN 
 
Changes of Assumption – The municipal rate used to determine total pension liability was decreased from 
3.87% to 3.50%. 

 

Page 264 of 441

DRAFT



 

ADDITION ELEMENTS OF REPORTS PREPARED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS, ISSUED 

BY THE COMPTROLLER GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES; THE 
PROVISIONS OF OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET (OMB) 

UNIFORM GUIDANCE; AND RULES OF THE AUDITOR 
GENERAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

Page 265 of 441

DRAFT



Catalog of

Federal Pass-

Domestic Through Amount

Assistance Grantor Provided to Amount of

Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures (1)(2)

United States Department of Agriculture

Pass - Through

Florida Department of Education:

Child Nutrition Cluster:

School Breakfast Program 10.553 17002 -$                    1,801,365.03$       

National School Lunch Program 10.555 (3) 17001, 17003 -                      8,750,701.28         

Summer Food Service Program for Children 10.559 17006, 17007 -                      715,448.71             

Total Child Nutrition Cluster -                      11,267,515.02       

Total United States Department of Agriculture -                      11,267,515.02       

United States Department of Defense

Competitive Grants:  Promoting K-12 Student

Achievement at Military Connected Schools 12.556 HE 1254-15-1-0052 -                      152,252.17             

Navy Junior Reserve Officers Training Corps 12.UNK N/A -                      439,721.06             

Total United States Department of Defense -                      591,973.23             

United States Department of Justice

Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.607 N/A -                      11,749.05               

Total United States Department of Justice -                      11,749.05               

United States Department of Education

Impact Aid 84.041 (5) N/A -                      599,980.03             

Special Education Cluster:

Pass - Through

Florida Department of Education:

Special Education - Grants to States 84.027 262, 263 -                      6,912,117.53         

University of South Florida:

Special Education - Grants to States 84.027 1725104600 -                      1,418.43                 

Total Special Education Grants to States -                      6,913,535.96         

Special Education - Preschool Grants 84.173 267 -                      121,835.76             

Total Special Education Cluster -                      7,035,371.72         

Pass - Through

Florida Department of Education:

Adult Education - Basic Grants to States 84.002 191, 193 -                      275,377.93             

Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 84.010 212, 226 -                      5,214,112.32         

Career and Technical Education - Basic

Grants to States 84.048 161 -                      186,612.92             

Education for Homeless Children and Youth 84.196 127 -                      42,259.06               

Charter Schools 84.282 298 51,615.43          51,615.43               

Twenty-First Century Community Learning Centers 84.287 244 -                      271,799.95             

English Language Acquisition State Grants 84.365 102 -                      151,172.82             

Supporting Effective Instruction

State Grants 84.367 224 -                      917,870.86             

Student Support and Academic Enrichment 

Program 84.424 241 -                      350,996.38             

Hurricane Relief - Disaster Recovery Assistance for Education

Immediate Aid to Restart School Operations 84.938A 105, 107 -                      202,667.53             

Total United States Department of Education 51,615.43          15,299,836.95       

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program

Title

67

Page 266 of 441

DRAFT



Catalog of

Federal Pass-

Domestic Through Amount

Assistance Grantor Provided to Amount of

Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures (1)(2)

United States Department of Health and Human Services

Block Grants for Community Mental 

Health Services 93.958 N/A -$                    156,109.50$          

Block Grants for Prevention and Treatment of 

Substance Abuse 93.959 N/A -                      156,109.50             

Total United States Department of Health and Human Services -                      312,219.00             

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 51,615.43$        27,483,293.25$     

Notes:

Basis of Presentation:  

(1)    

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

(2)    

Non-Cash Assistance:

(3)    

Indirect Cost Rate Election:

(4)    

Impact Aid:

(5)    Expenditures include $470,560.49 for award number S041B-2020-1240 and $129,419.54 for award number S041B-2019-1240.

The District received a negotiated indirect cost rate for federal awards and state projects; therefore, the District did not elect to

charge de minimus rate of 10% for determining indirect cost amounts.

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program

Title

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Schedule) includes the Federal award activity of the Clay County District School

Board under programs of the Federal Government for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The information in this Schedule is

presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative

Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents

only a selected portion of the operations of the District, it is not intended to, and does not, present the financial position, change

in net position, or cash flows of the District.

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are

recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not

allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

National School Lunch Program - Includes $1,471,767 of donated food received during the fiscal year. Donated foods are valued

at fair value as determined at the time of donation.

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

68

Page 267 of 441

DRAFT



 

69 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS  

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN  
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Clay County District School Board and 
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Clay County District School Board 
(the District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated March 8, 2021.  Other auditors audited the financial statements of the aggregate discretely 
presented component unit as described in our report on the District’s financial statements.  This report 
does not include the results of the other auditor’s testing of internal control over financial reporting or 
compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Page 268 of 441

DRAFT



 

70 

Clay County District School Board and 
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS  

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN  
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s basic financial statements are free 
of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, non-compliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of non-compliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of the audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.   
 
 
 
March 8, 2021 
Ocala, Florida 
 

Page 269 of 441

DRAFT



 

71 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE  
FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL  

OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
 
Clay County District School Board and 
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited the Clay County District School Board’s (the District) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of the District’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.  The 
District’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
Management’s Responsibility 
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and 
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the District’s major federal programs 
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit 
of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in the Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether non-compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal 
program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the District’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination on the District’s compliance. 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for 
the year ended June 30, 2020.   

Page 270 of 441

DRAFT



 

72 

Clay County District School Board and 
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE  
FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL  

OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 
 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance  
Management of the District is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing 
our audit of compliance, we considered the District’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion 
on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance 
in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the District’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct non-compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material non-compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with 
a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first  
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be a material weakness.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
March 8, 2021 
Ocala, Florida 
 

Page 271 of 441

DRAFT



 

73 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 
 
SECTION I – SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 
 

Financial Statements 
 

Type of Auditor’s Report Issued:  Unmodified 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: 
 
 Material weakness(es) identified?  No 
 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  None reported 
 
 Non-compliance material to financial statements noted?  No 
 
Federal Awards 
 
Internal Control Over Major Federal Programs: 
 
 Material weakness(es) identified?  No 
   
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  No 
 
Type of Auditor’s Report Issued on Compliance for the 
 Major Federal Program:  Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be 
 reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?   No 
 
Identification of Major Federal Programs:  
 

Supporting Effective Instruction 
State Grants (CFDA No. 84.367) 
 
Title I Grants to Local Education 
Agencies (CFDA No. 84.010) 

 
Dollar Threshold Used to Distinguish Between 
 Type A and Type B Programs:  $824,499 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  Yes 
 

Page 272 of 441

DRAFT



 

74 

CLAY COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD - GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE  

 

 

SECTION II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 
Findings Related to the Basic Financial Statements Required to be Reported Under Generally Accepted 
Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS) 
 
The audit disclosed no findings, which are required to be reported under GAGAS. 
 
SECTION III – FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 
No matters reported. 
 
STATUS OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
 
 Finding No.   Program/Area   Brief Description   Status  

Report No. 2019  Special Education Cluster  The District’s purchasing policy did   Fully Corrected 

Finding No. 2019-1  (CFDA No. 84.027 and 84.173)  not adhere to the Uniform Guidance 

 for purchasing requirements. 

 The District updated their purchasing  

 policy to include requirements found 

 in the Uniform Guidance for  

 purchasing requirements. 

 

Page 273 of 441

DRAFT



 

75 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE 
WITH SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES 

 
 
Clay County District School Board and 
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
We have examined the Clay County District School Board’s (the District) compliance with the requirements 
of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, as required by Section 
10.556(10)(a), Rules of the Auditor General.  Management is responsible for the District’s compliance with 
those requirements.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion the District’s compliance based on our 
examination.   
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the District complied, in all material respects, 
with the requirements referenced above.  An examination involves performing procedures to obtain 
evidence about whether the District complied with the specified requirements.  The nature, timing, and 
extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgement, including an assessment on the risks of 
material non-compliance, whether due to fraud or error.  We believe that the evidence we obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis of our opinion.    
 
Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the District’s compliance with specified 
requirements.  
 
In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for 
the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing Committee, members 
of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, the District, 
its management, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 
 
 
 
March 8, 2021 
Ocala, Florida  

Page 274 of 441

DRAFT



 

76 

MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
 
Clay County District School Board and 
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the basic financial statements of the Clay County District School Board (the District), as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and have issued our report thereon March 8, 2021.  Other 
auditors audited the financial statements of the aggregate discretely presented component units, as 
described in our report on the District’s financial statements.  This letter does not include the results of 
the other auditor’s and such information related to that audit is reported on separately by those auditors.  
 
Auditors Responsibility 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); and Chapter 10.800, Rules of the Auditor General.   
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards, Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major 
Federal Program and on Internal Control over Compliance required by the Uniform Guidance, Schedule of 
Findings and Questioned Costs, and our Independent Accountant’s Report on an examination conducted 
in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Professional Standards, AT-C 
Section 315, regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.800, Rules of the Auditor 
General.  Disclosures in those reports and schedule, with are dated March 8, 2021, should be considered 
in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Year Audit Findings 
■ Section 10.804(1)(f)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 

corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding 
financial audit report.  Corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations 
made in the preceding annual financial report. 

 
 

Page 275 of 441

DRAFT



 

 77 

Clay County District School Board and 
 Superintendent 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 

MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
 
Financial Condition and Management 
■ Section 10.804(1)(f)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement be included as to whether 

or not the District has met one or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida 
Statutes, and identification of the specific condition(s) met.  In connection with our audit, we 
determined that the District did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), 
Florida Statutes. 

 
■ Pursuant to Sections 10.804(1)(f)5.a and 10.805(7), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 

condition assessment procedures for the District.  It is management’s responsibility to monitor the 
District’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on 
representations made by management and the review of financial information provided by the same. 

 
■ Section 10.804(1)(f)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 

recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not have 
such recommendations.  

 
Transparency 
■ Section 10.804(1)(f)6., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we report the results of our 

determination as to whether or not the District maintains on its Web site the information specified in 
Section 1011.035, Florida Statutes.  In connection with our audit, we determined that the District 
maintained on its Web site the information specified in Section 1011.035, Florida Statues.  

 
Additional Matters 
■ Section 10.804(1)(f)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address non-compliance with 

provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants 
the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not have any 
such findings. 

 
Purpose of this Letter 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Audit Committee, 
members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, 
Federal and other granting agencies, the District School Board Members, and applicable management and 
is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.   
 
 
 
March 8, 2021 
Ocala, Florida 
 

Page 276 of 441

DRAFT



78Page 277 of 441

DRAFT



 

1 

COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
 
 
To the Members of the Board 
Clay County District School Board 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate discreetly 
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Clay 
County District School Board (the District) for the year ended June 30, 2020, and have issued our report 
thereon dated March 8, 2021.  Other auditors audited the financial statements of the aggregate discretely 
presented component units as described in our report on the District’s financial statements.  Professional 
standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally 
accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, as well as 
certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such 
information in our letter to you dated April 20, 2020.  Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit: 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant 
accounting policies used by the District are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed for the year 
ended June 30, 2020.  We noted no transactions entered into by the governmental unit during the year 
for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant transactions have been 
recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions 
about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance 
to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected.  The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 
 
■ Management’s estimate of depreciation, which is based on the useful life of the asset. 
 
■ Management’s estimate of Other Postemployment Health Care Benefits (OPEB), which is based on 

actuarial valuations and assumptions. 
 
■ Management’s estimate of insurance claims payable, which is based on actuarial valuations and 

assumptions. 
 

Page 278 of 441

DRAFT



 

2 

To the Members of the Board 
Clay County District School Board 
 
■ Pension Actuarial Methods and Assumptions—As discussed in Note 6, the District has reported their 

proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability for their participation in the Florida Retirement 
System (FRS) and the Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS) as of June 30, 2020.  Financial and 
actuarial information was provided by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of 
Retirement.  The District’s proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability is derived from the District’s 
annual contributions in respect to total contributions received from all participating entities in the FRS. 

 
We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that they 
are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users.  The most sensitive disclosure affecting the financial statements was: 
 
■ The disclosure related to the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, which is more 

fully described in Note 8 of the financial statements.   
 
The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear.   
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management.  Management has corrected all such misstatements.  In addition, none of the 
misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were material, 
either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial 
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be 
significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such 
disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated March 8, 2021. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the District’s financial statements or a determination of the type 
of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 

Page 279 of 441

DRAFT



 

3 

To the Members of the Board 
Clay County District School Board 
 
The following is an audit matter that we would like to bring to the attention of management and Members 
of the Board: 
 
■ Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has recently issued two new and relatively 

significant accounting and financial reporting pronouncements which will become effective in the 
Districts 2021 and 2022 fiscal year ends; GASB Statement No. 84 – Fiduciary Activities and GASB 
Statement No. 87 – Leases.  

 
● GASB Statement No. 84, effective in 2021, deals with financial reporting of Fiduciary Activities and 

no longer permits the use of Agency Funds, which will require a change to the way the District has 
been reporting its Internal Accounts.  Depending upon the degree of administrative involvement 
(defined primarily as degree of spending control) maintained by the District, Internal Account 
activity will now be reported in either Fiduciary Custodial Accounts, the General Fund or possibly 
Special Revenue Funds.  We recommend that the District review the activities of the Internal 
Accounts and determine the level of administrative involvement/spending control that it would 
like to maintain, which will inform the financial reporting treatment of this activity under the new 
standard. 

 
● GASB Statement No. 87, effective in 2022 dealing with Leases, with certain exceptions, will now 

require that all long-term, non-cancelable leases be recorded as long-term liabilities on the 
balance sheet with a corresponding “right-to-use” asset, both of which will be reduced over the 
life of the lease agreement.  The District has many agreements which may meet the definition of 
a lease under the new standard, so we recommend that the District begin preparations to 
implement the new standard by making a list of all applicable lease agreements with their key 
terms such as duration, renewal options, payment amounts and escalation clauses, cancellability, 
etc., for evaluation under the new standard. 

 
Both GASB Statements noted above had their initial effective dates postponed by GASB Statement 
No 95. 

 
Other Matters 
We applied certain limited procedures to management’s discussion and analysis, budget, and the pension 
of other postemployment benefits schedules, which are required supplementary information (RSI) that 
supplements the basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We did not audit the RSI and do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
 
We were engaged to report on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, which accompany the 
financial statements but are not RSI.  With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information 
is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements.  We compared and 
reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 

Page 280 of 441

DRAFT



 

4 

To the Members of the Board 
Clay County District School Board 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards with management each year prior to retention as the District’s auditors.  However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information 
is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements.  We compared and 
reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 
Restriction on Use 
This information is intended solely for the use of Members of the Board and management of the District 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
We would like to thank the Board, the Superintendent, and your staff for the cooperation and courtesies 
extended to us during the course of the audit.  Please let us know if you have any questions or comments 
concerning this letter, accompanying reports, or other matters.  
 
 
 
March 8, 2021 
Ocala, Florida 

Page 281 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C10 - Charter School Audits for the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year

Description
Review the 2019-2020 Annual Audit report of the three Charter Schools operating under the Clay County School District.
Audits include Clay Charter Academy, Florida Virtual Academy at Clay, and St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc. 

Gap Analysis
A charter school is required to retain the services of a certified public accountant or auditor to conduct their annual financial
audit. The School Board as the sponsor shall review the final report.

Previous Outcomes
The School Board of Clay County received and reviewed the annual audit report of the Charter Schools.

Expected Outcomes
The School Board of Clay County will receive and review the annual audit report of the Charter Schools.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Review the final audit report for: Clay Charter Academy, Florida Virtual Academy at Clay and St. Johns Classical Academy,
Inc. 

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

St. Johns Classical Academy Audit Report 2020.pdf

Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay 2020  Audit Report.pdf

Clay Charter Academy Audit Report 2020.pdf

Page 282 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/st-johns-classical-academy-audit-report-2020.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/florida-cyber-charter-academy-at-clay-2020-audit-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/clay-charter-academy-audit-report-2020.pdf


ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the  

  District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

for the fiscal year ended JUNE 30, 2020 

King & Walker, CPAs, PL
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

 Certified Public Accountants 

Page 283 of 441

DRAFT



THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK.

Page 284 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PAGE 
NO.  

FINANCIAL SECTION 

Independent Auditor’s Report 1 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis – (Unaudited) 3 

Basic Financial Statements 

Government-Wide Financial Statements: 
Statement of Net Position 8 
Statement of Activities 9 

Fund Financial Statements: 
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 10 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement 

of Net Position 11 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -   

Governmental Funds 12 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 
 Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement  
 of Activities 13 
Notes to Financial Statements 14 

Required Supplementary Information 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund and Major Special  
 Revenue Fund (Unaudited) 26 
Note to Required Supplementary Information 27 

 COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial  
   Statements Performed in Accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards 28 

Management Letter as required by Rules of the Florida Auditor General,
 Chapter 10.850, Florida Statutes, Charter School Audits. 30 

Page 285 of 441

DRAFT



- 1 - 

Members:   2803 W. Busch Blvd Ste 106 
Florida Institute of CPAs Tampa, FL 33618 
American Institute of CPAs office (813) 892-4274 fax (813) 932-1913 
Government Audit Quality Center www.KingandWalker.com

Independent Auditor's Report  

To the Board of Directors of the St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc.,  
   a Charter School and Component Unit of the  
   District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc. 
(“School”), a charter school and component unit of the District School Board of Clay County, 
Florida, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Governmental Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the School’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

Page 286 of 441

DRAFT



- 2 - 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the School, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in 
financial position thereof for the year ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the Budgetary Comparison Schedule, and Note to 
Required Supplementary Information, as shown in the table of contents, be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers 
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historic context.  We have applied certain limited procedures 
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
September 4, 2020 on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Respectfully submitted, 

September 4, 2020 
Tampa, Florida 

Page 287 of 441

DRAFT



- 3 - 

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited)
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) section of the annual financial report of the 
St Johns Classical Academy, Inc., (“School”) provides an overview of the School’s activities for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 

Because the information contained in the MD&A is intended to highlight significant transactions, 
events, and conditions, it should be considered in conjunction with the School’s financial 
statements and notes to financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.   

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the School’s revenues exceeded expenses as shown 
on the School’s statement of activities by $250,047.   

 As shown on the statement of net position, the School reported an unrestricted net position 
balance of $441,737. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The basic financial statements consist of three components:  

 Government-wide financial statements 

 Fund financial statements 

 Notes to financial statements 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements provide both short-term and long-term information 
about the School’s overall financial condition in a manner similar to those of a private-sector 
business.  The statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities that are 
designed to provide consolidated financial information about the governmental activities of the 
School presented on the accrual basis of accounting.  The statement of net position provides 
information about the government’s financial position, its assets and liabilities, using an economic 
resources measurement focus.  The difference between the assets and liabilities, the net position, 
is a measure of the financial health of the School.  The statement of activities presents information 
about the change in the School’s net position and the results of operations, during the fiscal year.  
An increase or decrease in net position is an indication of whether the School’s financial health is 
improving or deteriorating.  To assess the overall financial position of the School, one needs to 
consider additional non-financial factors such as changes in the School student base funding level. 

Page 288 of 441

DRAFT



- 4 - 

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited)
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Fund Financial Statements 

Fund financial statements are one of the components of the basic financial statements.  A fund is 
a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives.  Fund financial statements provide more detailed 
information about the School’s financial activities, focusing on its most significant funds rather 
than fund types.  This is in contrast to the entity-wide perspective contained in the government-
wide statements.    

Governmental Funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, the 
governmental funds utilize a spendable financial resources measurement focus rather than the 
economic resources measurement focus found in the government-wide financial statements.  The 
financial resources measurement focus allows the governmental fund statements to provide 
information on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources as well as balances of 
spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.   

The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view that may be used to evaluate 
the School’s near-term financing requirements.  This short-term view is useful when compared to 
the long-term view presented as governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.  To facilitate this comparison, both the governmental funds balance sheet and the 
governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a 
reconciliation of governmental fund to governmental activities.   

The governmental funds balance sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in 
fund balances provide detailed information about the School’s most significant funds.  The School 
operates the following funds: a General Fund to account for its general operations and internal 
account activities; a Debt Service Fund to account for and report financial resources that are 
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for principal and interest; a Capital Projects 
Fund to account for financial resources that are restricted, committed or assigned to expenditures 
for capital outlays; and a Special Revenue Fund to account for Federal grant programs.  All funds 
are considered major funds for reporting purposes. 

The School adopts an annual budget for its governmental funds. A budgetary comparison schedule, 
as required, has been provided for the General Fund and Major Special Revenue Fund to 
demonstrate compliance with the budget.  

Notes to Financial Statements 

The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full understanding of the data 
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  

Page 289 of 441

DRAFT



- 5 - 

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited)

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

The following is a summary of the School’s current year and prior year net position: 

6-30-19 6-30-20

Increase 

(Decrease)
ASSETS

Current and Other Assets 481,790$        1,487,132$     1,005,342$     
Capital Assets, net 11,157,014 10,858,608 (298,406)

Total Assets 11,638,804 12,345,740 706,936

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 422,911 953,593 530,682
Long Term Liabilities 12,391,207 12,317,414 (73,793)
Total Liabilities 12,814,118 13,271,007 456,889

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets (1,234,193) (1,458,806) (224,613)
Restricted for Debt Service 116,834 91,802 (25,032)
Unrestricted (57,955) 441,737 499,692

Total Net Position (1,175,314)$   (925,267)$      250,047$        

Governmental Activities

Net Position, End of Year

The current assets of the School primarily consist of cash & cash equivalents and restricted 
investments for the School’s bonded debt.  Capital assets consist of land, buildings, improvements 
other than buildings, and furniture, fixtures, and equipment.  Current liabilities consist of accrued 
salaries and benefits payable, a line of credit, a loan payable, and accounts payable to vendors.  
Long-Term liabilities consist of outstanding bonded debt. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the School reported an unrestricted net position balance 
of $441,737. 

Page 290 of 441

DRAFT



- 6 - 

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited)
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

The following is a summary of the School’s change in net position for the current year and prior 
year: 

6-30-19 6-30-20

Increase 

(Decrease)

Revenues:
  Federal Through State and Local 191,047$          84,787$            (106,260)$         
  State Sources 3,943,752 5,021,293 1,077,541
  Local and Other 153,099 194,935 41,836

Total Revenues 4,287,898 5,301,015 1,013,117

Expenses:
  Instruction 2,879,528 2,755,163 (124,365)
  Student Personnel Services 54,667 27,174 (27,493)
  Instructional Staff Training 1,010 4,308 3,298
  Instructional-Related Technology 93,794 13,942 (79,852)
  Board of Education 128,485 1,395 (127,090)
  School Administration 333,878 508,219 174,341
  Fiscal Services 117,116 58,459 (58,657)
  Food Services 13,976 40 (13,936)
  Operation of Plant 245,620 284,366 38,746
  Maintenance of Plant 8,203 5,056 (3,147)
  Community Service 8,446 107,351 98,905
  Debt Service - Interest & Fiscal Charges 995,574 929,568 (66,006)
  Unallocated Depreciation 127,068 355,927 228,859

  Total Expenses 5,007,365 5,050,968 43,603

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Position (719,467)$          250,047$           969,514$           

Governmental Activities
Operating Results for the Year

Revenues from State sources (95%) are primarily received through the Florida Education Finance 
Program (FEFP) funding formula. The FEFP formula utilizes student enrollment data to determine the 
funds available for the School. The largest concentrations of expenses were for Instruction related 
functions (55%) and Debt Service (18%).    

Page 291 of 441

DRAFT



- 7 - 

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited)

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL’S FUNDS 

Governmental Funds 

As the School completed the year, its governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of 
$533,539. 

CAPITAL ASSETS 

The School’s capital assets for its governmental activities as of June 30, 2020, amounts to 
$10,858,608 (net of accumulated depreciation).  This investment in capital assets includes land, 
buildings, improvements other than buildings, and furniture, fixtures, and equipment. Additional 
information regarding the School’s capital assets can be found in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

DEBT 

On December 1, 2017, the School issued revenue bonds in the amount of $12,565,000 to fund the 
acquisition and renovation of educational facilities. The bonds will be repaid incrementally over 
the next 30 years.   

In the 2019-20 fiscal year the School received a Paycheck Protection Loan (PPP) under the CARES 
Act amounting to $547,200 to be used for payroll costs and health care benefits.  This loan is 
expected to be forgiven or repaid during the 2020-21 fiscal year.  Additional information regarding 
the School’s long-term and short-term debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements. 

BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

The budgets for each fund (General Fund and Special Revenue Fund) for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2020, were developed based on the School’s anticipated revenues and expenditures and 
the expected student population for the school year.  Over the course of the year, the school revised 
each fund’s budget.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the actual expenditures were equal 
to the final budget.  Refer to the Budgetary Comparison Schedule for additional information 
regarding the General Fund and Major Special Revenue Fund budgets.   

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET 

Facts, decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on the financial position 
or results of operations of the School in fiscal year 2020-21 include: 

 Continued funding from FEFP. 

 Expected increase in enrollment. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the St. Johns Classical Academy, 
Inc.’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests 
for additional financial information should be addressed to St. Johns Classical Academy, 7100 
U.S. 17 South, Fleming Island, FL 32003. 

Page 292 of 441

DRAFT



Current Assets:

Cash & Cash Equivalents $ 1,367,651         

Investments - Restricted 91,802              

Due From Other Agencies 22,551              

Prepaid Expenses and Deposits 5,128                

Capital Assets:

Land 1,385,000         

Buildings, Net 9,295,690         

Improvements Other Than Buildings, Net 79,939              

Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment, Net 97,979              

Total Capital Assets, Net 10,858,608       

TOTAL  ASSETS 12,345,740       

Accounts Payable 108,239            

Salaries and Benefits Payable 198,154            

Loan Payable 547,200            

Line of Credit 100,000            

Long Term Liabilities:

Due within one year - Bonds Payable 85,000              

Due after one year - Bonds Payable 12,232,414       

TOTAL  LIABILITIES 13,271,007       

Net Investment in Capital Assets (1,458,806)        

Restricted for Debt Service 91,802              

Unrestricted 441,737            

TOTAL NET POSITION $ (925,267)           

NET POSITION

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2020

Activities

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

Governmental

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 8 -

Page 293 of 441

DRAFT



Governmental Activities:

Instruction $ 2,755,163    $ -               $ 65,374          $ -                $ (2,689,789)        

Student Personnel Services 27,174         (27,174)             

Instructional Staff Training 4,308           2,958            (1,350)               

Instructional-Related Technology 13,942         7,706            (6,236)               

Board of Education 1,395           (1,395)               

School Administration 508,219       (508,219)           

Fiscal Services 58,459         (58,459)             

Food Services 40                (40)                    

Operation of Plant 284,366       8,749            (275,617)           

Maintenance of Plant 5,056           (5,056)               

Community Service 107,351       20,703         (86,648)             

Debt Service - Interest & Fiscal Charges 929,568       340,900        (588,668)           

Unallocated Depreciation 355,927       (355,927)           

Total Governmental Activities $ 5,050,968    $ 20,703         $ 84,787          $ 340,900        (4,604,578)        

General Revenues:

State Sources 4,682,690         

Local and Other 171,935            

Total General Revenues 4,854,625         

Change in Net Position 250,047            

Net Position - July 1, 2019 (1,175,314)        

Net Position - June 30, 2020 $ (925,267)           

Capital

Grants and 

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Net (Expenses)

Revenue

and Changes in

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Program Revenues

Expenses

Services Contributions

Net Position

Governmental

Activities

Charges

for

Operating

Grants and 

Contributions

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 9 -Page 294 of 441

DRAFT



Cash & Cash Equivalents $ 1,367,651    $ -           $ -             $ -           $ 1,367,651    

Investments - Restricted 91,802     91,802         

Due From Other Agencies 22,551     22,551         

Due From Other Funds 22,551         22,551         

Prepaid Expenses and Deposits 5,128           5,128           

Total Assets $ 1,395,330    $ 91,802     $ -             $ 22,551     $ 1,509,683    

Accounts Payable $ 108,239       $ -           $ -             $ -           $ 108,239       

Salaries and Benefits Payable 198,154       198,154       

Due to Other Funds 22,551     22,551         

Loan Payable 547,200       547,200       

Line of Credit 100,000       100,000       

Total Liabilities 953,593       -           -             22,551     976,144       

Nonspendable 5,128           5,128           

Restricted for Debt Service 91,802     -             91,802         

Unassigned 436,609       436,609       

Total Fund Balances 441,737       91,802     -             -           533,539       

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 1,395,330    $ 91,802     $ -             $ 22,551     $ 1,509,683    

Debt

Service

Special

Revenue

FundFund

FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

ASSETS

June 30, 2020

General

Fund

Capital

Projects

Fund

Total

Governmental

Activities

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 10 -

Page 295 of 441

DRAFT



Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 533,539           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of

  net position are different because:

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period

and, therefore, are not reported as liabilities in the governmental

funds. Long-term liabilities at year-end consist of a notes payable. (12,317,414)    

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, used in

governmental activities are not financial resources and

therefore, are not reported as assets in governmental funds. 10,858,608      

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities $ (925,267)         

June 30, 2020

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 11 -

Page 296 of 441

DRAFT



Intergovernmental:

Federal Through State and Local $ -            $ -               $ -               $ 84,787      $ 84,787           

State Sources 4,682,690  338,603        5,021,293      

Local and Other 192,638     2,297            194,935         

Total Revenues 4,875,328  2,297            338,603        84,787      5,301,015      

Current - Education:

Instruction 2,689,789  65,374      2,755,163      

Student Personnel Services 27,174       27,174           

Instructional Staff Training 1,350         2,958        4,308             

Instructional-Related Technology 6,236         7,706        13,942           

Board of Education 1,395         1,395             

School Administration 508,219     508,219         

Fiscal Services 58,459       58,459           

Food Services 40              40                  

Operation of Plant 275,617     8,749        284,366         

Maintenance of Plant 5,056         5,056             

Community Service 107,351     107,351         

Fixed Capital Outlay:

Facilities Acquisition & Construction 49,620       49,620           

Other Capital Outlay 7,901         7,901             

Debt Service:

Principal 80,000          80,000           

Interest & Fiscal Charges 18,605       566,153        338,603        923,361         

Total Expenditures 3,756,812  646,153        338,603        84,787      4,826,355      

1,118,516  (643,856)      -               474,660         

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers In 338,603     957,427        338,603        1,634,633      

Transfers (Out) (957,427)    (338,603)      (338,603)      (1,634,633)     

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (618,824)    618,824        -               -                

Net Change in Fund Balances 499,692     (25,032)        -               474,660         

Fund Balances, July 1, 2019 (57,955)     116,834        58,879           

Fund Balances, June 30, 2020 $ 441,737     $ 91,802          $ -               $ -           $ 533,539         

Funds

Debt
Service
Fund

Special
Revenue

Fund

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.

IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over 

Expenditures

Revenues

Expenditures

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

General
Fund

Capital
Projects

Fund

Total
Governmental

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 12 -

Page 297 of 441

DRAFT



Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 474,660           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities

are different because:

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures.

However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is

allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.

This is the amount of depreciation expense ($355,927) in excess of

capital outlay ($57,521) in the current period. (298,406)         

Governmental funds report the effect of bond discounts when debt is

first issued, whereas these amounts are amortized in the statement

of activities.  This amount is the bond discount in the treatment of

long-term debt and related items. (6,207)             

Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, 

but the payment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of 

net position. 80,000             

Change in Net Position - Governmental Activities $ 250,047           

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 13 -

Page 298 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 14 - 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 Reporting Entity 

St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc. (“School”) is a not-for-profit corporation 
organized pursuant to Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, the Florida Not-For-Profit 
Corporation Act.  The governing body of the School is the not-for-profit 
corporation Board of Directors, which is comprised of not less than three members. 

The general operating authority of the School is contained in Section 1002.33, 
Florida Statutes.  The School operates under a charter of the sponsoring school 
district, the District School Board of Clay County, Florida, (“District”).  The current 
charter is effective until June 30, 2022 and is subject to annual review and may be 
renewed by mutual agreement between the School and the District.  At the end of 
the term of the charter, the District may choose not to renew the charter under 
grounds specified in the charter.  In this case, the District is required to notify the 
school in writing at least 90 days prior to the charter’s expiration. During the term 
of the charter, the District may also terminate the charter if good cause is shown. In 
the event of termination of the charter, the District shall assume operation of the 
School.  The School is considered a component unit of the District; therefore, for 
financial reporting purposes, the School is required to follow generally accepted 
accounting principles applicable to state and local governmental units. 

Criteria for determining if other entities are potential component units which should 
be reported within the School's basic financial statements are identified and 
described in the Governmental Accounting Standards Board's (GASB) 
Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, 
Sections 2100 and 2600.  The application of these criteria provides for identification 
of any entities for which the School is financially accountable and other 
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the 
School are such that exclusion would cause the School's basic financial statements 
to be misleading or incomplete.  Based on these criteria, no component units are 
included within the reporting entity of the School. 

 Basis of Presentation 

Government-wide Financial Statements - Government-wide financial statements, 
including the statement of net position and the statement of activities, present 
information about the School as a whole.   

Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources 
measurement focus.  The statement of activities presents a comparison between 
direct expenses and program revenues for each function or program of the School’s 
governmental activities.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated 
with a service, program, or department and are thereby clearly identifiable to a 
particular function.   

Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services 
offered by the program and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting 
the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are 

Page 299 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 15 - 

not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues. The 
comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which 
each governmental function is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of 
the School. 

Fund Financial Statements - Fund financial statements report detailed information 
about the School in the governmental funds.  The focus of governmental fund 
financial statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by type.  Each 
major fund is reported in a separate column.  Because the focus of governmental 
fund financial statements differs from the focus of government-wide financial 
statements, a reconciliation is presented with each of the governmental fund 
financial statements. 

The School’s major governmental funds are as follows:

 General Fund – to account for all financial resources not required to be 
accounted for in another fund, and for certain revenues from the State that are 
legally restricted to be expended for specific current operating purposes.

 Debt Service Fund – to account for and report financial resources that are 
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for principal and interest. 

 Capital Projects Fund – to account for financial resources that are restricted, 
committed or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays. 

 Special Revenue Fund – to account for Federal grant programs. 

 Basis of Accounting 

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures, or expenses, are 
recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of 
accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the 
measurement focus applied.  

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting.  Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized 
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  
Revenues from grants, entitlements, and donations are recognized in the fiscal year 
in which all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been satisfied.   

Governmental fund financial statements are prepared using the modified accrual 
basis of accounting.  Revenues, except for certain grant revenues, are recognized 
when they become measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be 
available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  The School considers revenues to 
be available if they are collected within 30 days of the end of the current fiscal year.  
When grant terms provide that the expenditure of resources is the prime factor for 
determining eligibility for Federal, State, and other grant resources, revenue is 
recognized at the time the expenditure is made.  Under the modified accrual basis 
of accounting, expenditures are generally recognized when the related fund liability 
is incurred, except for principal and interest on long-term debt, claims and 

Page 300 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 16 - 

judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized when due.  
Allocations of cost, such as depreciation, are not recognized in governmental funds.   

 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as demand deposits, money market accounts, 
and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from 
date of acquisition.  The School considers all demand accounts and money market 
funds which are not subjected to withdrawal restrictions to be cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Cash deposits consist of demand deposits with financial institutions.  Deposits on 
hand at financial institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Company 
up to $250,000.  

 Investments  

The School had not adopted a written investment policy.  Therefore, pursuant to 
Florida Statutes, the School is authorized to invest in the Florida PRIME investment 
pool, administered by the State Board of Administration (SBA); Securities and 
Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit 
quality rating from a nationally recognized rating agency; interest-bearing time 
deposits and savings accounts in qualified public depositories, as defined by 
Section 280.02, Florida Statutes; and direct obligations of the United States 
Treasury.  

The School’s investments are set aside to make debt service payments, maintain 
sinking or reserve funds, and to purchase or construct capital assets and are 
classified as restricted.  These investments are reported as restricted in the 
Statement of Net Position and in the Debt Service Fund in the Balance Sheet – 
Governmental Funds. 

 Capital Assets 

Expenditures for capital assets acquired or constructed for general School purposes 
are reported in the governmental fund that financed the acquisition or construction. 
The capital assets so acquired are reported at cost in the government-wide statement 
of net position but are not reported in the governmental fund financial statements.  
Capital assets are defined by the School as those costing more than $1,000. Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or 
constructed.  Donated assets are recorded at fair value at the date of donation.   

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following 
estimated useful lives:  

Description Estimated Lives
Buildings 10 - 30  years
Improvements Other Than Buildings 10 - 15 years
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 5 - 10  years

Page 301 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 17 - 

 Noncurrent Liabilities 

Long-term obligations that will be financed by resources to be received in the future 
by the general fund are reported in the government-wide financial statements, not 
in the general fund.  Capital improvement debt is reported net of unamortized 
discount. The School amortizes debt discounts over the life of the debt using the 
straight-line method. Current-year information relative to changes in long-term 
debt is described in subsequent notes. 

 Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial 
statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net 
position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow 
of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The School does not have any items 
that qualify for reporting in this category. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until then.  The School does not have any items that qualify for reporting 
in this category. 

 Net Position and Fund Balance Classification

Government-wide Financial Statements 

Net Position are classified and reported in three components: 

 Net Investment in Capital Assets – consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, and reduced by the outstanding balances of any 
borrowings that are attributed to the acquisition or improvement of those 
assets. 

 Restricted Net Position – consists of net position with constraints placed on 
their use either by external groups such as creditors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of other governments. 

 Unrestricted Net Position – all other net position that does not meet the 
definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 

Fund Financial Statements 

GASB Codification Section 1800.142, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental 
Fund Type Definitions, defines the different types of fund balances that a 
governmental entity must use for financial reporting purposes.  GASB requires the 
fund balance amounts to be reported within one of the following fund balance 
categories: 

 Nonspendable – fund balance associated with inventories, prepaid 
expenses, long-term loans and notes receivable, and property held for resale 

Page 302 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 18 - 

(unless the proceeds are restricted, committed or assigned).  All 
nonspendable fund balances at year end relate to assets that are in 
nonspendable form. 

 Restricted – fund balance that can be spent only for the specific purposes 
stipulated by the constitution, external resource providers, or through 
enabling legislation. 

 Committed – fund balance that can be used only for the specific purposes 
determined by a formal action of the School’s Board of Governance. 

 Assigned – fund balance that is intended to be used by the School’s 
management for specific purposes but does not meet the criteria to be 
classified as restricted or committed. 

 Unassigned – fund balance that is the residual amount for the School’s 
general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other 
classifications. 

 Order of Fund Balance Spending Policy

The School’s policy is to apply expenditures against nonspendable fund balance, 
restricted fund balance, committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and 
unassigned fund balance at the end of the fiscal year.  First, nonspendable fund 
balances are determined.  Then restricted fund balances for specific purposes are 
determined (not including nonspendable amounts).  Any remaining fund balance 
amounts for the non-general funds are to be classified as restricted fund balance.  It 
is possible for the non-general funds to be classified as restricted fund balance.  It 
is possible for the non-general funds to have negative unassigned fund balance 
when nonspendable amounts plus the amount of restricted fund balances for 
specific purposes exceed the positive fund balance for non-general fund.

 Revenue Sources 

Revenues for current operations are received primarily from the District pursuant 
to the funding provisions included in the School’s charter.  In accordance with the 
funding provisions of the charter and Section 1002.33(17), Florida Statutes, the 
School reports the number of full-time equivalent students and related data to the 
District.  

Under provisions of Section 1011.62, Florida Statutes, the District reports the 
number of full-time equivalent students and related data to the Florida Department 
of Education (FDOE) for funding through the Florida Education Finance Program 
(FEFP).  Funding for the School is adjusted during the year to reflect the revised 
calculations by the FDOE under the FEFP and the actual weighted full-time 
equivalent students (FTE) reported by the School during designated full-time 
equivalent student survey periods.  The Department may also adjust subsequent 
fiscal period allocations based upon an audit of the School's compliance in 
determining and reporting FTE and related data.  Normally, such adjustments are 

Page 303 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 19 - 

treated as reductions or additions of revenue in the year when the adjustments are 
made. 

The basic amount of funding through the FEFP under Section 1011.62 is the 
product of the (1) unweighted FTE, multiplied by (2) the cost factor for each 
program, multiplied by (3) the base student allocation established by the legislature. 
Additional funds for exceptional students who do not have a matrix of services are 
provided through the guaranteed allocation designated in Section 1011.62(1)(e)2., 
Florida Statutes. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the School reported 
671.32 unweighted FTE and 706.33 weighted FTE. 

FEFP funding may also be adjusted as a result of subsequent FTE audits conducted 
by the Florida Auditor General pursuant to Section 1010.305, Florida Statutes, and 
Rule 6A-1.0453, Florida Administrative Code (FAC).  Schools are required to 
maintain the following documentation for three years or until the completion of an 
FTE audit: 

 Attendance and membership documentation (Rule 6A-1.044, FAC). 
 Teacher certificates and other certification documentation (Rule 6A-1.0503, 

FAC). 
 Documentation for instructors teaching out-of-field (Rule 6A-1.0503, FAC). 
 Procedural safeguards for weighted programs (Rule 6A-6.03411, FAC). 
 Evaluation and planning documents for weighted programs (Section 1010.305, 

Florida Statutes, and Rule 6A-6.03411, FAC). 

The School receives federal or state awards for the enhancement of various 
educational programs.  This assistance is generally received based on applications 
submitted to and approved by various granting agencies.  For federal or state awards 
in which a claim to these grant proceeds is based on incurring eligible expenditures, 
revenue is recognized to the extent that eligible expenditures have been incurred. 

The School receives state funds through the District under charter school capital 
outlay funding pursuant to Section 1013.62, Florida Statutes.  Funds are based upon 
a capital outlay plan submitted to the District and are to be used for lease, rent or 
construction of school facilities. The School also receives funding through 
donations and fundraising efforts, school lunch sales and local property tax 
collections.   

The School follows the policy of applying restricted resources prior to applying 
unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both 
restricted and unrestricted assets are available.

 Income Taxes 

The School is exempt from Federal tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code.  Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in 
the accompanying financial statements.  Additionally, no uncertain tax positions 
have been made requiring disclosure in the related notes to financial statements.  
The School’s income tax returns for the past three years are subject to examination 
by tax authorities and may change upon examination.  

Page 304 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 20 - 

 Use of Estimates 

In preparing the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States management is required to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
as of the date of the statement of net position and affect revenues and expenditures 
for the period presented.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated all events subsequent to the balance sheet date and 
through the report date, which is the date these financial statements were available 
to be issued.  Management is currently evaluating the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the industry and has concluded that while it is reasonably possible that 
the virus could have a negative effect on the Organization’s financial position, 
results of its operations and/or cash flows, the specific impact is not readily 
determinable as of the date of these financial statements. The financial statements 
do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this 
uncertainty.   

2. CASH DEPOSITS 

Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event 
of a bank failure, the School’s deposits may not be returned to the School. The School 
does not have a custodial credit risk policy. Deposits on hand at financial institutions are 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Company (FDIC) up to $250,000. As of  
June 30, 2020, the School was exposed to custodial risk.  One of the School’s bank 
accounts exceed the FDIC insured amount by $895,314 

3. DUE FROM OTHER AGENCIES 

The amount due from other agencies included in the accompanying statement of net 
position and balance sheet – governmental funds consists of revenue receivable for 
reimbursements for Federal grants recorded in the Special Revenue Fund. These 
receivables are considered to be fully collectible and as such, no allowance for 
uncollectible accounts has been established. 

4. INVESTMENTS 

The School categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy 
established by generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on the 
valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable 
inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.

All of the School’s recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2020 are valued using 
quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).  

Page 305 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 21 - 

The School’s investments at June 30, 2020, are reported as follows: 

Investment Amount

Regions Bank - Morgan Stanley Institutional 

Liquidity Funds - Treasury Portfolio 91,802$            

    Total 91,802$            

This investment is reported as a cash equivalent for financial statement reporting purposes. 

5. CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS 

Changes in capital assets are presented in the table below. 

Beginning Ending

Balance Additions Deletions Balance

Governmental Activities:

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:

Land 1,385,000$     -$                  $ 1,385,000$       
Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 1,385,000 - - 1,385,000

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:
Buildings 9,724,717 3,292 9,728,009

Improvements Other Than Buildings 57,500 28,500 86,000

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 119,595 25,729 145,324

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 9,901,812 57,521 - 9,959,333

Less Accumulated Depreciation for:

Buildings (108,052) (324,267) (432,319)

Improvements Other Than Buildings (1,278) (4,783) (6,061)

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment (20,468) (26,877) (47,345)

Total Accumulated Depreciation (129,798) (355,927) - (485,725)

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, net 9,772,014 (298,406) - 9,473,608
Governmental Activities Capital Assets, net 11,157,014$  (298,406)$       -$              10,858,608$    

All depreciation expense was shown as unallocated on the statement of activities.

6. LINE OF CREDIT 

The School has established a line of credit of $200,000. The School received the funds 
from the line of credit in June 2020.  As of June 30, 2020, the balance of their line of credit 
is as follows: 

Fidelity Bank

Balance at       

6-30-20

$200,000 Unsecured line of credit loan initiated 6-3-19, to cover costs of

operations. Interest rate of 4.5% per annum. Interest is payable monthly. In

the event of default for non-payment, all principal and interest shall be

immediately due and payable unless waived by the lender. 100,000$      

Page 306 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 22 - 

7. LOAN PAYABLE 

The School was granted a loan from AmerisBank in May 2020 in the amount of $547,200, 
pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) under Division A, Title I of the 
CARES Act, which was enacted March 27, 2020. 

The Loan, which was in the form of a Note dated May 15, 2020, matures on May 15, 2022 
and bears interest at a rate of 1% per annum, payable monthly commencing on December 
15, 2020. The Note may be prepaid by the School at any time prior to maturity with no 
prepayment penalties. Funds from the Loan may only be used for payroll costs, costs used 
to continue group health care benefits, mortgage payments, rent, utilities, and interest on 
other debt obligations incurred before February 15, 2020. The School intends to use the 
entire Loan amount for qualifying expenses. Under the terms of the PPP, certain amounts 
of the Loan may be forgiven if they are used for qualifying expenses as described in the 
CARES Act. 

8. BONDS PAYABLE 

Bonds payable at June 30, 2020, are as follows: 

Amount Interest Annual

Bond Type Outstanding Rates Maturity To

Revenue Bonds:

Series 2017A 12,215,000$  7.0 percent 2047

Series 2017B 270,000 7.5 percent 2023

less: Unamortized Bond Discount (167,586)

Total Bonds Payable 12,317,414$  

Revenue Bonds Series 2017A and 2017B – On December 1, 2017, the School issued 
tax-exempt revenue bonds (Series 2017A) for $12,215,000 and taxable revenue bonds 
(Series 2017B) for $350,000 secured by a mortgage on the School’s property and 
buildings. The bonds were issued to finance the acquisition of land with an existing 
building and to finance the construction, improvement, installation, and equipping 
purchase of the new educational facility.    

Series 2017A bonds are term bonds paying interest quarterly at a rate of 7% and 
principal payments semi-annually with maturities starting December 15, 2023, and 
ending June 15, 2047. Series 2017B bonds are term bonds paying interest quarterly at 
a rate of 7.5% and principal payments semi-annually with maturities starting  
December 15, 2019, and ending June 15, 2023.  

As required by the bond resolution, the District has established a sinking fund and 
reserve account and has accumulated and maintained adequate resources in the sinking 
fund and reserve account.  

In the event of default for non-payment of principal or interest on the bonds, the 
outstanding amounts will become due and payable. The School is required to disclose 
its debt service coverage ratio and days cash on hand as described in the Loan 
Agreement. The minimum debt service coverage ratio is 1 to 1 (the “debt Service 

Page 307 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 23 - 

Coverage Requirement”) as of June 30, 2020.  The calculated Debt Service Coverage 
requirement was 1.56 to 1 as of June 30, 2020.  Further, the School agrees to have cash 
on hand at June 30, 2020 and each June 30 until the bonds are no longer outstanding in 
an amount not less than 30 days cash on hand at each June 30.  The calculated days 
cash on hand was 133 days as of June 30, 2020. 

Annual requirements to amortize all bonded debt outstanding as of June 30, 2020, are 
as follows:

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30: Total Principal Interest

2021        958,613          85,000        873,613 

2022        957,238          90,000        867,238 

2023        955,488          95,000        860,488 

2024        987,775        135,000        852,775 

2025        988,150        145,000        843,150 

2026-30      4,888,725        845,000      4,043,725 

2031-35      4,862,375      1,190,000      3,672,375 

2036-40      4,831,675      1,685,000      3,146,675 

2041-45      4,781,075      2,375,000      2,406,075 

2046-47      6,675,900      5,985,000        690,900 

Less: Unamortized 

Bond Discount       (167,586)       (167,586) -

Total  $30,719,427  $12,462,414  $18,257,013 

9. CHANGES IN LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities: 

Beginning Ending Due in 

Balance Additions Deductions Balance One Year

Governmental Activities:

  Bonds Payable 12,565,000$ -$             (80,000)$    12,485,000$ 85,000$      

  Unamortized Discount (173,793) - 6,207 (167,586)

Total Bonds Payable 12,391,207 - (73,793) 12,317,414 85,000

Total Governmental Activities 12,391,207$ -$             (73,793)$    12,317,414$ 85,000$      

10. INTERFUND TRANSFERS AND DUE TO/FROM OTHER FUNDS 

At June 30, 2020, the Special Revenue Fund owed the General Fund $22,551 for 
unreimbursed Special Revenue Fund grant expenses paid by the General Fund. In addition, 
the General Fund transferred to the Debt Service Fund $957,427 for bond principal and 
interest payments. The Capital Projects Fund and the Debt Service Fund transferred 
$338,603 to the General Fund and Debt Service Fund to cover the capital project interest 

Page 308 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 24 - 

expenses.  The amounts of interfund transactions are netted together and not reported in 
the statement of net position and the statement of activities. 

11. SCHEDULE OF STATE REVENUE SOURCES 

The following is a schedule of the School’s State revenue:  

Source Amount

Florida Education Finance Program 2,986,217$   

Class Size Reduction 756,151

Charter School Capital Outlay 338,603

Discretionary Millage 211,235

Supplementary Academic Instruction 175,342

Discretionary Local Effort 153,864

ESE Guaranteed Allocation 133,051

School Recongition Program 58,256

Instructional Materials 52,000

Safe Schools 36,935

Reading Allocation 29,013

Total Funds Compression 21,864

Safety Grant 20,952

Mental Health Assistance Allocation 17,850

Best & Brightest Teacher Scholarship 12,920

Teachers Classroom Supply Program 11,562

Digital Classrooms Allocation 4,829

Discretionary Lottery 649

Total State Revenue 5,021,293$  

As provided in the charter school contract, the District has charged the School an 
administrative fee totaling $85,476.  

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The School participates in state grant programs, which are governed by various rules and 
regulations of the grantor agencies.  Costs charged to the respective grant programs are 
subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies, therefore, to the extent that the 
School has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds of 
any money received may be required and the collectability of any related receivables at 
June 30, 2020, may be impaired. 

In the opinion of the School, there are no significant liabilities relating to compliance with 
the rules and regulations governing the respective grants; therefore, no provision has been 
recorded in the accompanying financial statements for such contingencies. 

Page 309 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2019 

- 25 - 

13. RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAMS 

The School is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the School 
carries commercial insurance.  There have been no significant reductions in insurance 
coverage and settlement amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage for the current 
year or the three prior years. 

14. LEGAL MATTERS 

In the normal course of conducting its operations, the School occasionally becomes party 
to various legal actions and proceedings. The School has no legal actions or pending 
proceedings in progress. 

Page 310 of 441

DRAFT



Revenues:

Intergovernmental:

Federal Through State and Local $ $ -            $ -            $ -             $ $ 84,787       $ 84,787       $ -             

State Sources 4,782,513 4,682,690 4,682,690 -             -             -             

Local and Other 105,521    192,638    192,638    -             -             -             

Total Revenues 4,888,034 4,875,328 4,875,328 -             -             84,787       84,787       -             

Expenditures:

Current - Education:

Instruction 2,602,838 2,689,789 2,689,789 -             65,374       65,374       -             

Student Personnel Services 36,078      27,174      27,174      -             -             -             -             

Instructional Staff Training 5,000        1,350        1,350        -             2,958         2,958         -             

Instructional-Related Technology 128,501    6,236        6,236        -             7,706         7,706         -             

Board of Education 122,470    1,395        1,395        -             -             -             -             

School Administration 437,521    508,219    508,219    -             -             -             -             

Fiscal Services 132,518    58,459      58,459      -             -             -             -             

Food Services 22,512      40             40             -             -             -             -             

Operation of Plant 270,808    275,617    275,617    -             8,749         8,749         -             

Maintenance of Plant 10,000      5,056        5,056        -             -             -             -             

Community Service 3,855        107,351    107,351    -             -             -             -             

Fixed Capital Outlay:

Facilities Acquisition & Construction 49,620      49,620      -             -             -             -             

Other Capital Outlay 7,901        7,901        -             -             -             -             

Debt Service: -             

Principal 75,000      -            -            -             -             -             -             

Interest & Fiscal Charges 5,250        18,605      18,605      -             -             -             -             

Total Expenditures 3,852,351 3,756,812 3,756,812 -             -             84,787       84,787       -             

1,035,683 1,118,516 1,118,516 -             -             -             -             -             

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Transfers In 338,603    338,603    -             -             -             -             

Transfers (Out) -            (957,427)   (957,427)   -             -             

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -            (618,824)   (618,824)   -             -             -             -             -             

1,035,683 499,692    499,692    -             -             -             -             -             

Fund Balances, July 1, 2019 117,360    (57,955)     (57,955)     -             -             -             -             -             
Fund Balances, June 30, 2020 $ 1,153,043 $ 441,737    $ 441,737    $ -             $ -             $ -             $ -             $ -             

(Negative)

     Net Change in Fund Balances

General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Major Special Revenue Fund

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over 

Expenditures

Budget Budget Actual Positive
(Negative)

Budget Budget Actual

ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC.

Positive

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Original Final
Variance with
Final Budget -

Variance with
Original Final Final Budget -

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND AND MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUND (UNAUDITED)

See Independent Auditor's Report.

- 26 -
Page 311 of 441

DRAFT



ST. JOHNS CLASSICAL ACADEMY, INC. 
A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
June 30, 2019 

- 27 - 

1. BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

Budgets are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting. During the fiscal year, 
expenditures were controlled at the object level (e.g., salaries and benefits, purchased 
services, materials and supplies and capital outlay) within each activity (e.g., instruction, 
pupil personnel services and school administration). Budgets may be amended by 
resolution at any Board meeting prior to the date for the annual report. 

Page 312 of 441

DRAFT



- 28 - 

Members:   2803 W. Busch Blvd Ste 106 
Florida Institute of CPAs Tampa, FL 33618 
American Institute of CPAs office (813) 892-4274 fax (813) 932-1913 
Government Audit Quality Center www.KingandWalker.com

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed  

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

To the Board of Directors of St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc.  
   a Charter School and Component Unit of the  
   District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of St. 
Johns Classical Academy, Inc. (“School”), a charter school and component unit of the District 
School Board of Clay County, Florida, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 4, 2020.  

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s 
internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s 
internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the School’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Page 313 of 441

DRAFT



- 29 - 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, 
we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
School’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control 
and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Respectfully submitted, 

September 4, 2020  
Tampa, Florida 

Page 314 of 441

DRAFT



- 30 - 

Members:   2803 W. Busch Blvd Ste 106 
Florida Institute of CPAs Tampa, FL 33618 
American Institute of CPAs office (813) 892-4274 fax (813) 932-1913 
Government Audit Quality Center www.KingandWalker.com

Management Letter as Required by Rules of the Florida Auditor General,  
Chapter 10.850, Florida Statutes, Charter School Audits 

To the Board of Directors of St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc.  
   a Charter School and Component Unit of the  
   District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of the St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc. (“School”), a 
charter school and component unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida, as of and 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, and have issued our report thereon dated September 4, 
2020. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.850, Rules of 
the Auditor General.

Other Reports and Schedules 

We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
and Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. Disclosures in those reports and schedule, 
which are dated September 4, 2020, should be considered in conjunction with this management 
letter. 

Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.854(1)(e)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the 
preceding annual financial audit report. There were no prior audit findings or recommendations. 

Official Title 
Section 10.854(1)(e)5., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title of the 
entity and the school code assigned by the Florida Department of Education be disclosed in this 
management letter. The official title and the school code assigned by the Florida Department of 
Education of the entity are St. Johns Classical Academy, Inc., 100667. 

Page 315 of 441

DRAFT



- 31 - 

Financial Condition and Management 

Sections 10.854(1)(e)2. and 10.855(11), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 
appropriate procedures and communicate whether or not the School has met one or more of the 
conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific condition(s) 
met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the School did not meet any of the conditions 
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.

Pursuant to Sections 10.854(1)(e)6.a. and 10.855(12), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 
financial condition assessment procedures for the School. It is management’s responsibility to 
monitor the School’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part 
on representations made by management and review of financial information provided by same.

Section 10.854(1)(e)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 
recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we did not have 
any such recommendations.  

Transparency 

Sections 10.854(1)(e)7. and 10.855(13), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 
appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether the School
maintains on its Web site the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes. In 
connection with our audit, we determined that the School maintained on its Web site the 
information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes.   

Additional Matters 

Section 10.854(1)(e)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management 
letter any recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we 
did not have any such recommendations. 

Section 10.854(1)(e)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance 
with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which 
warrants the attention of those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did not 
have any such findings. 

Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, the Board of Directors, applicable 
management, and the District School Board of Clay County and is not intended to be and should 
not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Respectfully submitted, 

September 4, 2020  
Tampa, Florida 

Page 316 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER  

ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST 

VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the  

District School Board of Clay County, Florida 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
 

for the fiscal year ended JUNE 30, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 King & Walker, CPAs, PL 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

  Certified Public Accountants 

Page 317 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK.

Page 318 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

  PAGE 

   NO.  

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

 Independent Auditor’s Report 1 

 Management’s Discussion and Analysis – (Unaudited) 3  

 Basic Financial Statements  

Government-Wide Financial Statements: 

Statement of Net Position 8 

Statement of Activities 9 

Fund Financial Statements: 

Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 10 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -    

Governmental Funds 11 

Notes to Financial Statements 12 

Other Required Supplementary Information 

Budgetary Comparison Schedule – General Fund – (Unaudited) 21 

Note to Required Supplementary Information 22 

 

 COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

 Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

    and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial  

    Statements Performed in Accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards 23 

 

 Management Letter as required by Rules of the Florida Auditor General, 

  Chapter 10.850, Florida Statutes, Charter School Audits. 25   

  

  

 

Page 319 of 441

DRAFT



 

- 1 - 

 
 

 
Members:   2803 W. Busch Blvd Ste 106 
Florida Institute of CPAs Tampa, FL 33618 
American Institute of CPAs office (813) 892-4274 fax (813) 932-1913 
Government Audit Quality Center www.KingandWalker.com 

 

Independent Auditor's Report  

 

To the Board of Directors of Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay 

(A charter school under Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc.)  

   a Charter School and Component Unit of the District  

   School Board of Clay County, Florida 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major 

fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay 

(“School”), a charter school under Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc. and component unit 

of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and 

the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial 

statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 

includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 

and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 

conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Governmental Auditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

School’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An 

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion. 

 

Page 320 of 441

DRAFT



 

- 2 - 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 

remaining fund information of the School, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in 

financial position thereof for the year ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As described in Note 1, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present only the 

financial position of Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay at June 30, 2020, and the respective 

changes in financial position for the year then ended, and is not intended to be a complete 

presentation of Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc.  These financial statements do not 

purport to and do not present fairly the financial position of Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, 

Inc. as of June 30, 2020 and its changes in financial position for the year then ended in conformity 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the Budgetary Comparison Schedule, and Note to Required 

Supplementary Information, as shown in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic 

financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 

required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 

financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 

or historic context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 

information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America, which consisted of inquiries of management about methods of preparing the information 

and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the 

basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 

statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 

limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 

assurance. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards      

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 

18, 2020 on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 

tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 

and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal 

control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 

opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part 

of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 

School’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
September 18, 2020 

Tampa, Florida 

Page 321 of 441

DRAFT



 
 

- 3 - 

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited) 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) section of the annual financial report of 

Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay (“School”) provides an overview of the School’s 

activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 

Because the information contained in the MD&A is intended to highlight significant 

transactions, events, and conditions, it should be considered in conjunction with the School’s 

financial statements and notes to financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.   

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

▪ For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the School’s total revenue exceeded expenses by 

$11,675, as shown on the School’s statement of activities. 

▪ Total assets were $258,836 and total liabilities were $238,550 as of June 30, 2020. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The basic financial statements consist of three components:  

✓ Government-wide financial statements 

✓ Fund financial statements 

✓ Notes to financial statements 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements provide both short-term and long-term information 

about the School’s overall financial condition in a manner similar to those of a private-sector 

business.  The statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities that are 

designed to provide consolidated financial information about the governmental activities of the 

School presented on the accrual basis of accounting.  The statement of net position provides 

information about the government’s financial position, its assets and liabilities, using an 

economic resources measurement focus.  The difference between the assets and liabilities, the 

net position, is a measure of the financial health of the School.  The statement of activities 

presents information about the change in the School’s net position and the results of operations, 

during the fiscal year.  An increase or decrease in net position is an indication of whether the 

School’s financial health is improving or deteriorating.  To assess the overall financial position 

of the School, one needs to consider additional non-financial factors such as changes in the 

School student base funding level. 

Page 322 of 441

DRAFT



 
 

- 4 - 

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited) 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Fund Financial Statements 

Fund financial statements are one of the components of the basic financial statements.  A fund is 

a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 

segregated for specific activities or objectives.  Fund financial statements provide more detailed 

information about the School’s financial activities, focusing on its most significant funds rather 

than fund types.  This is in contrast to the entity-wide perspective contained in the government-

wide statements.    

Governmental Funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 

reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, the 

governmental funds utilize a spendable financial resources measurement focus rather than the 

economic resources measurement focus found in the government-wide financial statements.  The 

financial resources measurement focus allows the governmental fund statements to provide 

information on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources as well as balances of 

spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.   

The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view that may be used to 

evaluate the School’s near-term financing requirements.  This short-term view is useful when 

compared to the long-term view presented as governmental activities in the government-wide 

financial statements.  To facilitate this comparison, both the governmental funds balance sheet 

and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances 

provide a reconciliation of governmental fund to governmental activities.   

The governmental funds balance sheet and statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in 

fund balances provide detailed information about the School’s most significant funds.  The 

School operates one fund; a General Fund.  For reporting purposes, the General Fund is 

considered a major fund. 

The School adopts an annual budget for its governmental funds.  A budgetary comparison 

schedule, as required, has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with 

the budget.  

Notes to Financial Statements 

The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full understanding of the data 

provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  

Page 323 of 441

DRAFT



 
 

- 5 - 

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited) 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

The following is a summary of the School’s current year and prior year net position: 

  

6-30-19 6-30-20

Increase 

(Decrease)

ASSETS

Current and Other Assets 124,604$           258,836$           134,232$           

Total Assets 124,604             258,836             134,232             

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities 115,993             238,550             122,557             

Total Liabilities 115,993             238,550             122,557             

NET POSITION

Restricted 8,611                 20,286               11,675               

Total Net Position 8,611$               20,286$             11,675$             

Governmental Activities

Net Position, End of Year

 

The School’s current assets primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from 

the District School Board of Clay County.  Liabilities are comprised of accounts payable and 

accrued expenses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 324 of 441

DRAFT



 
 

- 6 - 

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited) 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The following is a summary of the School’s change in net position for the current year and prior 

year: 

6-30-19 6-30-20

Increase 

(Decrease)

Revenues:

  State Sources 287,020$       676,189$       389,169$       

  Local and Other 337,399         282,597         (54,802)          

Total Revenues 624,419         958,786         334,367         

Expenses:

  Instruction 152,246         224,467         72,221           

  Pupil Personnel Services 37,116           78,089           40,973           

  Instructional Curriculum Development 281,317         348,676         67,359           

  Instructional Staff Training 6,042             2,761             (3,281)            

  Instructional Related Technology 40,852           75,107           34,255           

  Board of Education 13,690           9,187             (4,503)            

  General Administration 14,351           33,809           19,458           

  School Administration 73,405           154,909         81,504           

  Fiscal Services 318                323                5                    

  Operation of Plant 11,603           19,761           8,158             

  Maintenance of Plant 106                22                  (84)                 

  Total Expenses 631,046         947,111         316,065         

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Position (6,627)$          11,675$         18,302$         

Governmental Activities

Operating Results for the Year

 

Revenues from State sources for current operations are primarily received through the Florida 

Education Finance Program (FEFP) funding formula.  The FEFP formula utilizes student 

enrollment data to determine the funds available for the School.   

The largest concentration of expenses are for instructional related expenses, which accounted for 

77% of total expenditures.   

Page 325 of 441

DRAFT



 
 

- 7 - 

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - (Unaudited) 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL’S FUNDS 

Governmental Funds 

As the School completed the year, its governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of 

$20,286.   

BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

The general fund budget for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, was developed based on the 

School’s anticipated revenues and expenditures and the expected student population for the 

school year.  Over the course of the year, the school revised its general fund budget several 

times.  See the Budgetary Comparison Schedule for additional information. 

CAPITAL ASSETS 

The School’s budget for the this fiscal year of operations did not include plans for any 

investment in capital assets; therefore, there are no capital assets to report for the fiscal year 

ended June 30, 2020. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Florida Cyber Charter 

Academy at Clay’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 

report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Florida Cyber 

Charter Academy at Clay, 9143 Philips Highway, Suite 590, Jacksonville, FL 32256. 

 

 

Page 326 of 441

DRAFT



Cash & Cash Equivalents $ 45,505           

Due From Other Agencies 212,436         

Prepaid Expenses 895                

TOTAL  ASSETS 258,836         

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 238,550         

TOTAL  LIABILITIES 238,550         

Restricted 20,286           

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 20,286           

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

Governmental
Activities

LIABILITIES

VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.)

(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST FLORIDA

NET POSITION

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2020

ASSETS

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 8 -

Page 327 of 441

DRAFT



Net (Expenses)

Revenue

and Changes in

Charges Operating Capital Net Position

Expenses for Grants and Grants and Governmental

Services Contributions Contributions Activities

Governmental Activities:

Instruction $ 224,467     $ -             $ -              $ -              $ (224,467)          

Student Personnel Services 78,089       (78,089)             

Instructional Curriculum Development 348,676     (348,676)          

Instructional Staff Training 2,761         (2,761)               

Instructional Related Technology 75,107       (75,107)             

Board of Education 9,187         (9,187)               

General Administration 33,809       (33,809)             

School Administration 154,909     (154,909)          

Fiscal Services 323            (323)                  

Operation of Plant 19,761       (19,761)             

Maintenance of Plant 22              (22)                    

Total Governmental Activities $ 947,111     $ -                 $ -              $ -              (947,111)          

General Revenues:

State Sources 676,189            

Local and Other 282,597            

     Total General Revenues 958,786            

Change in Net Position 11,675              

Net Position - July 1, 2019 8,611                

Net Position - June 30, 2020 $ 20,286              

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

Program Revenues

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST FLORIDA

VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.)

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 9 -Page 328 of 441

DRAFT



Cash & Cash Equivalents $ 45,505

Due From Other Agencies 212,436

Prepaid Expenses 895

Total Assets $ 258,836

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses $ 238,550

Total Liabilities 238,550

Restricted 20,286         

Total Fund Balance 20,286

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $ 258,836

General

(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST FLORIDA

VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.)

FUND BALANCE

Fund

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2020

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 10 -

Page 329 of 441

DRAFT



Intergovernmental:

State Sources $ 676,189         

Local and Other 282,597         

Total Revenues 958,786         

Current - Education:

Instruction 224,467         

Student Personnel Services 78,089           

Instructional Curriculum Development 348,676         

Instructional Staff Training 2,761             

Instructional Related Technology 75,107           

Board of Education 9,187             

General Administration 33,809           

School Administration 154,909         

Fiscal Services 323                

Operation of Plant 19,761           

Maintenance of Plant 22                  

Total Expenditures 947,111         

Net Change in Fund Balance 11,675           

Fund Balance, July 1, 2019 8,611             

Fund Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 20,286           

General

Fund

Revenues

Expenditures

(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST FLORIDA

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.)

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

- 11 -

Page 330 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 12 - 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

➢ Reporting Entity 

Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay (“School”), a charter school under 

Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc., is a component of the District 

School Board of Clay County, Florida (“District”).  The School’s charter is held 

by Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc., a not-for-profit corporation 

organized pursuant to Chapter 617, Florida Statutes, the Florida Not-For-Profit 

Corporation Act.  The governing body of the School is the not-for-profit 

corporation Board of Directors, which is comprised of not less than three 

members. 

The basic financial statements of the School present only the balances, activity 

and disclosures related to the School.  They do not purport to, and do not, present 

fairly the financial position of Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc. as of 

June 30, 2020, and its changes in financial position or budgetary comparisons, 

where applicable, for the year then ended in conformity with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

The general operating authority of the School is contained in Section 1002.33, 

Florida Statutes.  The School operates under a charter of the sponsoring school 

district, the District School Board of Clay County, Florida, (“District”).  The 

current charter is effective until June 30, 2024, and may be renewed by mutual 

written agreement between the School and the District.  At the end of the term of 

the charter, the District may choose not to renew the charter under grounds 

specified in the charter.  In this case, the District is required to notify the school in 

writing at least 90 days prior to the charter’s expiration.  During the term of the 

charter, the District may also terminate the charter if good cause is shown.  In the 

event of termination of the charter, any property purchased by the School with 

public funds and any unencumbered public funds, except capital outlay funds, 

revert back to the District.  Any unencumbered capital outlay funds revert back to 

the Florida Department of Education to be redistributed among eligible charter 

schools.  The School is considered a component unit of the District; therefore, for 

financial reporting purposes, the School is required to follow generally accepted 

accounting principles applicable to state and local governmental units. 

Criteria for determining if other entities are potential component units which 

should be reported within the School's basic financial statements are identified 

and described in the Governmental Accounting Standards Board's (GASB) 

Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, 

Sections 2100 and 2600.  The application of these criteria provides for 

identification of any entities for which the School is financially accountable and 

other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with 

the School are such that exclusion would cause the School's basic financial 

Page 331 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 13 - 

statements to be misleading or incomplete.  Based on these criteria, no component 

units are included within the reporting entity of the School. 

➢ Basis of Presentation 

Government-wide Financial Statements - Government-wide financial statements, 

including the statement of net position and the statement of activities, present 

information about the School as a whole.   

Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources 

measurement focus.  The statement of activities presents a comparison between 

direct expenses and program revenues for each function or program of the 

School’s governmental activities.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically 

associated with a service, program, or department and are thereby clearly 

identifiable to a particular function.   

Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services 

offered by the program and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting 

the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are 

not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues. The 

comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to 

which each governmental function is self-financing or draws from the general 

revenues of the School. 

Fund Financial Statements - Fund financial statements report detailed information 

about the School in the governmental funds.  The focus of governmental fund 

financial statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by type.  Each 

major fund is reported in a separate column.  Because the focus of governmental 

fund financial statements differs from the focus of government-wide financial 

statements, a reconciliation is presented with each of the governmental fund 

financial statements. 

The School’s major governmental fund is as follows: 

• General Fund – to account for all financial resources not required to be 

accounted for in another fund, and for certain revenues from the State that are 

legally restricted to be expended for specific current operating purposes. 

➢ Basis of Accounting 

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures, or expenses, are 

recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of 

accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the 

measurement focus applied.  

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of 

accounting.  Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized 

when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  

Revenues from grants, entitlements, and donations are recognized in the fiscal 

Page 332 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 14 - 

year in which all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been 

satisfied.   

Governmental fund financial statements are prepared using the modified accrual 

basis of accounting.  Revenues, except for certain grant revenues, are recognized 

when they become measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be 

available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough 

thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  The School considers revenues 

to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal 

year.  When grant terms provide that the expenditure of resources is the prime 

factor for determining eligibility for Federal, State, and other grant resources, 

revenue is recognized at the time the expenditure is made.  Under the modified 

accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are generally recognized when the 

related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on long-term 

debt, claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized 

when due.  Allocations of cost, such as depreciation, are not recognized in 

governmental funds.    

➢ Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are held by banks qualified as public depositories 

under Florida law.  All deposits are insured by federal depository insurance and 

collateralized with securities held in Florida’s multiple financial institution 

collateral pool as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.  The School’s cash 

consists primarily of demand deposits with financial institutions.  

➢ Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 

separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial 

statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of 

net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 

outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The School does not have 

any items that qualify for reporting in this category. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report 

a separate section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial 

statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net 

position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 

inflow of resources (revenue) until then.  The School does not have any items that 

qualify for reporting in this category. 

➢ Net Position and Fund Balance Classification 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

Net Position are classified and reported in three components: 

• Net Investment in Capital Assets – consists of capital assets, net of 

accumulated depreciation, and reduced by the outstanding balances of any 

Page 333 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 15 - 

borrowings that are attributed to the acquisition or improvement of those 

assets. 

• Restricted Net Position – consists of net position with constraints placed 

on their use either by external groups such as creditors, contributors, or 

laws or regulations of other governments. The School reported a 

Restricted Net Position Balance of $20,286 pursuant to the District’s 

requirement of an amount equal to 3 percent of current FEFP funding. 

• Unrestricted Net Position – all other net position that does not meet the 

definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 

Fund Financial Statements 

GASB Codification Section 1800.142, Fund Balance Reporting and 

Governmental Fund Type Definitions, defines the different types of fund balances 

that a governmental entity must use for financial reporting purposes.  GASB 

requires the fund balance amounts to be reported within one of the following fund 

balance categories: 

• Nonspendable – fund balance associated with inventories, prepaid 

expenses, long-term loans and notes receivable, and property held for 

resale (unless the proceeds are restricted, committed or assigned).  All 

nonspendable fund balances at year end relate to assets that are in 

nonspendable form. 

• Restricted – fund balance that can be spent only for the specific purposes 

stipulated by the constitution, external resource providers, or through 

enabling legislation. The School reported a Restricted Fund Balance of 

$20,286 pursuant to the District’s requirement of an amount equal to 3 

percent of current FEFP funding. 

• Committed – fund balance that can be used only for the specific purposes 

determined by a formal action of the School’s Board of Governance. 

• Assigned – fund balance that is intended to be used by the School’s 

management for specific purposes but does not meet the criteria to be 

classified as restricted or committed. 

• Unassigned – fund balance that is the residual amount for the School’s 

general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other 

classifications. 

➢ Order of Fund Balance Spending Policy 

The School’s policy is to apply expenditures against nonspendable fund balance, 

restricted fund balance, committed fund balance, assigned fund balance, and 

unassigned fund balance at the end of the fiscal year.  First, nonspendable fund 

balances are determined.  Then restricted fund balances for specific purposes are 

determined (not including nonspendable amounts).  Any remaining fund balance 

amounts for the non-general funds are to be classified as restricted fund balance.  

It is possible for the non-general funds to be classified as restricted fund balance.  

It is possible for the non-general funds to have negative unassigned fund balance 

Page 334 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 16 - 

when nonspendable amounts plus the amount of restricted fund balances for 

specific purposes exceed the positive fund balance for non-general fund. 

➢ Revenue Sources 

Revenues for current operations are received primarily from the District pursuant 

to the funding provisions included in the School’s charter.  In accordance with the 

funding provisions of the charter and Section 1002.33(17), Florida Statutes, the 

School reports the number of full-time equivalent students and related data to the 

District.  

Under provisions of Section 1011.62, Florida Statutes, the District reports the 

number of full-time equivalent students and related data to the Florida 

Department of Education (FDOE) for funding through the Florida Education 

Finance Program (FEFP).  Funding for the School is adjusted during the year to 

reflect the revised calculations by the FDOE under the FEFP and the actual 

weighted full-time equivalent (FTE) students reported by the School during 

designated full-time equivalent student survey periods.  The Department may also 

adjust subsequent fiscal period allocations based upon an audit of the School's 

compliance in determining and reporting FTE and related data.  Normally, such 

adjustments are treated as reductions or additions of revenue in the year when the 

adjustments are made. 

The basic amount of funding through the FEFP under Section 1011.62 is the 

product of the (1) unweighted FTE, multiplied by (2) the cost factor for each 

program, multiplied by (3) the base student allocation established by the 

legislature. Additional funds for exceptional students who do not have a matrix of 

services are provided through the guaranteed allocation designated in Section 

1011.62(1)(e)2., Florida Statutes. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the 

School reported 125.46 unweighted FTE and 125.46 weighted FTE.  

FEFP funding may also be adjusted as a result of subsequent FTE audits 

conducted by the Florida Auditor General pursuant to Section 1010.305, Florida 

Statutes, and Rule 6A-1.0453, Florida Administrative Code (FAC).  Schools are 

required to maintain the following documentation for three years or until the 

completion of an FTE audit: 

▪ Attendance and membership documentation (Rule 6A-1.044, FAC). 

▪ Teacher certificates and other certification documentation (Rule 6A-1.0503, 

FAC). 

▪ Documentation for instructors teaching out-of-field (Rule 6A-1.0503, FAC). 

▪ Procedural safeguards for weighted programs (Rule 6A-6.03411, FAC). 

▪ Evaluation and planning documents for weighted programs (Section 

1010.305, Florida Statutes, and Rule 6A-6.03411, FAC). 

The School may receive federal or state awards for the enhancement of various 

educational programs.  This assistance is generally received based on applications 

submitted to and approved by various granting agencies.  For federal or state 

Page 335 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 17 - 

awards in which a claim to these grant proceeds is based on incurring eligible 

expenditures, revenue is recognized to the extent that eligible expenditures have 

been incurred. 

The School is also eligible for charter school capital outlay funding pursuant to 

Section 1013.62, Florida Statutes.  The amounts received under this program are 

based on the School’s actual and projected student enrollment during the fiscal 

year.  Funds received under this program may only be used for lawful capital 

outlay expenditures and, as such, are reflected as restricted Net Position and 

reserved fund balance in the accompanying statement of Net Position and balance 

sheet – governmental fund, respectively, to the extent that they remain 

unexpended.   

The School follows the policy of applying restricted resources prior to applying 

unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both 

restricted and unrestricted assets are available. 

➢ Allocation of Expenses 

The School shares certain Instructional and Administrative expenses with other 

Florida Virtual Academies under the same Management Company.  These 

expenses have been allocated between the Schools based on student enrollment.  

Expenses that are subject to allocation include, but are not limited to the following 

functional categories: 

• Instruction 

• School Administration 

The process of the allocation of common expenses takes place when the expenses 

are recorded based on a methodical and non-discriminatory basis. 

➢ Income Taxes 

The School is exempt from Federal tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 

Revenue Code.  Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in 

the accompanying financial statements.  Additionally, no uncertain tax positions 

have been made requiring disclosure in the related notes to financial statements.  

The School’s income tax returns for the past three years are subject to 

examination by tax authorities and may change upon examination.  

➢ Use of Estimates 

In preparing the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 

accounting principles in the United States management is required to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

as of the date of the statement of net position and affect revenues and 

expenditures for the period presented.  Actual results could differ from those 

estimates. 

Page 336 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 18 - 

➢ Subsequent Events 

Management has evaluated all events subsequent to the balance sheet date and 

through the report date, which is the date these financial statements were available 

to be issued.  Management is also currently evaluating the impact of the COVID-

19 pandemic on the industry and has concluded that while it is reasonably 

possible that the virus could have a negative effect on the School’s financial 

position, results of its operations and/or cash flows, the specific impact is not 

readily determinable as of the date of these financial statements. The financial 

statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of 

this uncertainty.   

2. CASH DEPOSITS 

Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event 

of a bank failure, the School’s deposits may not be returned to the School. The School 

does not have a custodial credit risk policy. All cash deposits are held in banks that 

qualify as public depositories under Florida law. All such deposits are insured by federal 

depository insurance and/or collateralized with securities held in Florida’s multiple 

financial institution collateral pool as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.  

3. DUE FROM OTHER AGENCIES 

Amounts Due from Other Agencies included in the accompanying statement of Net 

Position and balance sheet – governmental funds consists of amounts due from the Clay 

County District School Board for FEFP funds and an amount due from the management 

company related to their balanced budget credit recognition as further disclosed in Note 

6 to the financial statements. These receivable amounts are considered to be fully 

collectible and as such, no allowance for uncollectible is accrued. 

4. SCHEDULE OF STATE REVENUE SOURCES 

The following is a schedule of the School’s State revenue: 

Source Amount

Florida Education Finance Program 676,189$      

Total State Revenue 676,189$      
 

As provided in the charter school contract, the District has charged the School an 

administrative fee totaling $33,809. 

5. FUNDING AND CREDIT RISK CONCENTRATIONS 

The School receives substantially all of its support and revenue from federal, state and 

local funding sources, passed through the District, in the form of performance and 

budget based contracts.  Continuing operation of the School is greatly dependent upon 

the continued support of these governmental agencies. 

Page 337 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 19 - 

6. OPERATING AGREEMENTS 

Educational Products and Services Agreement – The School entered into an 

educational products and services agreement for the period July 1, 2014 to June 30, 

2019, with K12 Florida, LLC (the “Company”). Thereafter, the agreement will 

automatically renew consistent with the extension of the charter agreement unless either 

party provides the other with written notice of non-renewal at least two years before the 

expiration of the then current term or if other certain conditions are met resulting in an 

earlier termination.  During the term, the Company shall license to the School solely for 

use in the School’s educational program, on a non-exclusive, non-assignable, non-sub 

licensable basis, the products and offerings of the Company curriculum, access to its 

online school and designated learning management systems and/or available third party 

curriculum, instructional tools and other products and offerings collectively known as 

Educational Products.   

The contract further calls for the Company to be responsible and accountable to the 

School’s Board for administrative and technology services, including operation and 

performance of the School in accordance with the School’s charter contract, the 

statement of mission and purpose, and the laws of the State of Florida.  An 

administrative services fee of 15% and a technology services fee of 7% of the School’s 

Program Revenues compensate the Company for the services provided.  Program 

Revenues shall mean all revenues and income generated or appropriated for and received 

by or on behalf of the School as attributed to any Student, the School or the Program 

which includes, but is not limited to the following sources: 

➢ Basic State Funding 

➢ FEFP Funding 

➢ Exceptional Education Funding 

➢ Class Size Funding 

➢ Safety Funding  

➢ Income sources provided by state, federal and local law and/or obtained through 

the Company’s efforts   

Financial Matters – Regardless of the service fees described above under this 

agreement, the Company assumes the risks, except as otherwise set forth in the 

agreement, that its fees may not allow it:  i) to operate profitably, and/or ii) to fully 

recover the amounts invoiced by the Company to the School in accordance with the 

agreement.   In addition, the parties agree that the program will not conclude a fiscal 

year during the agreement term in a negative net position.  If the School ends a fiscal 

year in a negative net position, the parties agree that the Company will provide sufficient 

credits (“Balanced Budget Credits”) to be applied to the Company invoices to ensure 

that the program does not experience a negative net position at the end of said fiscal 

year.  A typical balanced budget credit would reduce expenses charged from the 

Company and reduce the payable balance due to the Company from the School.  

Expenses to be reduced include curriculum expenses, materials expenses, computer lease 

expenses, and the management and technology fees.  Should the School end a fiscal year 

Page 338 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 20 - 

in a positive net position, as evidenced by its audited financial statements, and the 

Company has issued balanced budget credits in prior years for which a balance remains, 

the School will reimburse the Company up to the cumulative amount of previously 

issued balanced budget credits.  In no single fiscal year will the amount of any 

remittance exceed 50% of the then current fiscal year positive net position, as 

determined by an independent audit before the payment of balanced budget credits.  At 

the end of the term, if there is a cumulative balance from prior years of balanced budget 

credits which have not been remitted, such credits will be forgiven by the Company, 

subject to the termination provisions of the agreement. 

The School no longer reports its balanced budget credits as a reduction of expenses, but 

as revenue from local sources.  During the current fiscal year, the Company credited 

$282,597 to the School as part of their balanced budget credit recognition and is 

included in the local and other revenue reported in the statement of activities and the 

statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – governmental 

funds.  

7. RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAMS 

The School is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 

destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the School 

carries commercial insurance.  There have been no significant reductions in insurance 

coverage and settlement amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage for the current 

year or the three prior years. 

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The School participates in state grant programs, which are governed by various rules and 

regulations of the grantor agencies.  Costs charged to the respective grant programs are 

subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies, therefore, to the extent that the 

School has not complied with the rules and regulations governing the grants, refunds of 

any money received may be required and the collectability of any related receivables at 

June 30, 2020, may be impaired. 

In the opinion of the School, there are no significant liabilities relating to compliance 

with the rules and regulations governing the respective grants; therefore, no provision 

has been recorded in the accompanying financial statements for such contingencies. 

9. LEGAL MATTERS 

In the normal course of conducting its operations, the School occasionally becomes party 

to various legal actions and proceedings.  In the opinion of management, the ultimate 

resolution of such legal matters will not have a significant adverse effect on the 

accompanying financial statements. 

Page 339 of 441

DRAFT



Variance with

Original Final Final Budget -

Budget Budget Actual Positive

(Negative)

Revenues:

Intergovernmental:

State Sources $ 467,330         $ 609,392         $ 676,189         $ 66,797           

Local and Other 220,174         336,834         282,597         (54,237)         

Total Revenues 687,504         946,226         958,786         12,560           

Expenditures:

Current - Education:

Instruction 187,325         224,467         224,467         -                

Student Personnel Services 14,415           78,089           78,089           -                

Instructional Curriculum Development 285,938         348,676         348,676         -                

Instructional Staff Training -                2,761             2,761             -                

Instructional Related Technology 32,713           75,107           75,107           -                

Board of Education 22,417           10,000           9,187             813                

General Administration 23,367           32,655           33,809           (1,154)           

School Administration 91,691           154,365         154,909         (544)              

Fiscal Services -                323                323                -                

Operation of Plant 29,638           19,761           19,761           -                

Maintenance of Plant -                22                  22                  -                

Total Expenditures 687,504         946,226         947,111         (885)              

Net Change in Fund Balance -                -                11,675           11,675           

Fund Balance, July 1, 2019 8,611             8,611             8,611             -                
Fund Balance, June 30, 2020 $ 8,611             $ 8,611             $ 20,286           $ 11,675           

General Fund

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND - (UNAUDITED)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020

FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY

(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST FLORIDA

VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.)

A CHARTER SCHOOL AND COMPONENT UNIT OF THE 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

See Independent Auditor's Report.

- 21 -

Page 340 of 441

DRAFT



FLORIDA CYBER CHARTER ACADEMY AT CLAY 
(A CHARTER SCHOOL UNDER NORTHEAST VIRTUAL CHARTER SCHOOL BOARD, INC.) 

A Charter School and Component Unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida  
 

NOTE TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

June 30, 2020 

 

- 22 - 

1. BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

Budgets are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  During the fiscal 

year, expenditures were controlled at the object level (e.g., salaries and benefits, 

purchased services, materials and supplies and capital outlay) within each activity (e.g., 

instruction, pupil personnel services and school administration).  Budgets may be 

amended by resolution at any Board meeting prior to the date for the annual report. 

Page 341 of 441

DRAFT



 

- 23 - 

 
 

 
Members:   2803 W. Busch Blvd Ste 106 
Florida Institute of CPAs Tampa, FL 33618 
American Institute of CPAs office (813) 892-4274 fax (813) 932-1913 
Government Audit Quality Center www.KingandWalker.com 

 

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 

Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed  

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

 

To the Board of Directors of Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay, 

(A charter school under Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc.) 

   a Charter School and Component Unit of the District  

   School Board of Clay County, Florida 

 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 

States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 

Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 

statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 

information of Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay (“School”), a charter school under 

Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc. and component unit of the District School Board of 

Clay County, Florida, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the 

financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial statements, and 

have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2020.  

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s 

internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 

financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 

prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 

deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that a material misstatement of the School’s financial statements will not be 

prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 

or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 

yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 

of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 

material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did 

not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  

However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

 

 

Page 342 of 441

DRAFT



 

- 24 - 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are 

free from material misstatement, we performed tests of compliance with certain provisions of 

laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 

direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 

providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 

accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances 

of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 

Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 

compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the School’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 

performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s 

internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 

purpose. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 

September 18, 2020 

Tampa, Florida 

 

 

Page 343 of 441

DRAFT



 

- 25 - 

 
 

 
Members:   2803 W. Busch Blvd Ste 106 
Florida Institute of CPAs Tampa, FL 33618 
American Institute of CPAs office (813) 892-4274 fax (813) 932-1913 
Government Audit Quality Center www.KingandWalker.com 

 
 

Management Letter as Required by Rules of the Florida Auditor General,  

Chapter 10.850, Florida Statutes, Charter School Audits 

 

To the Board of Directors of Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay, 

(A charter school under Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc.) 

   a Charter School and Component Unit of the District  

   School Board of Clay County, Florida 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of the Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay, 

(“School”), a charter school under Northeast Virtual Charter School Board, Inc. and component 

unit of the District School Board of Clay County, Florida, as of and for the fiscal year ended 

June 30, 2020, and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2020. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 

States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.850, Rules of 

the Auditor General. 

Other Reporting Requirements 

We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed 

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. Disclosures in those reports and schedule, 

which are dated September 18, 2020, should be considered in conjunction with this management 

letter. 

Prior Audit Findings 

Section 10.854(1)(e)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 

corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the 

preceding annual financial audit report. There were no prior audit findings or recommendations. 

Official Title 

Section 10.854(1)(e)5., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title of 

the entity and the school code assigned by the Florida Department of Education be disclosed in 

this management letter. The official title and the school code assigned by the Florida Department 

of Education of the entity is Florida Cyber Charter Academy at Clay, 100663. 

 

Page 344 of 441

DRAFT



 

- 26 - 

Financial Condition and Management 

Sections 10.854(1)(e)2. and 10.855(11), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 

appropriate procedures and communicate whether or not the School has met one or more of the 

conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific 

condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the School did not meet any of 

the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.  

Pursuant to Sections 10.854(1)(e)6.a. and 10.855(12), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 

financial condition assessment procedures for the School. It is management’s responsibility to 

monitor the School’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in 

part on representations made by management and review of financial information provided by 

same.  Section 10.854(1)(e)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate 

any recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we did 

not have any such recommendations.  

Transparency 

Sections 10.854(1)(e)7. and 10.855(13), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 

appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether the 

School maintains on its Web site the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida 

Statutes. In connection with our audit, we determined that the School maintained on its Web site 

the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes. 

Additional Matters 

Section 10.854(1)(e)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the 

management letter any recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with 

our audit, we did not have any such recommendations. 

Section 10.854(1)(e)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address noncompliance 

with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to 

have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which 

warrants the attention of those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did 

not have any such findings.  

Purpose of this Letter 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 

Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 

Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies the Board of Directors, applicable 

management, and District School Board of Clay County, Florida and is not intended to be and 

should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 

September 18, 2020 

Tampa, Florida 

 

 

 

Page 345 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Clay Charter Academy 
A Department of Florida Charter 
Educational Foundation, Inc. 
(A Component Unit of the School 
Board of Clay County, Florida) 
 
Basic Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020  

 

Page 346 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

Clay Charter Academy 
 
Table of Contents 
 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report 1-2 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
(not covered by Independent Auditor’s Report) 3-6 
 
 
Basic Financial Statements 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements: 
 
Statement of Net Position (Deficit) 7 
 
Statement of Activities 8 
 
Fund Financial Statements: 
 
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 9 
 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental 
Funds to the Statement of Net Position (Deficit) 10 
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 11 
 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 12 
 
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures - 
Budget and Actual - General Fund 13 
 
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures - 
Budget and Actual - Special Revenue Fund 14 
 
Statement of Assets and Liabilities - Agency Fund 15 
 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 16-25 
 
 
Other Independent Auditor’s Reports 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 26-27 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of Directors 28-29 
 

Page 347 of 441

DRAFT



KMCcpa.com  |  6550 N Federal Hwy, 4th Floor, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33308   Phone: 954.771.0896   Fax: 954.938.9353
Top 25 Accounting Firms | South Florida Business Journal  Top 400 Accounting Firms in the U.S. | INSIDE Public Accounting

1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Directors 
Clay Charter Academy 
A Department of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. 
Middleburg, Florida 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Clay Charter Academy (the “School”), a 
Department of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. and a component unit of the School Board 
of Clay County, Florida, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinions. 

Page 348 of 441

DRAFT



 

2 

Clay Charter Academy 
 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the School, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial 
position, and budgetary comparison for the General Fund and Special Revenue Fund for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the School are intended to present the financial 
position and change in financial position of only that portion of the governmental activities, each major 
fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. 
that is attributable to the transactions of the School.  They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly 
the financial position of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. as of June 30, 2020 and the 
changes in financial position or budgetary comparisons, where applicable, for the year ended June 30, 
2020 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Our 
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management's discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 6 be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 
1, 2020, on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
KEEFE McCULLOUGH  
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
September 1, 2020 

Page 349 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS 

Page 350 of 441

DRAFT



 

3 

Clay Charter Academy 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2020 
 

 
As management of Clay Charter Academy (the “School”), a Department of Florida Charter 
Educational Foundation, Inc. and a component unit of the School Board of Clay County, Florida, we 
offer readers of the School’s basic financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the 
financial activities of the School for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.   
 
Management’s discussion and analysis is included at the beginning of the School’s basic financial 
statements to provide, in layman’s terms, the current position of the School’s financial condition.  
This summary should not be taken as a replacement for the audit which consists of the basic 
financial statements. 
 

Financial Highlights 
 
Our basic financial statements provide these insights into the results of this year’s operations. 
 

• As of June 30, 2020, the School’s governmental fund balances totaled 
$ 1,745,401 as compared to $ 1,711,974 as of June 30, 2019. 

 
• As of June 30, 2020, the School has net position (deficit) of $ (2,096,630) 

as compared to net position (deficit) of $ (2,073,008) at June 30, 2019. 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the School’s basic financial 
statements.  The School’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 
1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the basic 
financial statements. 
 
Government-Wide Basic Financial Statements:  The government-wide financial statements are 
designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the School’s finances, in a manner similar to 
a private sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the School’s assets, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference between the two reported as net 
position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of 
whether the financial position of the School is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the School’s net position changed 
during the year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise 
to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses 
are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal 
periods (e.g., uncollected revenues and services rendered but unpaid). 
 
The government-wide financial statements include all governmental activities that are principally 
supported by grants and entitlements from the state for full-time equivalent funding.  The School 
does not have any business-type activities.  The governmental activities of the School primarily 
include instruction and instructional support services. 
 
The government-wide basic financial statements can be found on pages 7 and 8 of this report. 

Page 351 of 441

DRAFT



 

4 

Clay Charter Academy 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2020 
 

 
Fund Basic Financial Statements:  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The School, 
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  
 
Governmental Funds:  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike 
the government-wide basic financial statements, governmental fund basic financial statements 
focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as balances of spendable 
resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating the 
School’s near-term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the School’s near-term 
financing decisions.  Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund 
statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to 
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The School maintains several individual governmental funds.  Information is presented in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures 
and changes in fund balances.  The General Fund, Special Revenue Fund and Capital Project Fund 
are considered to be the School’s major funds. 
 
The School adopts an annual budget for its governmental funds.  A budgetary comparison 
statement has been provided for the General Fund and Special Revenue Fund to demonstrate 
compliance with the budget. 
 
The governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 9 through 14 of this report. 
 
Agency Fund:  In addition, the School has one agency fund which is a student activity fund. This 
fund was formed for educational and school purposes. 
 
The Agency Fund financial statement can be found on page 15 of this report. The assets and 
liabilities of this fund are not included in the government-wide statement of net assets. 
 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements:  The notes provide additional information that is essential for 
a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  
The notes to basic financial statements can be found on pages 16 through 25 of this report. 
 

Government-Wide Financial Analysis 
 
The School has been in operation for five years; therefore, comparative government-wide data is 
presented.  The School’s net position (deficit) was $ (2,096,630) at June 30, 2020.  Of this amount, 
$ (1,978,704) represents net investment in capital assets (deficit), $ 149,911 represents restricted 
net position and $ (267,837) represents unrestricted net position (deficit).  The School’s net 
position (deficit) was $ (2,073,008) at June 30, 2019.  Of this amount, $ (1,684,681) represents net 
investment in capital assets (deficit), $ 59,064 represents restricted net position and $ (447,391) 
represents unrestricted net position (deficit). 
 

Page 352 of 441

DRAFT



 

5 

Clay Charter Academy 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2020 
 

 
Our analysis in the table below focuses on the net position of the School’s governmental activities: 
 

Clay Charter Academy 
Net Position (Deficit) 

June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

Assets:
 Current and other assets $ 1,983,604 $ 789,447
 Noncurrent assets 15,797,488 16,361,749

Total assets 17,781,092 17,151,196

Liabilities:
 Current liabilities 2,298,544 1,164,285
 Noncurrent liabilities 17,579,178       18,059,919       

Total liabilities 19,877,722 19,224,204

Net Position (Deficit):
 Net investment in capital assets (deficit) (1,978,704) (1,684,676)
 Restricted 149,911 59,064
 Unrestricted (deficit) (267,837) (447,391)

        Total net position (deficit) $ (2,096,630) $ (2,073,008)

 
Current and other assets increased mainly due to an increase in cash and accounts receivable. 
Noncurrent assets decreased due to depreciation expense of approximately $ 623,000 partially 
offset by capital purchases of $ 60,000 made during the year. Current liabilities increased due to an 
increase in amount due to management company. Noncurrent assets decreased due to principal 
payments made on the School’s bond payable. 
 
Governmental Activities:  The results of this year’s operations for the School as a whole are 
reported in the statement of activities on page 8.  The following table provides a condensed 
presentation of the School’s revenues and expenses for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

Clay Charter Academy 
Change in Net Position (Deficit) 

June 30, June 30,
2020 2019

Revenues:
 General revenues $ 5,797,211 $ 5,507,147
 Program revenues 869,214 742,359

Total revenues 6,666,425 6,249,506

Functions/Program Expenses:
 Instruction 2,924,562 2,349,337
 Instructional support services 2,170,327 2,086,675
 Non-instructional services 1,595,158 1,689,556

Total governmental activities 6,690,047 6,125,568

        Change in net position (deficit) $ (23,622) $ 123,938

 
General revenues increased from prior year mainly due to an increase in enrollment. Program 
revenues increased due to an increase in capital outlay funding as well as operating grants. Total 
expenses increased as a result of the increase in enrollment. Page 353 of 441

DRAFT



 

6 

Clay Charter Academy 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2020 
 

 
Governmental Fund Expenditures:  In the table below, we have presented the cost of the largest 
functions/programs as a percentage of total governmental expenditures: 

Functions/Programs Expenditures Percent Expenditures Percent

Governmental expenditures:
 Instructional expenditures $ 2,669,899 40% $ 2,084,280 30%
 Debt service 1,700,332 26% 2,784,767 40%
 Plant operations and maintenance 936,987 14% 987,822 14%
 Administrative services 513,262 8% 451,239 6%
 Food services 217,118 3% 203,830 3%
 All other functions/programs 595,400 9% 492,990 7%

Total governmental
 expenditures $ 6,632,998 100% $ 7,004,928 100%

2020 2019

 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 

 
Capital assets:  At June 30, 2020, the School had capital assets of $ 14,321,940, net of accumulated 
depreciation, invested in building, computer equipment, furniture, fixtures and equipment and 
improvements other than buildings as compared to $ 14,884,676 at June 30, 2019.  A detailed 
schedule is on pages 21 and 22 in the notes to the basic financial statements. 
 
Debt:  At June 30, 2020, the School had debt of $ 18,066,436, as compared to $ 18,541,552 at June 
30, 2019.  More information about the School’s debt can be found on pages 22 and 23 of this 
report. 
 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
State source revenues were higher than budget as a result of higher enrollment than anticipated. 
Local source revenues were unfavorable to the budget due to less support needed from the 
School’s management company than budgeted. Total revenues exceeded the budget by 
approximately $ 75,000. Expenditures were unfavorable to budget mainly due to the higher 
enrollment. Overall, the School ended the year with a change in fund balance that was unfavorable 
to budget by $ 175,000. 
 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget 
 
In fiscal year 2020, the State of Florida increased its Florida Education Finance Program base 
funding, safe schools and mental health initiative allocations. The capital outlay funding pool 
increased to $ 158 million. A 2% merit increase was also paid out to eligible staff. 

 
For fiscal year 2021, capital outlay revenue was assumed at a flat rate in comparison to the current 
rate per student. The budgets reflect the Florida Education Finance Program funding increase to 
fund teacher salary increases. A 2% merit increase for all staff was also budgeted. All other 
expenditures are budgeted in alignment with enrollment changes and the School’s strategic 
objectives. 
 

Requests for Information 
 
If you have any questions about this report or need additional information, please write Maria 
Garzon, Controller - Schools, Charter Schools USA, 800 Corporate Drive, Suite 700, Fort Lauderdale, 
Florida 33334. 

Page 354 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BASIC 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Page 355 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

7 

Governmental
Activities

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,416,108
Due from other governments 15,998
Other receivable 2,367
Prepaid items 4,704
Deposits 52,045
Restricted investments 492,382

Total current assets 1,983,604

Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted investments 1,475,548
Capital assets (depreciable), net of accumulated depreciation 14,321,940

Total noncurrent assets 15,797,488

Total assets 17,781,092

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 35,141
Salaries and wages payable 225,416
Due to management company 1,451,802
Due to related party 1,392
Compensated absences 37,862
Accrued interest payable 47,053
Note payable 204,878
Bonds payable 295,000

Total current liabilities 2,298,544

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated absences 12,620
Note payable 85,366
Bonds payable 17,481,192

Total noncurrent liabilities 17,579,178

Total liabilities 19,877,722

Commitments (Note 10) -                

Net Position (Deficit):
Net investment in capital assets (deficit) (1,978,704)
Restricted for repair and replacement reserves 149,911
Unrestricted (deficit) (267,837)

Total net position (deficit) $ (2,096,630)

Clay Charter Academy
Statement of Net Position (Deficit)
June 30, 2020

Page 356 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

8 

Governmental
Activities

Net Revenue
Charges Operating Capital (Expense) and

for Grants and Grants and Change in
Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Net Position

Functions/Programs:
Instruction $ 2,924,562   $ -            $ 152,960   $ -            $ (2,771,602)
Student support services 167,154      -            -            -            (167,154)
Instruction and curriculum
 development services 580              -            -            -            (580)
Instructional staff training
 services 29,983         -            -            -            (29,983)         
Instruction related technology 117,001      -            -            -            (117,001)
Board 30,393         -            -            -            (30,393)
School administration 513,262      -            12,796     -            (500,466)
Fiscal services 9,615           -            -            -            (9,615)
Food services 217,118      47,214     115,420   -            (54,484)
Central services 90,894         -            -            -            (90,894)
Operation of plant 1,151,005   -            28,402     -            (1,122,603)
Maintenance of plant 191,342      -            -            -            (191,342)
Community services 89,993         118,173   9,319        -            37,499
Interest and fees 1,157,145   -            -            384,930   (772,215)

Total governmental
 activities $ 6,690,047   $ 165,387   $ 318,897   $ 384,930   (5,820,833)    

General revenues:
 Grants and entitlements 5,284,624
 Contributions 478,312
 Investment income 33,559
 Miscellaneous 716

  Total general revenues 5,797,211

     Change in net position (23,622)

Net position (deficit), July 1, 2019 (2,073,008)    

Net position (deficit), June 30, 2020 $ (2,096,630)

Program Revenues

Clay Charter Academy
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

 

Page 357 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

9 

Special Capital
General Revenue Project

Fund Fund Fund Total

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,416,108    $ -                $ -                $ 1,416,108    
Due from other governments 15,998          -                -                15,998          
Other receivable 2,367            -                -                2,367            
Prepaid items 4,704            -                -                4,704            
Deposits 52,045          -                -                52,045          
Restricted investments 1,967,930    -                -                1,967,930    

Total assets $ 3,459,152    $ -                $ -                $ 3,459,152    

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and
 accrued expenses $ 35,141          $ -                $ -                $ 35,141          
Salaries and wages payable 225,416        -                -                225,416        
Due to management company 1,451,802    -                -                1,451,802    
Due to related party 1,392            -                -                1,392            

Total liabilities 1,713,751    -                -                1,713,751    

Commitments (Note 10) -                -                -                -                

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable:
 Prepaid items 4,704            -                -                4,704            
 Deposits 52,045          -                -                52,045          
Restricted for debt service 1,508,345    -                -                1,508,345    
Restricted for repair and
 replacement reserves 149,911        -                -                149,911        
Unassigned 30,396          -                -                30,396          

Total fund balances 1,745,401    -                -                1,745,401    

Total liabilities
 and fund balances $ 3,459,152    $ -                $ -                $ 3,459,152    

Clay Charter Academy
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
June 30, 2020

 
 

Page 358 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

10 

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 1,745,401

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
 statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not
 financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
 in the governmental fund.

Cost of capital assets $ 18,065,191
Accumulated depreciation (3,743,251) 14,321,940

Liabilities not payable with current available resources
 are not reported as fund liabilities in the governmental
 fund statement.  All liabilities both current and
 long-term, are reported in the government-wide
 statements.

Compensated absences $ (50,482)
Accrued interest payable (47,053)
Bonds payable (17,776,192)
Note payable (290,244) (18,163,971)

Net Position (Deficit) of Governmental Activities $ (2,096,630)

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
Clay Charter Academy

to the Statement of Net Position (Deficit)
June 30, 2020

 
 

Page 359 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

11 

               

Special Capital
General Revenue Project

Fund Fund Fund Total

Revenues:
Federal through state $ -                $ 147,704        $ -                $ 147,704        
State sources 5,425,441    1,974            384,930        5,812,345    
Local sources 588,203        -                -                588,203        
Aftercare 118,173        -                -                118,173        

Total revenues 6,131,817    149,678        384,930        6,666,425    

Expenditures:
Instruction 2,657,756    12,143          -                2,669,899    
Student support services 167,154        -                -                167,154        
Instruction and curriculum
 development services 580               -                -                580               
Instructional staff training
 services 29,983          -                -                29,983          
Instruction related technology 117,001        -                -                117,001        
Board 30,393          -                -                30,393          
School administration 500,466        12,796          -                513,262        
Fiscal services 9,615            -                -                9,615            
Food services 101,698        115,420        -                217,118        
Central services 90,894          -                -                90,894          
Operation of plant 745,645        -                -                745,645        
Maintenance of plant 191,342        -                -                191,342        
Community services 80,674          9,319            -                89,993          
Capital outlay 59,787          -                -                59,787          
Debt service:
 Principal 484,878        -                -                484,878        
 Interest 830,524        -                384,930        1,215,454    

Total expenditures 6,098,390    149,678        384,930        6,632,998    

Net change in
 fund balances 33,427          -                -                33,427          

Fund Balances, July 1, 2019 1,711,974    -                -                1,711,974    

Fund Balances, June 30, 2020 $ 1,745,401    $ -                $ -                $ 1,745,401    

Clay Charter Academy
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

 

Page 360 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

12 

Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 33,427

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
 statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as 
 expenditures; however, in the statement of activities,
 the costs of those assets is depreciated over their
 estimated useful lives as provision for depreciation.

Cost of capital assets $ 59,787
Provision for depreciation (622,523) (562,736)

Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the 
 governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-
 term liabilities in the statement of net position. 484,878

Certain items reported in the statement of activities 
 do not require the use of current financial resources,
 and therefore, are not reported as expenditures in
 the governmental funds.

Change in accrued interest payable $ 68,071
Change in compensated absences (37,500)
Provision for amortization of bond discount (9,762) 20,809

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ (23,622)

Clay Charter Academy
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
of the Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

 
 
 

Page 361 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

13 

Original
and Final
Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:
State sources $ 4,770,609 $ 5,425,441 $ 654,832
Local sources 1,110,618    588,203         (522,415)       
Aftercare 175,160        118,173         (56,987)          

Total revenues 6,056,387    6,131,817     75,430           

Expenditures:
Instruction 2,260,201    2,657,756     (397,555)       
Student support services 122,438        167,154         (44,716)          
Instruction and curriculum development
 services 3,908            580                3,328             
Instructional staff training services 7,466            29,983           (22,517)          
Instruction related technology 107,377        117,001         (9,624)            
Board 30,517          30,393           124                
School administration 477,141        500,466         (23,325)          
Fiscal services 9,558            9,615             (57)                 
Food services 106,469        101,698         4,771             
Central services 102,654        90,894           11,760           
Operation of plant 860,394        745,645         114,749         
Maintenance of plant 251,332        191,342         59,990           
Community services 84,105          80,674           3,431             
Capital outlay 71,530          59,787           11,743           
Debt service:
 Principal 484,878        484,878         -                 
 Interest 867,617        830,524         37,093           

Total expenditures 5,847,585    6,098,390     (250,805)       

Net change in fund balance $ 208,802        $ 33,427           $ (175,375)       

Clay Charter Academy
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures -
Budget and Actual - General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Page 362 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

14 

Original
and Final
Budget Actual Variance

Revenues:
 Federal sources:

National School Lunch Program $ 168,800        $ 122,765        $ (46,035)        
Title IV -                12,143          12,143          
IDEA -                12,796          12,796          

 State sources:
National School Lunch Program 800               1,974            1,174            

Total revenues 169,600        149,678        (19,922)        

Expenditures:
Instruction -                12,143          (12,143)        
School administration -                12,796          (12,796)        
Food services 153,698        115,420        38,278          
Community services 15,902          9,319            6,583            

Total expenditures 169,600        149,678        19,922          

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                $ -                

Clay Charter Academy
Statement of Revenues and Expenditures -
Budget and Actual - Special Revenue Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

 
 
 

Page 363 of 441

DRAFT



 

The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
 

15 

Student
Activities

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,371          

Total assets $ 21,371          

Liabilities:
Due to students $ 21,371          

Total liabilities $ 21,371          

Clay Charter Academy
Statement of Assets and Liabilities - Agency Fund
June 30, 2020

 
 

Page 364 of 441

DRAFT



 

16 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 

 
Note 1 - Organization and Operations 

 
Clay Charter Academy (the “School”), a Department of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. 
and a component unit of the School Board of Clay County, Florida, was established in 2015 as a 
public charter school to serve students from kindergarten to eighth grade in Clay County.  The 
Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. (“FCEF”) is a Florida nonprofit corporation organized 
pursuant to Chapter 617, Florida Statutes.  The governing body of the School consists of the officers 
and directors of FCEF.  There were 762 students enrolled for the 2019/2020 school year. 
 
The basic financial statements of the School present only the balances, activity and disclosures 
related to the School. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of 
Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in its financial 
position or budgetary comparisons, where applicable, for the year then ended in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, these basic 
financial statements only include balances, activity and disclosures related to the School. 
 
 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Reporting entity:  The School operates under a charter granted by the sponsoring school board, the 
School Board of Clay County.  The current charter is effective until June 30, 2021 and may be 
renewed by mutual written agreement between the School and the School Board.  At the end of 
the term of the charter, the School Board may choose not to renew the charter under grounds 
specified in the charter, in which case, the School Board is required to notify the School in writing 
at least ninety days prior to the charter's expiration.  During the term of the charter, the School 
Board may also terminate the charter if good cause is shown.  The School is considered a 
component unit of the School Board of Clay County. 
 
The School may also be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the 
School regardless of whether the organization has a separately elected governing board, a 
governing board appointed by another government, or a jointly approved board.  In addition, 
component units can be other organizations for which the nature and significance of their 
relationship with the School are such that exclusion would cause the basic financial statements to 
be misleading or incomplete. 
 
As a result of evaluating the above criteria, management has determined that no component units 
exist for which the School is financially accountable, which would require inclusion in the School's 
basic financial statements. 
 
Basis of presentation:  Based on the guidance provided in the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants Audit and Accounting Guide - Not-for-Profit Organizations and provisions of Section 
228.056, Florida Statutes, the School is presented as a governmental organization for financial 
statement reporting purposes. 
 
Government-wide financial statements:  Government-wide financial statements, including the 
statement of net position and the statement of activities, present information about the School as 
a whole. 
 
Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement 
focus.  The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program 
revenues for each function or program of the School’s governmental activities.  Direct expenses are 
those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and are thereby 
clearly identifiable to a particular function. 

Page 365 of 441

DRAFT



 

17 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 

 
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the 
program and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular program.  Revenues that are not classified as program revenues are 
presented as general revenues.  The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues 
identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-financing or draws from the 
general revenues of the School. 
 
Fund financial statements:  Fund financial statements report detailed information about the School 
in the governmental funds.  The focus of governmental fund financial statements is on major funds 
rather than reporting funds by type.  Each major fund is reported in a separate column.  Because 
the focus of governmental fund financial statements differs from the focus of government-wide 
financial statements, a reconciliation is presented with each of the governmental fund financial 
statements. 
 
The School’s major governmental funds are as follows: 
 

General Fund - This fund is used to account for all operating activities of the 
School except for those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Special Revenue Fund - This fund is used to account for federal grants and 
certain state grants that are legally restricted to expenditures for particular 
purposes. 
 
Capital Project Fund - This fund is used to account for state and local capital 
outlay funding that is legally restricted to expenditures for particular purposes. 

 
Additionally, the School reports separately the following fiduciary fund type: 
 

Agency Fund - This fund is used to administer funds raised and earned by the 
various clubs and activities that are part of the School. 

 
Basis of accounting:  Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures, or expenses, 
are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of accounting 
relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.   
 
The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  
Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are prepared using the modified accrual basis of 
accounting.  Revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available.  Measurable 
means the amount of the transaction can be determined and available means collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  The School 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within sixty days of the end of the current 
period.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are generally recognized 
when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on long-term debt, 
claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized when due.  General 
capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  Issuance of long-
term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources. 
 
The Agency Fund has no measurement focus but utilizes the accrual basis of accounting for 
reporting. 

Page 366 of 441

DRAFT



 

18 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 

 
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents:  The School considers all demand accounts and money market funds 
which are not subject to withdrawal restrictions to be cash and cash equivalents. The School 
maintains its cash accounts with one financial institution.  The School’s accounts at this institution, 
at times, may exceed the federally insured limit.  The School has not experienced any losses in such 
accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk (Note 3). 
 
Prepaid items:  Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods 
and are recorded as prepaid items. 
 
Due to and due from other funds:  Interfund receivables and payables arise from interfund 
transactions and are recorded by all funds affected in the period in which transactions are 
executed.  The balances result from the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and 
services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, transactions are recorded in the 
accounting system, and payments between funds are made. 
 
Revenue recognition:  Student funding is provided by the State of Florida through the School 
Board.  Such funding is recorded as entitlement revenue in the government-wide financial 
statements and state source revenue in the fund financial statements.  This funding is received on a 
pro rata basis over a twelve-month period and is adjusted for changes in full-time equivalent (FTE) 
student population. 
 
Income taxes:  The School is a Department of a nonprofit corporation.  Revenue of the School is 
derived primarily from other governmental entities.  The School is exempt from income taxes 
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  Accordingly, no provision for income taxes 
has been made in these basic financial statements. 
 
Capital assets:  Property and equipment purchased or acquired are capitalized at historical cost or 
estimated historical cost.  Capital assets are defined by the School as assets with a cost of $ 750 and 
useful life of over one year.  Donated property and equipment assets are reported at the 
acquisition value as of the date received.  Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that 
significantly extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining 
useful lives of the related fixed assets.  Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
Depreciation on all capital assets is provided on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives as follows: 
 
 Building 38 years 
 Improvements other than buildings 10 years 
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years 
 Computer equipment 3-5 years 

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources:  In addition to assets, the statement of financial position 
will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate 
financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net 
position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then.  The School does not have any items that qualify for reporting in 
this category. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred 
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and 
so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The School does not 
have any items that qualify for reporting in this category. 

Page 367 of 441

DRAFT



 

19 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 

 
 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Unearned revenue:  Unearned revenue arises when the School receives resources before it has a 
legal claim to them. 
 
Compensated absences:  The School’s policy permits employees to accumulate earned but unused 
paid time off, which is eligible for payment upon separation from service.  The liability for such 
leave is reported as incurred in the government-wide financial statements.  A liability for those 
amounts is recorded in the governmental funds only if the liability has matured as a result of 
employee resignations or retirements.  The liability for compensated absences includes salary-
related benefits, where applicable.  Payments for compensated absences are generally paid out of 
the General Fund. 
 
Net position:  Net position is classified in three categories.  The general meaning of each is as 
follows: 
 

 Net investment in capital assets - represents the difference between the 
cost of capital assets, less accumulated depreciation reduced by the 
outstanding balances of borrowings used for the acquisition, construction 
or improvement of those assets. 

 
 Restricted - consists of net position with constraints placed on their use 

either by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or 
laws or regulations of other governments, or 2) law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
 Unrestricted (deficit) - indicates that portion of net position that will need 

to be funded by future operations. 
 

Fund balance:  The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on the 
provisions of GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions.  This Statement provides more clearly defined fund balance classifications and also sets 
a hierarchy which details how the School may spend funds based on certain constraints.  The 
following are the fund balance classifications used in the governmental fund financial statements: 
 

 Nonspendable - this classification includes amounts that cannot be spent 
because they are either not in spendable form or are legally or 
contractually required to be maintained intact.  The School classifies 
inventories, prepaid items, long-term notes receivable and deposits as 
nonspendable since they are not expected to be converted to cash or are 
not expected to be converted to cash within the next year. 

 
 Restricted - this classification includes amounts that are restricted for 

specific purposes by external parties such as grantors and creditors or are 
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 

 Committed - this classification includes amounts that can be used for 
specific purposes voted on through formal action of the Board of 
Directors (the highest level of decision making authority).  The committed 
amount cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Board of 
Directors removes or changes the commitment through formal action. 
 

Page 368 of 441

DRAFT



 

20 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

 Assigned - this classification includes amounts that the Board of Directors 
intends to use for a specific purpose but they are neither restricted nor 
committed.  The School classifies existing fund balance to be used in the 
subsequent year’s budget for elimination of a deficit as assigned. 

 
 Unassigned - this classification includes amounts that have not been 

restricted, committed or assigned for a specific purpose within the 
General Fund. 

 
The details of the fund balances are included in the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet on page 9.   
 
When the School incurs expenditures for which restricted or unrestricted fund balance is available, 
the School would consider restricted funds to be spent first.  When the School has expenditures for 
which committed, assigned or unassigned fund balance is available, the School would consider 
committed funds to be spent first, then assigned funds and lastly unassigned funds. 
 
Budget:  An operating budget is adopted and maintained by the governing board for the School 
pursuant to the requirements of Florida Statutes.  The budget is adopted using the same basis of 
accounting that is used in the preparation of the financial statements. 
 
Use of estimates:  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Date of management review:  Subsequent events were evaluated by management through 
September 1, 2020, which is he date the financial statements were available to be issued. 
 
 

Note 3 - Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
At June 30, 2020, the carrying amount of the deposits and cash on hand totaled $ 1,437,479 with a 
bank balance of $ 1,440,395. 
 
State statutes require, and it is the School’s policy, that all deposits be made into, and be held by, 
financial institutions designated by the Treasurer of the State of Florida as “qualified public 
depositories” as defined by Chapter 280 of the Florida Statutes.  This statute requires that every 
qualified public depository institution maintain eligible collateral to secure the public entity’s funds.  
The minimum collateral to be pledged by an institution, the collateral eligible for pledge, and 
reporting requirements of the qualified public depositor to the treasurer is defined by the statute.  
Collateral is pooled in a multiple qualified public depository institution pool with the ability to 
assess members of the pool should the need arise.  The School’s deposits are held in a qualified 
public depository.  They are covered by the collateral pool as the School has identified itself as a 
public entity at June 30, 2020.  

 
 

Note 4 - Due to Related Party 
 
The School is a Department of The Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. (“FCEF”).  As of 
June 30, 2020, the School owes FCEF $ 1,392 for expenses related to the board of directors. 
 

Page 369 of 441

DRAFT



 

21 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 5 - Restricted Investments 
 

Previously, FCEF borrowed funds for construction of facilities for two of their schools, including Clay 
Charter Academy (Note 8).  The restricted investments of the School are held by the Trustee and 
are governed by the Bond Indenture.  At June 30, 2020, the School has $ 1,967,930 invested in a 
money market fund that is stated at amortized cost which approximates fair value. 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of a debt type investment will not fulfill its obligation 
to the holder of the investment.  This is measured by assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized rating organization.  The exposure to credit risk is limited because the money market 
fund is rated AAA-mf by Moody's. 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rate will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  The exposure to declines in fair values is limited because the weighted average 
maturity of the money market fund is forty-five days.   

 
 
Note 6 - Capital Assets 

 
Capital asset balances and activity for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as follows: 

Balance at Balance at
July 1, June 30,
2019 Additions Deletions 2020

Capital assets, depreciable:
 Buildings $ 16,517,389 $ -                 $ -                 $ 16,517,389  
 Improvements other than buildings 2,075 14,568          -                 16,643          
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 709,012 34,061          -                 743,073        
 Computer equipment 776,928 11,158          -                 788,086        

Total capital assets, depreciable 18,005,404 59,787          -                 18,065,191  

Accumulated depreciation:
 Buildings 1,906,531 404,546        -                 2,311,077     
 Improvements other than buildings 744 814                -                 1,558            
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 507,403 144,133 -                 651,536        
 Computer equipment 706,050 73,030          -                 779,080        

Total accumulated
 depreciation 3,120,728 622,523        -                 3,743,251     

     Net capital assets $ 14,884,676 $ (562,736)       $ -                 $ 14,321,940  

 
Provision for depreciation was charged to governmental activities as follows: 

Instruction $ 217,163
Operation of plant 405,360

Total $ 622,523
 

 

Page 370 of 441

DRAFT



 

22 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 

 
 

Note 7 - Note Payable  
 
The School has a note payable with Charter Schools USA, Inc. (Note 10).  The School pays interest at 
5% during the term of the loan. 
 
The following is a schedule of the future minimum note payments as of June 30, 2020: 

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 204,878 $ 9,974 $ 214,852
2022 85,366 1,093 86,459

$ 290,244 $ 11,067 $ 301,311
 

 
Note 8 - Bonds Payable  

 
Previously, the Florida Development Finance Corporation (the “Corporation”) issued $ 40,900,000 
in Tax Exempt Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2016A pursuant to an Indenture of Trust 
between the Corporation and a Trustee to make a loan to Florida Charter Educational Foundation, 
Inc. (“FCEF”), a division of which the School exists to finance the acquisition of the facilities and 
equipment of two charter schools existing under FCEF.  The Series 2016A Bonds bear interest at 
5.125% through June 2026, then at 6.250% through June 2036 and finally at 6.375% through June 
2046.  Principal and interest will be paid semi-annually on June 15 and December 15.  In order to 
secure the payment of the principal and interest on the Bonds, the Corporation assigned all of its 
rights and interest in the loan agreement to the Trustee.  The Bonds are payable from and secured 
by a lien upon and pledge of payments to be received by the Trustee. 
 
The School’s share of the annual debt service requirements to maturity for the Series 2016 Bond is 
as follows: 

Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 295,000 $ 1,113,884 $ 1,408,884
2022 310,000 1,098,638 1,408,638
2023 325,000 1,082,494 1,407,494
2024 340,000 1,065,581 1,405,581
2025 360,000 1,048,028 1,408,028

2026-2030 2,135,000 4,904,106 7,039,106
2031-2035 2,900,000 4,136,344 7,036,344
2036-2040 3,955,000 3,086,919 7,041,919
2041-2045 5,420,000 1,628,016 7,048,016

2046 1,990,000 82,241 2,072,241

$ 18,030,000 $ 19,246,251 $ 37,276,251
 

 

Page 371 of 441

DRAFT



 

23 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 9 - Long-Term Liabilities 
 

Changes in the School’s long-term liabilities for fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, are as follows: 

Balance Balance Amount
July 1, June 30, Due Within
2019 Additions Retirements Amortization 2020 One Year

Series 2016 Educational
 Facilities Revenue
 Bonds, net of 
 unamortized discount
 of $ 253,808 $ 18,046,430   $ -                 $ 280,000 $ 9,762 $ 17,776,192 $ 295,000
Note payable 495,122 -                 204,878        -                 290,244 204,878        
Compensated
 absences 12,982 50,483           12,983           -                 50,482           37,862           

$ 18,554,534   $ 50,483           $ 497,861        $ 9,762             $ 18,116,918   $ 537,740        

 
 
Note 10 - Commitments  

 
Land Lease Agreement:  Concurrent with the Series 2016 Bond issuance (Note 8), Red Apple 
Development, LLC and subsidiaries (“RAD”) entered into two land lease agreements with FCEF.  The 
land which is owned by RAD is leased by FCEF on behalf of the schools under a 45-year lease.  In 
addition to rent, FCEF shall pay to RAD the total cost of ad valorem taxes, assessments and levies 
imposed upon the premises.  Total cost to the School for the lease was $ 115,779 for the year 
ended June 30, 2020. 
 
The following is a schedule of the School’s future base rent payments as of June 30, 2020: 

Year Ending
June 30,

2021 $ 118,094
2022 120,457
2023 122,866
2024 125,325
2025 127,830

2026-2030 678,542
2031-2035 749,158
2036-2040 827,125
2041-2045 913,216
2046-2050 1,008,263
2051-2055 1,113,202
2056-2060 1,229,055
2061-2062 370,303

$ 7,503,436
 

 

Page 372 of 441

DRAFT



 

24 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 10 - Commitments (continued) 
 

Management agreement:  The School has a formal agreement with Charter Schools USA, Inc. 
(“CSUSA”) to manage, staff, and operate the School.  The agreement has an initial term which 
expires in June 2021.  It will automatically renew for five-year periods unless terminated by either 
party.  The agreement states that CSUSA shall be entitled to cost reimbursements and 
management fees (the “fee”) for its services, subject to availability of funds.  The fee is 
subordinated to all bond payment requirements (Note 8).  The fee ranges from $ 784,162 for fiscal 
year 2021 to $ 2,255,779 for fiscal year 2046 as defined in the agreement or the budgeted amount 
approved by the Board of Directors based on enrollment and School performance. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, there was no compensation received by CSUSA and CSUSA 
contributed $ 478,312 to the School.  
 
The School had an amount of $ 1,451,802 due to CSUSA for the year ending June 30, 2020 for 
expenses paid on behalf of the School.   
 
Post-retirement benefits:  The School does not provide post-retirement benefits to retired 
employees. 

 
 
Note 11 - Employee Benefit Plan 

 
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the School offered all of its full-time employees who had 
attained 21 years of age, a retirement plan (the “Plan”) under Internal Revenue Code Section 
401(k).  The employee is allowed to contribute up to a maximum of 100% of his/her annual gross 
compensation, subject to certain limitations.  The Plan provides for a discretionary employer 
matching contribution of the participant’s annual elective deferral to the Plan.  As determined 
annually by the School’s management, the School may also make a discretionary profit sharing 
contribution, which is allocated among the participants based on a pro rata formula.  Participants 
are immediately vested in their own contributions and earnings on those contributions.  
Participants become vested in School contributions and earnings on School contributions according 
to the following schedule: 
 
 Years of Service Vesting Percentage 
 1 25% 
 2 50% 
 3 75% 
 4 100% 
 
Nonvested contributions are forfeited upon termination of employment and such forfeitures are 
used to reduce any employer contribution.  For the Plan year ending December 31, 2019, the 
School had no forfeitures.  For the year ended June 30, 2020, the School contributed a matching 
amount of $ 9,117. 
 
 

Page 373 of 441

DRAFT



 

25 

Clay Charter Academy 
Notes to Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2020 
 
 
Note 12 - Capital Appropriations Funding 

 
The Florida Department of Education has approved a Charter School Capital Outlay (CSCO) award 
for the School.  In each year that funds are appropriated by the state for charter school capital 
outlay purposes, those funds are allocated among eligible charter schools.  The funds for the 
School’s allocation are transferred to the School once a CSCO Plan has been provided to and 
approved by the sponsoring district.  The School’s CSCO award totaled $ 384,930 for the 2019/2020 
school year, which has been recognized as revenue in the accompanying basic financial statements.  
If the CSCO funds are used to acquire tangible property assets, the School Board has a reversionary 
interest in those assets.  In the event of non-renewal, termination, or breach of the charter school 
agreement, ownership of the assets would automatically revert to the School Board.  The School 
has elected to use these funds to pay a portion of the interest expense on the bonds.  
 
 

Note 13 - Risk Financing 
 
The School is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, thefts of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets and natural disasters. The School has obtained property insurance from commercial 
companies including, but not limited to, general liability and errors and omissions insurance.  There 
have been no claims in excess of insurance coverage limits during the past three years. 
 
As disclosed in Note 10, CSUSA employs all of the employees of the School.  As a result, the School 
is not exposed to medical or workers’ compensation claims for these individuals.  In addition, 
CSUSA carries all required insurance including, but not limited to, general liability and errors and 
omissions insurance. 
 
 

Note 14 - Risks and Uncertainties 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a coronavirus (COVID-19) a 
pandemic. As a result, the local and global financial markets are experiencing significant declines 
and creating economic uncertainties. At this time, it is unknown precisely how this negative outlook 
will impact the Organization’s financial statements in the future. No adjustments have been made 
to the accompanying financial statements as a result of the current events. 
 

Page 374 of 441

DRAFT



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OTHER INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORTS  

Page 375 of 441

DRAFT



KMCcpa.com  |  6550 N Federal Hwy, 4th Floor, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33308   Phone: 954.771.0896   Fax: 954.938.9353
Top 25 Accounting Firms | South Florida Business Journal  Top 400 Accounting Firms in the U.S. | INSIDE Public Accounting

 

26 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Clay Charter Academy 
A Department of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. 
Middleburg, Florida 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Clay Charter Academy 
(the “School”), a Department of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. and a component unit of 
the School Board of Clay County, Florida, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated September 1, 2020. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal 
control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
 

Page 376 of 441

DRAFT



 

27 

Clay Charter Academy 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion 
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
KEEFE McCULLOUGH  
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
September 1, 2020 
 

Page 377 of 441

DRAFT



KMCcpa.com  |  6550 N Federal Hwy, 4th Floor, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33308   Phone: 954.771.0896   Fax: 954.938.9353
Top 25 Accounting Firms | South Florida Business Journal  Top 400 Accounting Firms in the U.S. | INSIDE Public Accounting

 

28 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Clay Charter Academy 
A Department of Florida Charter Educational Foundation, Inc. 
Middleburg, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Clay Charter Academy (the “School”), a component unit of 
the School Board of Clay County, Florida, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, and have 
issued our report thereon dated September 1, 2020. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.850, Rules of the 
Auditor General.   
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards.  Disclosures in that report, which is dated 
September 1, 2020, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.854(1)(e)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding 
annual financial audit report.  There were no recommendations made in the preceding audit report. 
 
Official Title 
 
Section 10.854(1)(e)5., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title of the 
entity and the school code assigned by the Florida Department of Education be disclosed in this 
management letter.  The official title and the school code assigned by the Florida Department of 
Education are Clay Charter Academy and 100664. 
 
 

Page 378 of 441

DRAFT



 

29 

Clay Charter Academy 
 
 
Financial Condition and Management 
 
Sections 10.854(1)(e)2. and 10.855(11), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate whether or not the School has met one or more of the conditions 
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific condition(s) met.  In 
connection with our audit, we determined that the School did not meet any of the conditions 
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 
 
Pursuant to Sections 10.854(1)(e)6.a. and 10.855(12), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 
financial condition assessment procedures for the School.  It is management’s responsibility to monitor 
the School’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on 
representations made by management and the review of financial information provided by same. 
 
Section 10.854(1)(e)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 
recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not have 
any such recommendations. 
 
Transparency 
 
Sections 10.854(1)(e)7. and 10.855(13), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether the School maintains on 
its website the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes.  In connection with our 
audit, we determined that the School maintained on its website the information specified in Section 
1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.854(1)(e)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants 
the attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not have any 
such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, the Board of Directors and applicable 
management and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 
 
 
 
 
KEEFE McCULLOUGH  
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
September 1, 2020 

Page 379 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C11 - Clay Education Foundation Audit for the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year

Description
Review the 2019-2020 Annual Audit report for Clay Education Foundation operating under the Clay County School District.
 

Gap Analysis
An annual audit is required in accordance with the Government Auditing Standards for the Clay Education Foundation, a
nonprofit organization recognized as a component unit of the School District of Clay County School District.  

Previous Outcomes
The School Board of Clay County received and reviewed the annual audit report of the Clay Education Foundation.

Expected Outcomes
The School Board of Clay County will receive and review the annual audit report of the Clay Education Foundation.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Review the final audit report for the Clay Education Foundation

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Clay County Education Foundation Audit 2020.pdf

Page 380 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/clay-county-education-foundation-audit-2020.pdf


Page 381 of 441

DRAFT



Page 382 of 441

DRAFT



Page 383 of 441

DRAFT



Page 384 of 441

DRAFT



Page 385 of 441

DRAFT



Page 386 of 441

DRAFT



Page 387 of 441

DRAFT



Page 388 of 441

DRAFT



Page 389 of 441

DRAFT



Page 390 of 441

DRAFT



Page 391 of 441

DRAFT



Page 392 of 441

DRAFT



Page 393 of 441

DRAFT



Page 394 of 441

DRAFT



Page 395 of 441

DRAFT



Page 396 of 441

DRAFT



Page 397 of 441

DRAFT



Page 398 of 441

DRAFT



Page 399 of 441

DRAFT



Page 400 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C12 - Monthly Financial Reports for March, 2021

Description
The Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008, are submitted for the use and consideration of the Board
for the month ending March 31, 2021.
 

Gap Analysis
The Monthly Financial Reports show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.
 

Previous Outcomes
It has been a past (normal) practice to provide Monthly Financial Reports, in accordance with SBE Rule 6A-1.008.
 

Expected Outcomes
The Monthly Financial Reports are provided to meet the stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and
accountability of the district's finances.
 

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Strategy 2.4:  Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board accept for use and consideration the Superintendent's Monthly Financial Reports for March,
2021.
 

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs, (904) 336-6721, susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
The Monthly Financial Reports reflect the year-to-date results of operations.

Review Comments

Attachments

March 2021 Board Monthly Financial Report.pdf

March 2021 Board Monthly Property Report.pdf

Page 401 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/march-2021-board-monthly-financial-report.pdf
http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/march-2021-board-monthly-property-report.pdf


Page 402 of 441

DRAFT



Page 403 of 441

DRAFT



Page 404 of 441

DRAFT



Page 405 of 441

DRAFT



Page 406 of 441

DRAFT



Page 407 of 441

DRAFT



Page 408 of 441

DRAFT



Page 409 of 441

DRAFT



Page 410 of 441

DRAFT



Page 411 of 441

DRAFT



Page 412 of 441

DRAFT



Page 413 of 441

DRAFT



Page 414 of 441

DRAFT



Page 415 of 441

DRAFT



Page 416 of 441

DRAFT



Page 417 of 441

DRAFT



Page 418 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C13 - Budget Amendment for Month Ending March 31, 2021

Description
Florida State Board of Education Administrative Rule 6A-1.006 requires that the School Board approved amendments to the
district school budget whenever the function and object amounts in the accounts prescribed by the State Board are changed from
the original budget approved by the School Board.  The Budget Amendments are procedurally necessary to update our budget to
reflect changes outlined in the attached statements.

Gap Analysis
The monthly budget amendments show compliance to the district's amended budget as of the month-end reported and meet State
and School Board financial reporting requirements.

Previous Outcomes
It has been standard practice to provide budget amendments in accordance with Florida State Board of Education Administrative
Rule 6A-1.006.

Expected Outcomes
The monthly budget amendments are provided to meet stewardship responsibilities of the district for reporting and accountability
of the district budget.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approval of the Budget Amendments as presented for the month ending March 31, 2021.

Contact
Dr. Susan M. Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business  Affairs  (904) 336-6721

Financial Impact
As presented

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 419 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C14 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - April, 2021

Description
The items listed have been surveyed by the Coordinator of Property Control, at the request of the Cost Center Property Manager,
and the recommended disposition is noted.  These items are either obsolete, unusable or beyond economical repair.  These items
should be removed from active inventory and disposed of in the manner indicated.  Deletions are for property items received in
the month of March, 2021.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Property Records followed State mandate on trackable assets, Chapter 274.05.

Expected Outcomes
Tangible Personal Property shall be controlled and supervised from acquisition through transfer or disposal.  Disposal of property
shall be in accordance with Section 274.05, Florida Statutes.  All deletions of items with a value of $1,000.00 or more will be
approved by The School Board of Clay County prior to disposition - School Board Policy Section 5.03C.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2: Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability. 

Recommendation
Approve Deletion of Certain Items Report - April, 2021 as submitted.

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko,
Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs
(904)-336-6721
susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Provides additional storage space and eliminates the need to account for unusable property.  Reduces the dollar value of Tangible
Personal Property.

Review Comments

Attachments

Deletion Report-April, 2021.pdf

Page 420 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-report-april-2021.pdf


Depreciation

04/30/2021

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
LCTN 0201 ORANGE PARK ELEMENTARY

1,519.05 1,175.46MOWER: RIDING 46 " HUSQVARNA Y Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 02/13/201414001255
1,175.461,519.05

LCTN 0252 ORANGE PARK HIGH
1,180.74 1,180.74C/M/K - DELL OPTIPLEX 960 MINI Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 09/10/200910000062
1,180.74 1,180.74C/M/K - DELL OPTIPLEX 960 MINI Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 09/10/200910000074

2,361.482,361.48

LCTN 0261 DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY
2,401.75 2,401.75CART:INSTRUCTIONAL W/PROJECTOR Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 08/14/200800083691

2,401.752,401.75

LCTN 0352 LAKESIDE ELEMENTARY
4,995.00 4,995.00FLOOR SCRUBBER:AUTO MINUTEMAN Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 01/23/200300071824
6,299.25 6,299.25MOWER:25HP GRAVELY PRO-MASTER Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 08/09/200100075538
4,896.50 4,896.50SCRUBBER: AUTO FLOOR 240X - MI Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 04/22/201010001391

16,190.7516,190.75

LCTN 0361 ORANGE PARK JUNIOR HIGH
6,249.25 6,249.25MOWER:60" DECK HYDRO GRAVELY Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 10/10/200200075544
2,099.25 2,099.25MOWER: RIDING - JOHN DEERE Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 05/10/200700091363

8,348.508,348.50

LCTN 0371 WILKINSON JUNIOR HIGH
1,622.00 1,622.00LAPTOP:LATITUDE - DELL D600 PE Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 04/22/200400078142

1,622.001,622.00

LCTN 0411 CLAY HILL ELEMENTARY
1,177.57 1,177.57LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE E6400 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 11/25/200809000322
1,177.57 1,177.57LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE E6400 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 11/25/200809000327
1,070.64 1,070.64LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6410 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 04/14/201111000880
1,183.39 1,183.39LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6430 + Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 05/09/201313100519
1,183.39 1,183.39LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6430 + Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 05/09/201313100521
1,183.39 1,183.39LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6430 + Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 05/09/201313100522
1,183.39 1,183.39LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6430 + Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 05/09/201313100523
1,183.39 1,183.39LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6430 + Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 05/09/201313100524
1,183.39 1,183.39LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6430 + Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 05/09/201313100527

04/30/202104/01/2021Date Range 111:04:1204/07/2021 Page 421 of 441

DRAFT



Depreciation

04/30/2021

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
10,526.1210,526.12

LCTN 0451 LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY
6,067.00 6,067.00COPIER:W/PAPER FEEDER-RICOH MP Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  04/06/2021 08/12/201011000140

6,067.006,067.00

LCTN 0481 LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH
5,345.00 5,345.00LIFT:MOBILE TRANSFER SYSTEM Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 06/30/200500086589

5,345.005,345.00

LCTN 0541 RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY
3,921.00 3,407.54DUPLICATOR:W/DOC RICOH DD4450 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  04/06/2021 06/06/201313000613

3,407.543,921.00

LCTN 0551 FLEMING ISLAND HIGH SCHOOL
1,005.00 1,005.00CHASSIS/MONITOR/KEYBOARD - DEL Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 07/24/200300079534

1,005.001,005.00

LCTN 0571 SWIMMING PEN CREEK ELEMENTARY
1,185.00 1,185.00CAMCORDER:DIGITAL - PANASONIC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 08/12/200400082468

1,185.001,185.00

LCTN 0611 OAKLEAF JUNIOR HIGH
1,070.64 1,070.64LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6510 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 06/10/201010001552

1,070.641,070.64

LCTN 0661 OAKLEAF HIGH SCHOOL
1,995.00 1,995.00GOAL:SOCCER PORTABLE GOAL W/NE Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  04/06/2021 11/10/201010001283

20,895.00 0.00AUTODESK DESIGN ACADEMY PERPET Computer SoftwareJunk/Parts  04/06/2021 08/09/2007SW004326
1,995.0022,890.00

LCTN 9005 EXCEPTIONAL STUDENT EDUCATION
1,004.50 1,004.50SYSTEM:CEILING SPEAKER (PHONIC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  04/06/2021 03/10/199700063826

1,004.501,004.50

LCTN 9006 DEPT OF ELEMENTARY EDUCATION
1,060.43 1,060.43LAPTOP - DELL LATITUDE E6410 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 09/08/201112000019

1,060.431,060.43

LCTN 9010 TRANSPORTATION

04/30/202104/01/2021Date Range 211:04:1204/07/2021 Page 422 of 441

DRAFT



Depreciation

04/30/2021

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
1,888.85 1,888.85COMPRESSOR: AIR 80 GAL VERTICA Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  04/06/2021 01/24/200800091328
1,513.69 1,513.69CREDENZA: HENNA CHERRY - HON Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  04/06/2021 05/24/200700091795

3,402.543,402.54

89,920.76
Totals for Deletion Report

68,168.71

Note: MARCH 2021 DELETIONS
Disposal Method Descriptions:

JUNK/PARTS - Part(s) of an asset are used and remainder of part(s) are sold, recycled or disposed

TRADE-IN - Vendor issues a credit towards a new purchase

THEFT/VANDALISM - Items stolen or broken (police report attached)

MISSING - Items lost and are not found during property inventory (Annually)

SURPLUS SALE - Items that are outdated, not working or obsolete.  Items are either sold, recycled or disposed

ENTERED IN ERROR- Not used

TRANSFER/DONATION - From Clay County District to an Outside Agency (Approved by Board or Superintendent)

DESTROYED - Fire/Natural Disaster, etc.

Total Software
20,895.00

Total Audio Visual
0.00

Total Vehicles
0.00

Total Furniture
69,025.76

THRESHOLD (ex. $750 TO $1000)

04/30/202104/01/2021Date Range 311:04:1204/07/2021 Page 423 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C15 - BID Renewal

Description
Renew BID as required per FS 287, DOE 6A-1.012 and School Board Policy
a. Custodial Services for Selected Administrative Buildings – County Wide Bid #19-F-233:  Contract Period is July 1, 2021
through June 30, 2022. The contract period is for 1 year and is the first renewal option for Bid.
b.  Epoxy Floor Services County Wide Bid #17-F-227:  Contract Period is July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022. The contract
period is for 1 year and is the final renewal option for Bid.

Gap Analysis
The District requires contractors to provide services to ensure our ??facilities and equipment are maintained and functional. The
District requires vendors to provide products to ensure our students and staff receive the items to meet their needs.

Previous Outcomes
Original Bid was Board approved and has been used successfully during the past term to provide quality services and products to
the district.

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board; we expect the contractors and vendors? to continue providing quality services and products at the
same terms and conditions as when the original Bid were awarded.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2; Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

 

Recommendation
Extend renewal as follows:
a. Custodial Services for Selected Administrative Buildings – County Wide Bid #19-F-233:

Great Faith Cleaning Services, 404 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL 32043-
 

b. Epoxy Floor Services County Wide Bid #17-F-227:
Ronald Lance Tile & Resinous Systems LLC, P.O Box 1097, Fairfield, FL 32634-

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
a. Custodial Services for Selected Administrative Buildings – County Wide Bid #19-F-233: The total estimated expenditure for
the 1 year contract renewal is $130,000.00 from General Revenue.

b. Epoxy Floor Services County Wide Bid #17-F-227: The total estimated expenditure for the 1 year contract renewal is
$40,000.00 from General and Capital Revenue

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 424 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C16 - BID to be Awarded

Description
a. Motor Oil, Transmission Fluid and Other Automotive Fluids - County Wide Bid #21-TR-91:  Contract Period is for a one (1)
year period from May 7, 2021 through April 30, 2022 with the option to renew for three (3) one year additional contract periods
upon mutual agreement, in writing. Bid established for the purchase and delivery of motor oil, diesel exhaust fluid, automatic
transmission fluid and any other required fluids as specified in the Bid for use in County vehicles.  The vendor awarded is the
lowest most responsive and responsible qualified bidder meeting specifications.

Gap Analysis
The District requires contractors to provide services to ensure our ??facilities and equipment are maintained and functional. The
District requires vendors to provide products to ensure our students and staff receive the items to meet their needs.

Previous Outcomes
Prior Board approved Bid will expire but it was used successfully during the past terms to provide quality services and products
to the district.

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board, we expect the vendor to provide quality services and products at the terms and conditions listed in
the Bid.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2;  Strategy 2.4; Ensure effective and efficient use of resources for fiscal stability.

Recommendation
Award BID as follows:
a. Motor Oil, Transmission Fluid and Other Automotive Fluids - County Wide Bid #21-TR-91: 

H.R. Lewis Petroleum Co., 1432 Cleveland Street, Jacksonville, FL  32209-

Contact
Dr. Susan Legutko, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: susan.legutko@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
a. Motor Oil, Transmission Fluid and Other Automotive Fluids - County Wide Bid #21-TR-91:
Total estimated expenditure for the 1 year contract is $40,000.00 from General Revenue.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 425 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C17 - Change Order #1 for Ridgeview Elementary School Parking Lot Lighting Replacement

Description
Change Orders are initiated by the Contractor, Architect/Engineer or Owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the
project as defined by the plans and specifications. Change Orders are reviewed by the Architect/Engineer and staff prior to
submission to the School Board for approval. This change order is for changes of scope and to address existing unforeseen
conditions.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction will proceed immediately translating to an on time completion.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve Change Order # 1.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
David Kramer, Project Manager, (904) 336-6849, david.kramer@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
This change order will increase the contract amount by $767.40.   Architect fees will increase by $65.23 as a result of this change
order. These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

CO 1 RVE Parking Lot Lighting Replacement.pdf

Page 426 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/co-1-rve-parking-lot-lighting-replacement.pdf


Page 427 of 441

DRAFT



Page 428 of 441

DRAFT



Page 429 of 441

DRAFT



Page 430 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C18 - Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for S. Bryan Jennings Elementary School Roof
Repair/Replacement (Buildings 1, 2, & 3)

Description
Each phase or combination of phases is submitted to the School Board for review and approval. The plans have received safe
review and are complete to Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase I, II, and III) stage.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Individual departments have the opportunity to express needs during plan review in order to design a project that will meet user's
expectations. 

Expected Outcomes
Schematic, Preliminary and final Plan review allows for participation from a variety of departments to ensure any program
changes are incorporated into the design.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County Students.

Recommendation
Approve Schematic/Preliminary/Final (Phase Phase I, II, & III) Plans and Specifications for S. Bryan Jennings Elementary
School Roof Repair/Replacement (Buildings 1, 2, & 3).

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Jeffery Marks, Project Manager, Facilities Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6821, jeffery.marks@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
As budgeted in the Educational Facilities Plan for $300,000.00. The architect's cost estimate is $602,800.00. Additional funds are
available in the EFP Project Contingency line.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 431 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C19 - Change Order #1 for Oakleaf Junior High School Security Lighting Repair/Replacement

Description
Change Orders are initiated by the Contractor, Architect/Engineer or Owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the
project as defined by the plans and specifications. Change Orders are reviewed by the Architect/Engineer and staff prior to
submission to the School Board for approval. This change order is for changes of scope and to address existing unforeseen
conditions.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction will proceed immediately translating to an on time completion.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students. 

Recommendation
Approve Change Order # 1.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
David Kramer, Project Manager, (904) 336-6849, david.kramer@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
This change order will increase the contract amount by $690.45.   Architect fees will increase by $58.69 as a result of this change
order. These funds are available and budgeted in the Educational Facilities Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

OLJ Security Lighting Repair.Replacement CO 1.pdf

Page 432 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/olj-security-lighting-repairreplacement-co-1.pdf


Page 433 of 441

DRAFT



Page 434 of 441

DRAFT



Page 435 of 441

DRAFT



Page 436 of 441

DRAFT



Page 437 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C20 - Pre-Qualification of Contractors

Description
Section 1013.46 of Florida Statutes requires School Boards to pre-qualify contractors prior to their being able to bid on
construction projects for the district.  The rules for pre-qualification are stipulated in the State Requirements for Educational
Facilities (SREF).  The attached list identifies the contractors to be approved this month.  As this is an annual requirement, the
attached list may contain both new contractors and contractors seeking to renew their pre-qualification status.  Per Florida
Statutes, only those contractors currently pre-qualified at the time of bidding may bid on a School Board construction project.

Gap Analysis
Contractor Pre-Qualification is an annual requirement.

Previous Outcomes
CCDS complies with contractor pre-qualification as required by Florida Statutes and SREF (State Requirements for Educational
Facilities).

Expected Outcomes
CCDS will remain in compliance by certifying the contractors recommended for pre-qualification meet the requirements of
Section 1013.46 FS, the State Requirements for Educational Facilities (SREF) and School Board Policy. 

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Approve the attached Contractor Pre-qualification list.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Interim Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None.

Review Comments

Attachments

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 5.6.21.pdf

Page 438 of 441

DRAFT

http://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-5621.pdf


SBCC PRE-QUALIFIED CONTRACTORS 
 
 
The following contractors are being submitted to the School Board for Contractor Pre-Qualification approval 
having met all requirements of Chapter 1013.46 F. S., as determined by the Pre-Qualification Committee 
consisting of Bryce Ellis, Phil Hans, Bertie Staefe, Chris Deely-Isais and Beth Clark.  The pre-qualification 
certification is valid for one year from the end of the month in which Board approval is obtained. 

 
 

COMPANY TRADE CATEGORY BOND LIMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

BBG Contracting Group, Inc. Roofing Contractor $12,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

C.C. Borden Construction, Inc. General Contractor $18,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

Elkins Construction, LLC General Contractor $250,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

Harrell Construction Company, Inc. General Contractor $15,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

Jenkins Roofing, Inc. Roofing and Building 
Contractor 

$10,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

KBT Contracting Corp. General, Building and 
Roofing Contractor 

$4,500,000.00 May 31, 2022 

Parrish McCall Constructors, Inc. General Contractor $250,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

Perry McCall Construction, LLC General Contractor $250,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

Reliant Roofing, Inc. Building and Roofing 
Contractor 

$1,000,000.00 May 31, 2022 

 

Page 439 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D1 - Approve the Nominations for the Citizen Oversight Committee

Description
The citizens of Clay County approved a half-cent school capital outlay sales surtax on the November 2020 general election
ballot. School Board Policy 1.14, which was adopted by the School Board on February 4, 2021, provides for the formation of a
Citizens Oversight Committee to monitor and report on the use of the sales surtax revenues to assure the public that the monies
are being utilized as provided for by state law. The Committee must consist of recommended appointees by each School Board
member and by the Superintendent of Schools. School Board Policy 1.14 requires that the recommended Committee, which
includes all proposed appointees, including alternates appointees who will only assume duties if needed, must be approved by the
School Board as a whole at a regular School Board meeting.

Gap Analysis
Approval of the Citizen’s Oversight Committee as a whole is the last step required in the formation of the Committee after which
Committee organization can take place and the oversight process may begin.

Previous Outcomes
None

Expected Outcomes
It is expected that the School Board will approve the Citizen’s Oversight Committee as submitted.

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Approve the Half-Cent Sales Surtax Citizen’s Oversight Committee as submitted by the individual members of the School Board
and the Superintendent of Schools.

Contact
J. Bruce Bickner, School Board Attorney

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 440 of 441

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

May 6, 2021 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D2 - Human Resources Special Action A

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5:  Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 441 of 441

DRAFT


